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Five Years Financial Summary

EFETBEHME

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t-HL%E

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Results Ey —E-hE —E-N\F —E—+F —E—RF —E-hF
Revenue Y zs
(RMB'000) (AREFTL) 804,898 90,251 615,899 479,111 7,801
Profit (loss) attributable AR ZHERA
to owners of the L aF (EE)
Company (RMB'000) (AR®FT) 74,184 (34,461) 44,702 4,612 (33,783)
Earnings (losses) per share FRERN (FB)
(RMB cents) (ARER)
- Basic —HK 4.07 (2.16) 2.93 0.30 (3.02)
- Diluted 3] 4.07 (2.16) 2.93 N/ATNE N/AT & A
At 31 December
R+=-A=+-8
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Assets and liabilities BERERE —E-hE “E-N\E “E—+E “E-RE —E-RhF
Total assets BEEE
(RMB'000) (AREFTT) 1,183,485 1,535,616 1,382,377 1,508,282 1,656,810
Total liabilities BERE
(RMB'000) (AREFTT) 494,908 (942,117) (787,982) (974,254) (1,134,447)
Net asset value BESE
(RMB'000) (AREFT) 688,577 593,499 594,395 534,028 522,363
Equity attributable to owners SR FZHH A
of the parent (RMB'000) it
(AR®EFT) 631,426 557,022 556,359 503,906 500,187
Non-controlling interests IR
(RMB'000) (AREFT) 57,151 36,477 38,036 30,122 22,176
Total equity Exngs 688,577 593,499 594,395 534,028 522,363
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

The review of the major business segments of the China
Uptown Group Company Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) during the year ended 31
December 2019 (the “Year”) is as follows:

Property Development and Investment

During the Year, the revenue attributed to the property
development and investment business amounted to
approximately RMB756,487,000 (2018: RMB90,251,000)
representing sales of properties of approximately
RMB754,819,000 (2018: RMB88,324,000) and rental
income of approximately RMB1,668,000 (2018:
RMB1,927,000). The Group owns a property development
project located in Maoming City (the “Maoming Project”),
Guangdong Province, the People’s Republic of China
(the "PRC"”). The Maoming Project has developed into a
composite of residential and commercial properties in three
phases.

Majority of commercial and residential properties of phase
1 and 2 of the Maoming Project were delivered and
recognised as the revenue of the Group in previous years.
Phase 3 properties started to be delivered and recognised
as sales in December 2018 and continued during the Year.
A portion of the commercial properties of phase 1 and 2
of the Maoming Project of approximately 4,000 square
meters was leased and classified as investment properties
of the Group. Amid the slight decrease in the value of
commercial properties in Maoming, during the Year, the fair
value of investment properties decreased by approximately
RMB4,044,000 (2018: RMB4,853,000).

BEEER W RO

XK EE
qﬂt%ﬁi%ﬁﬁﬁ@ﬂ(ﬁﬁ@ﬂ)&ﬁﬁﬁ%
ABEI([KREBR] ) RBEE-_ZE—-—NLF+=A
=T BUEFE(AFEZETEE£K D
B EEZ0T :

NEBRERRE
RAFE MEEREEEEBEREZREHAR
#756,487,0007T (=& — N\ 4 : AKR%90,251,000
7o) B E D A R®754,819,0000 (=&
— N\ : AR¥88,324,0007T) RS WA AR
1,668,0007T (= ZF — N\F: ARK#¥1,927,0007T) °
KEBRFPEARLFBE ([FEH])EREXELT
TZEE‘-M%%%*J?&IEE ([E&ZER]) - XRIEE
“HERATEETMAVES —BNERAERE

IEE
KEHEBFE—HERE_HRABOHAETEDE

ERBEFERMNEEREAEE K - F =M
ERZT— /\$+ ARBRITRAFEFEIN
MERBHEE - XLBEE—HLE_HHAME
EFE4I4,000F K2 BHERER DB AAEE
ZEEME - RNAFE BEXLHADEEER
R - EWMEZ AARERD O AREA 044,000
T (ZF—N\F: AR¥4,853,0007T) °
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREF W&

During the Year, the total area of residential and
commercial properties recognised as sales are
approximately 87,652 square meters and 887 square
meters respectively. 459 units and 122 units of car parking
spaces for private car and motorbikes are recognised as
sales during the Year respectively. As at 31 December 2019,
residential and commercial properties contracted for pre-
sale are as follows:

RAFE BREHEEZEEHEAYEZ BEE
D BI#I87,652F 15 K 2887 F J7 K « RARFE - HER
BHEZARBEEERLE ZEEMD R A459E &
122 R=FBE—NE+=_A=+—H B#ETETH
FEEZEEEFAMENT

Percentage
Bot
(Note)
(P3E)

Phase 1 & 2

A —

Phase 3 HE=H

—H 38%
51%

Note: Refer to the percentage of area of residential and commercial
properties contracted for pre-sales over the total unsold area
of residential and commercial properties.

Trading of raw cane sugar

The Group has commenced its business in trading of
raw cane sugar since late 2014. In 2018, the Group
has entered into a master agreement with China Sugar
Holdings Limited (“China Sugar”) to purchase raw cane
sugar from China Sugar for a period of 34 months ending
31 December 2020. With the strong and improved
procurement network, supply from China Sugar and
management’s business experience in raw cane sugar
trading, the sugar trading business significantly improved in
2019.

For the Year, revenue from trading of raw cane sugar
amounted to approximately RMB48,411,000 (2018: Nil)
with a segment profit of approximately RMB947,000
(2018: loss of RMB2,486,000).

The Group has entered into other sales contracts on raw
cane sugars with customers to deliver raw cane sugar in
2020 and, despite the outbreak of COVID-19, is optimistic
about the trading business.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED ELEEEARAR
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(
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MARKET OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Amid the trade dispute and tension between the PRC
and the United States of America, the global and the PRC
economy will remain complicated in 2020. Moreover,
following the outbreak of COVID-19 worldwide, the global
economy dramatically slowed down.

However, the management is cautiously optimistic about
the performance of the Group because of:

i) COVID-19 outbreak in the PRC is generally being
controlled;

ii) Coming ease of control on monetary and fiscal
policies;

iii) Enormous urbanisation in the PRC; and

iv) Local city transformation and infrastructure
development in and around Maoming.

Regarding the existing Maoming Project, as more and more
residents are moving into the area, sales campaigns in 2020
and 2021 will be focused on the remaining commercial
properties. The management is also considering leasing a
larger portion of commercial shops in response to recent
short-term downturn of the economy.

The Group has also won in a bid of land use rights in
Maoming in November 2019. The land is planned to
be developed into a composite of residential properties,
commercial properties and carparks with site area of
29,274 square meters and preliminary planned gross floor
area of residential and commercial properties of 88,396
square meters. As at the date of this annual report, a
remaining sum of RMB89,051,900 is expected to be settled
in April 2020 to complete the land acquisition transaction.

Regarding the trading of raw cane sugar business, with the
steady supply from China Sugar, the Group is optimistic
about the raw cane sugar business in the future. Due to
the outbreak of COVID-19, the commodity price of raw
cane sugar becomes more volatile. The Group will enter
the trading business with extra caution to mitigate any
associated risk of sugar pricing.

BEEER W RO

mERERAR
SHREBSFRRERYE —T-_TF2RRA

BB EERE - LN 2R AU E R B S
R NE < 2 BRI K8 AR -

AM EEEHAKENRERFEREBEE
REZ:

i) FEEE L EENHEENREMARE

i) B8 pi & M K B B R

i)y  PEFRRERMBCER &

v) KB REFEBETETR T EOE R AR
@O

RIREXREEME ARBEZMHER HaiE
m —E-EFER-T—FHEHEENBEER
HRTEAYE - AEIBEECSHRER SEEN
FEERBELHMIEREE

N REBR-ZZTE—NF+— AP EZXHLH
FRE - Z T HET IR K AIGHEIE29,274F 75
KEFEME BRAMEREFEES A B
AR MEELEAVMEZYITEBEERE
788,39 F F K - RAFHHEE B TEEARK
89,051,9007CTEA R — T —TF 1 AL - AT
TR ER S

REREZEHTE  BRETERER 2BEHE
AREBH KRR RERE RGBT - AR B E
FEABRREMARE  REEZARERERD
BARES AEEKEMERETESEE A
B AR AT AAT 2 (B8 4 B LB o
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEERE DT

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the Year, the Group's revenue is amounted to
approximately RMB804,898,000 (2018: RMB90,251,000).
The profit attributable to owners of the Company
was approximately RMB74,184,000 (2018: loss of
RMB34,461,000). The surge of the revenue and profit were
mainly due to the delivery and sales recognition of certain
properties of phase 3 of the Maoming Project and the
increase in the sales of raw cane sugar trading.

As at 31 December 2019, bank balances and cash
were approximately RMB63,528,000 (31 December
2018: RMB52,422,000), restricted bank deposit was
approximately RMB896,000 (31 December 2018:
RMB8&,169,000) and pledged bank deposits were
approximately RMB31,285,000 (31 December 2018:
RMB38,085,000). As at 31 December 2019, the total
assets of the Group was approximately RMB1,183,485,000
(31 December 2018: RMB1,535,616,000), representing
a decrease of approximately 23%. The decrease was
mainly due to the delivery of certain properties of phase
3 of the Maoming Project. As at 31 December 2019, the
Group's total secured bank borrowings and loan payables
amounted to approximately RMB16,165,000 (31 December
2018: RMB45,001,000). As at 31 December 2019, the
gearing ratio, expressed as a percentage of total secured
bank borrowings and loan payables over net assets was
approximately 2% (31 December 2018: 8%) and the
current ratio was approximately 2.4 (31 December 2018:
1.6).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The issued ordinary share capital of the Company as at
31 December 2019 was approximately HK$182,469,000
divided into 1,824,690,520 shares of HK$0.10 each.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

The Group mainly earns revenues and incurs costs in
Renminbi, United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars. The
Group’s monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in
Renminbi, United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the management will monitor foreign
exchange exposure closely and consider the use of hedging
instruments when the need arises.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED ELEEEARAR
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2019, certain of the Group's leasehold
land and buildings with an aggregate carrying values of
approximately RMB16,128,000 (2018: RMB16,292,000)
were pledged to banks for securing general banking
facilities granted to certain subsidiaries of the Company.

As at 31 December 2019, restricted bank deposit of
RMB896,000 (2018: RMB8,169,000) and pledged bank
deposits of RMB31,285,000 (2018: RMB38,085,000) of
the Group were pledged to obtain the mortgage facilities
provided to certain purchasers of the Group’s properties
for which guarantees were provided by the Group to the
banks.

As at 31 December 2019, banking facilities of
approximately RMB1,776,000 (2018: RMB11,776,000)
were utilised and approximately RMB17,880,000 (2018:
RMBS8,780,000) were unutilised and available for the
Group's future financing.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The details of segment information are set out in note 6
of notes to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had commitments for
purchase of land use rights amounted to RMB139,051,900
(2018: Nil).

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group employed 44 (2018:
54) full time employees in Hong Kong and the PRC. Total
remuneration of the Group for the Year was approximately
RMB13,640,000 (2018: RMB11,826,000). The Group's
emolument policies are formulated on the basis of market
trends, future plans and the performance of individuals,
which will be reviewed periodically. Apart from provident
fund scheme and state-managed social welfare scheme,
share options will also be awarded to employees according
to assessment of individuals’ performance.

BEEER W RO

AERH

RN F+t_A=+—H AEEHLET
BN ARY16,128,000L (ZE— NF: ARK
16,292,0007T) W& THE T it R FHEHA T IE
T 1EAEARRETHERATER —RETEEZ
ERo

RZE-—NF+-_A=+—H AR%896,0007T
—ZT—\F: AR¥R,169,0007T) 2 & B HI R 1T
TR K& ARM31,2850000 (ZE—/\F: AR
38,085,0007T) 2 E IR IR TIF SR E (B8 - LU
BRETFTAEEVEZETERZEBER  MA
SEEMZEERBERARITIRMEER-

RZZE—NF+—A=+—8 HAR¥1,776,000
7T (7 T—\F: AR¥11,776,0007T) HIRITEE
BB LA ARE17,880,000T (ZZE— N\F: A
R#8,780,0007T ) A &) B I A {4 A 7 AN S [ oK 2R
/§o

7 HE R
AR 2 FIEHRARE RS B BRI T6 -

BERRH AR

—NE+—A=+—"8 KNEFES +ifF
Az AESFE A AREE139,051,90000 (ZZ— N\
FE)o

BERFHMBX

—NF+-—A=Z+—8 AEEEFTERF
Bl 44 (ZZF—\F 540 ) 2 BEE - ANEE
RAFE 2 ENRzEL AR %13,640,0000T ( =2
—\F: AR¥11,826,0007T) ° ANE B A HBEER
THRIET S8 - RRETEI R (B 8 M8 A KR Ml
Al WEBEITIR cBRIBR ARSI NERE
B eEAErEsn  BRESREEEREERR
R ET AR B IR - LAYESRE) -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEE W& DA

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s maximum obligation
in respect of the mortgage facilities provided to certain
purchasers of the Group’s properties amounted to
approximately RMB577,518,000 (2018: RMB632,271,000).

DIVIDEND

No dividend was declared or proposed during the Year. The
Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the Year.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities during the Year.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED +E t#HEEERAHE
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, AND FUTURE PLANS
FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL
ASSETS

On 27 November 2019, Maoming Shang Cheng Real
Estate Company Limited* (X% EFBEZEER2AA]), an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (the
“Purchaser”), successfully won the bid of land use rights
of the land offered for at the RMB241,511,900 (equivalent
to approximately HK$268,346,556), being the price for the
acquisition of land use rights of a parcel of land situated at
JIXIANG-23, Maoming Jixiang District* (/%4 1 & ££/N 2 )
with a total site area of approximately 29,274.16 sg.m. (the
“Land”) (the “Land Grant Price”) and the Purchaser has
received the relevant written notification (B4 & 3% F th 5
FA#E H R X @A) from Maoming City Public Resources
Trading Center* (JX&MARE IR HH L)) to inform the
Purchaser of its successful bid of the Land. The Purchaser
entered into the confirmation letter on 3 December 2019
to confirm the grant of the land use rights of the Land by
The Maoming Municipal Natural Resources Bureau* (%
ZTMBERERRB) (the "Vendor”) to the Purchaser. On 17
December 2019, the Purchaser signed the land use rights
grant contract with Maoming Municipal Maonan District
Natural Resources Bureau* (JX&MkmEEBAERB) (as
directed by the Vendor) in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the relevant listing-for-sale documents.

*  For identification purpose only

BEEER W RO

RFAEZEARE HWERARZEAWEREH
Eéﬁ&*%#ik&ﬁﬁﬁkﬁﬁﬁéz

R—ZZEBE-—AE+—-—B=-_++tRH EZ2LAE
XERRAR (ARG cHEZEMBAA)
(TEHI)AARY241,511,900T (BER
#4) 75 268,346,556 T ) A I R IZ £+ i 5 R
EOZERABKRE —SRUREETHEENE
JIXIANG-2341h b & A #929,274.16F /K
2t ([t ]) 2t EREZER ([
WHZEE]) BEFCEERRETAREBRER
SHELEBEHCRAEERAMERAELEXRSRE
M ENERDPEZEIH -BEAR_ZT—H
F+_AZHIUBRE UERXETAEAR
BRB(IBERFl)MEFHEZ L2 T H0F
BiE-R—_E—-—NhE+-_A++tB EFEE
HARBEEXHF 2GR REGREXEMIXE
EEAERRB(REFER)EB L HEAE
HEAR -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEE W& DA

Summary of the details of the Land acquisition THKREEEFERE

Date: 27 November 2019 (being the date the Purchaser was granted with the right to acquire the
land use rights of the Land)

HEA: —E-NFT AT R (ERERENYBEZ I M T EREER)

Parties: (i) the Purchaser; and

R (i) Bh: Rk

@iy  the Maoming Municipal Natural Resources Bureau* (fX&Z M HAEZIRRF), being

the Vendor.

(i) XEMERERR ERET-

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and
belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, the Vendor
and its ultimate beneficial owners are independent third
parties of the Company and its connected persons.

The Land Grant Price of RMB241,511,900 (equivalent to
approximately HK$268,346,556) was the bid price made
by the Purchaser, which is the reserved bidding price set by
the Maoming Municipal Natural Resources Bureau* (%%
MEAEIRRF) in the listing-for-sale. The Purchaser made
the bid after taking into account of (i) the current property
market conditions of Maoming, the PRC; and (ii) the
development potential of the Land.

*  For identification purpose only
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Management Discussion and Analysis

An initial payment in the amount of RMB72,460,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$80,511,111) (the
“Deposit”), representing the deposit required in order
for the Purchaser to qualify for tendering the bid of the
Land through the listing-for-sale process, has been duly
paid by the Purchaser on 26 November 2019 before the
bid was awarded. The Deposit has been applied towards
settling part of the Land Grant Price. As disclosed in the
supplemental announcement made by the Company dated
20 January 2020, an additional sum of RMB30,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$33,333,333) was paid
by the Purchaser on 31 December 2019 as further and
partial settlement of the Land Grant Price. Through various
discussions between the Purchaser and the Vendor, the
Purchaser understands that the Land will not be ready
for delivery in accordance with the land use rights grant
contract, therefore the completion of the Land acquisition
will be delayed. In January 2020, the Company has
paid a further sum of RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$55,555,555), as further and partial
settlement of the Land Grant Price. The remaining balance
of the Land Grant Price is anticipated to be paid in March
or April 2020 and the Land shall be delivered to the
Purchaser accordingly after full and final settlement of the
Land Grant Price. The Land Grant Price was and shall be
satisfied by the internal resources and external borrowing
of the Group.

Having considered the above, the Directors consider that
the Land Grant Price is fair and reasonable and in the
interest of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREF W&

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios in
respect of the Land acquisition are greater than 100%
for the Company, the Land acquisition constitutes a very
substantial acquisition for the Company under the Listing
Rules.

The Land acquisition is also regarded as a “Qualified
Property Acquisition” under Rule 14.04(10C) of the Listing
Rules as the Land acquisition involves an acquisition of
governmental land in the PRC from a PRC Governmental
Body (as defined under the Listing Rules) through a listing-
for-sale governed by the PRC law (as defined under Rule
19A.04 of the Listing Rules).

The Land acquisition is undertaken on a sole basis by the
Group in its ordinary and usual course of business. The
Land acquisition is subject to reporting, announcement
and circular requirements but is exempt from Shareholders’
approval requirement pursuant to Rule 14.33A of the
Listing Rules.

Details were set out in the Company’s announcements
dated 28 November 2019, 20 January 2020 and 23
January 2020 and the Company's circular dated 23 January
2020.

Save as disclosed above, there were no significant
investments held as at 31 December 2019 nor material
acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries during the Year
and there is no plan for material investments or capital
assets as at the date of this annual report.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Liu Feng, aged 50, was appointed as an executive
Director and chairman of the Company on 17 August
2012. Mr. Liu Feng has over twenty years’ experience
in the general management and sugars markets in the
PRC. Mr. Liu Feng is Vice Director of Sugar Association of
China* (R EEZWE) . Mr. Liu Feng is a founder of
an enterprise engaged in the sugar and starch production
business in the PRC. Mr. Liu Feng was awarded as a
“Distinct Entrepreneur” by China Economic Trading
Promotion Agency* (R EIA&EE ZE#E ) in 2011 and
as a "Distinct Non-Government Entrepreneur of China” by
China Non-Government Enterprise Directors Association*
(FRRECERBE) in 2009. He holds an Executive
Master Degree of Business Administration from Cheung
Kong Graduate School of Business. Mr. Liu Feng is the
father of Mr. Liu Zhongxiang, the executive Director.

Mr. Chen Xian, aged 56, was appointed as an executive
Director and the vice-chairman of the Company on 12
October 2007 and was re-designated as the chairman
of the Company on 30 November 2007. Mr. Chen Xian
was re-designated again as the vice-chairman of the
Company on 17 August 2012. He is also a director of
several subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chen Xian is
one of the founders of a sizeable property development
company in Zhuhai, the PRC and has been a member of
the senior management of a subsidiary of that company.
Mr. Chen Xian was mainly responsible for the investment
and development of real estate projects of such companies.
Before joining those companies, Mr. Chen Xian worked
as a senior member of certain stated-owned companies
and the local authority. He has more than 16 years of
extensive experience in the investment and development of
real estate projects. He holds a Master Degree of Business
Administration from the Asia International Open University
(Macau).

*  For identification purpose only
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Biographical Details of Directors

EEEN

Mr. Lau Sai Chung, aged 64, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 15 September
2006 and was re-designated as an executive Director on
30 November 2007. Mr. Lau Sai Chung was also appointed
as the chief executive officer of the Company on 30
November 2007. He is currently also a director of several
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Lau Sai Chung holds a
Bachelor degree in Commerce with major in Accounting
from the University of Alberta, Canada and has over 20
years' experience in the field of banking and finance both
in Hong Kong and North America. Mr. Lau Sai Chung is
also a fellow member of the Institute of Canadian Bankers
and The Hong Kong Institute of Directors, and a member
of The Hong Kong Independent Non-Executive Director
Association.

Mr. Liu Zhongxiang, aged 32, was appointed as an
executive Director on 30 September 2015. He is currently
also a director of several subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
Liu Zhongxiang obtained a diploma of legal secretary from
the People’s Public Security University of China (B A
RA%ZKE)in 2009. Mr. Liu Zhongxiang has nine years
of experience in diverse businesses, such as construction
and sugar production and trading. Mr. Liu Zhongxiang is
the son of Mr. Liu Feng, the chairman and the executive
Director of the Company.
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Biographical Details of Directors

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael (“Mr. Poon”), aged 48, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 29
November 2006. Mr. Poon is also the chairman of the audit
committee, a member of the nomination committee and a
member of the remuneration committee of the Company.
Mr. Poon is a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a member of CPA Australia
and a practicing member of Asset Management Association
of China. He holds a bachelor degree in administrative
studies from York University in Canada and a master
degree in practicing accounting with Monash University in
Australia. Mr. Poon worked for an international accounting
firm and was responsible for providing business advisory
and assurance services for listed companies. He has over 20
years of experience in financial reporting, business advisory,
auditing, taxation, accounting, merger and acquisition. Mr.
Poon is currently an independent non-executive director
of Smartac Group China Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
395), Teamway International Group Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 1239) and LFG Investment Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 3938), the shares of which are listed on main board
of the Stock Exchange since 29 January 2010, 19 March
2019 and 10 September 2019, respectively. Mr. Poon is the
executive director and chief financial officer of Huakang
Biomedical Holdings Company Limited (Stock Code: 8622)
and the independent non-executive director of Niche-Tech
Group Limited (Stock Code: 8490), since 3 August 2017
and 28 June 2019, the shares of which are listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Poon was an independent
non-executive director of Cityneon Holdings Limited (SGX:
5HJ), from 11 August 2017 to 30 April 2019, the shares of
which were listed on the Singapore Exchange Limited and
were delisted on 1 February 2019 since it was privatized.
Mr. Poon was an alternate to Mr. Amir Gal-Or, a non-
executive director of Vincent Medical Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 1612) from February 2016 to July 2017, the
shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange and the
chief executive officer and company secretary of Anxin-
China Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1149) from February
2017 to May 2017, the shares of which are listed on main
board of the Stock Exchange and were delisted on 20
December 2018.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EEEN

Mr. Char Shik Ngor Stephen (“Mr. Char”), aged 70, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
30 September 2015. Mr. Char is also the chairman of the
nomination committee, a member of the audit committee
and a member of the remuneration committee of the
Company. Mr. Char is currently a Barrister-at-Law and
was an independent non-executive director of National
Investments Fund Limited (Stock Code: 1227), from May
2007 to November 2018, whose shares are listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Char holds a
bachelor of laws (Honours) from the University of London
and a master degree in Social Sciences from the University
of Hong Kong. Mr. Char was also the chief investigator and
senior assignment officer of the Independent Commission
Against Corruption in Hong Kong from 1976 to 2004 and
a chief executive officer of Garner Forest Industries Limited.

Mr. Chen Weijiang, aged 46, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 3 January 2020. Mr.
Chen Weijiang is also the chairman of the remuneration
committee, a member of the audit committee and a
member of the nomination committee of the Company. Mr.
Chen Weijiang has over twenty years of experience in the
sugar markets in the People’s Republic of China. Mr. Chen
Weijiang obtained a law degree from the Xi‘an Politics
Institute of the People’s Liberation Army* (fi# ik = 9 2 K
JA2 7 ) and commenced work at the Zhanjiang Hengde
Sugar Company Limited (GE/TERIEEBRAF) * in
1997. From 2007 to 2017, Mr. Chen Weijiang acted as the
executive director of Zhanjiang Hengde Sugar Company

Limited C&)TBEREBRARF) *

*  For identification purpose only
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board and the management of the Company are
committed to the maintenance of good corporate
governance practices and procedures.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company’s corporate governance practices are
based on the principles and code provisions (the “Code
Provisions”) set out in the Corporate Governance Code and
Corporate Governance Report (the “CG Code"”) contained
in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”). Throughout
the Year, the Company has complied with all the Code
Provisions of the CG Code exception for the following
deviation:

Code Provision E.1.2

According to the code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, the
chairman of the board should attend the annual general
meeting. Mr. Liu Feng (the chairman of the Board) could
not attend the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 29 May 2019 (the “2019 AGM") due to other
business engagement but he had appointed Mr. Lau Sai
Chung, the executive Director as his representative to chair
the 2019 AGM and answer questions of the shareholders
of the Company. In the future, the Company will try its
best to encourage all the Directors to attend the general
meetings of the Company.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code"”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as
its own code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
the Company confirms that all Directors have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code
during the Year.
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Corporate Governance Report

TEERHRE

COMPOSITION AND BOARD PRACTICES

The Board is collectively responsible for the oversight of
the management of the business and affairs of the Group
with the objective of enhancing its corporate value. As at
31 December 2019, the Board consisted of seven Directors,
comprising four executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors. At least one of the independent
non-executive Director possess appropriate professional
accounting qualifications and financial management
expertise, which complies with the requirement of the
Listing Rules.

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Feng (Chairman)

Mr. Chen Xian (Vice-Chairman)

Mr. Lau Sai Chung (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Liu Zhongxiang

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael

Mr. Char Shik Ngor Stephen

Mr. Chen Weijiang (appointed on 3 January 2020)
Ms. Li Jiansheng (Resigned on 3 January 2020)

The Directors’ biographical information are set out in pages
15 to 18 of this annual report. All executive Directors have
given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the
Group. Each executive Director has sufficient experience to
hold the position so as to carry out his duties effectively.
There is no relationship among the members of the Board
except Mr. Liu Feng is the father of Mr. Liu Zhongxiang.

The Board has delegated the executive Directors with
authority and responsibility by handling the management
functions and operations of the day-to-day business of
the Company, while reserving certain key matters for the
approval by the Board. The types of decisions to be taken
by the Board include annual and interim period financial
reporting and control, equity fund raising, declaration of
interim dividend and making recommendation of final
dividend or other distributions, notifiable transactions
under Chapters 14 and 14A of the Listing Rules and
making recommendation for capital reorganization or
scheme arrangement of the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board and each Director have separate and
independent access to the Company’s senior management.
A Director who considers a need for independent
professional advice in order to perform his/her duties
as a Director may convene, or request the secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”) to convene,
a meeting of the Board to approve the seeking of
independent legal or other professional advice.

The Company adopts the practice of holding meetings
of the Board regularly for at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. Ad-hoc meetings will also
be convened if necessary to discuss the overall strategy
as well as the operation and financial performance of the
Group. Notice of meeting of the Board will be sent to all
Directors at least 14 days prior to a regular Board meeting.
Reasonable notice will be given to Directors for ad-hoc
Board meetings. Directors may participate either in person
or through electronic means of communications.

During the Year, four meetings of the Board were held,
Directors are provided with relevant information to make
informed decisions. The attendance of Directors at the
Board meetings and the Board committees’ meetings is set
out in the table below:

TRERHRE
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Meetings attended/Eligible to attend

LEEE/RERLECER
Audit Remuneration Nomination
Name of Directors Board Committee Committee Committee  General Meeting
BEpg Ezg EVZEE yMzeg REZEE REAE
Executive Directors BTES
Mr. Liu Feng 285 4 414 - - - 01
Mr. Chen Xian RExE 44 - - - n
Mr. Lau Sai Chung £ gt 44 - - - N
Mr. Liu Zhongxiang A EHEsE 44 - - _ "
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BYFHTES
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael BREELE 414 2 22 /1 17
Mr. Char Shik Ngor Stephen EHBEE 24 01 0N 01 17
Ms. Li Jiansheng ?@Eﬁi
(resigned on 3 January 2020) (R-Z-%
—H_E@1) 44 n n 11 11
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TEERHRE

Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional
Development

All Directors, including independent non-executive
Directors, should keep abreast of their collective
responsibilities as Directors and of the business and
activities of the Group. Each newly appointed Director
would receive a comprehensive induction package covering
business operations, policy and procedures of the Company
as well as the general, statutory and regulatory obligations
of being a Director to ensure that he/she is sufficiently
aware of his/her responsibilities under the Listing Rules
and other relevant regulatory requirements. The Group
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also provides briefings and other training to develop and RINBESHRTEEE TR IRE-
refresh the Directors’ knowledge and skills, and update all
Directors on the latest developments regarding the Listing
Rules and other applicable regulatory requirement to
ensure compliance and to enhance their awareness of good

corporate governance practices.

RAFE BFERUATHTA2EEREES
BZEHAE EFZBRFEBEMNASER

During the Year, the Directors participated in the
continuous professional developments in relation to

requlatory update, the duties and responsibility of the BZRBEBXEREE:
Directors and the business of the Group in the following
manner:
Attended
Seminars or
Briefing/Read
Materials
Name of Directors SNMHER
EEpRS e BEM R
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Liu Feng 2tg et v
Mr. Chen Xian PR B S A v
Mr. Lau Sai Chung 2t LA v
Mr. Liu Zhongxiang BAMEE v
Independent Non-executive Directors BYkHTES
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael ERBEE v
Mr. Char Shik Ngor Stephen BHREE v
Ms. Li Jiansheng (resigned on 3 January 2020) FREZT (RZZTEEF
—A=ZB&T) v
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of the Chairman and chief executive officer of the
Company (the “Chief Executive Officer”) are segregated
and are currently held by Mr. Liu Feng and Mr. Lau Sai
Chung respectively. The Chairman is responsible for the
Group's strategic planning and the management of the
operations of the Board, while the Chief Executive Officer
takes the lead in the Group’s operations and business
development. There is a clear division of responsibilities
between the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer which
provides a balance of power and authority.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the independent non-executive Directors are appointed
for a term of three years, and subject to re-election on
retirement by rotation at the annual general meeting
of the Company (the “AGM") in accordance with the
Company'’s articles of association (the “Articles”). One of
the independent non-executive Director has appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required under Rule
3.10 of the Listing Rules. The Company has received the
annual confirmation of independence from each of the
independent non-executive Directors as required under
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company, based on such
confirmations, considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) with written terms of reference
in compliance with the CG Code. On 20 December 2013,
the Board adopted a set of the revised terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee, which has brought it in line
with the new Listing Rules relating to the board diversity
with effective from 1 September 2013. The revised terms
of reference setting out the Nomination Committee’s
authority, duties and responsibilities are available on both
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The
existing Nomination Committee has the following three
members:

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Char Shik Ngor Stephen (Chairman)

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael

Mr. Chen Weijiang (appoint on 3 January 2020)
Ms. Li Jiansheng (resigned on 3 January 2020)

The Nomination Committee has adopted a written
nomination procedure specifying the process and criteria
for the selection and recommendation of candidates for
directorship of the Company.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee
are reviewing and supervising the structure, size and
composition of the Board, identifying qualified individuals
to become members of the Board, assessing the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors
and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

Potential new Directors are identified and submitted to the
Nomination Committee for approval. The nomination of
Directors should take into consideration the candidate’s
qualification, ability and potential contribution to the
Company. A candidate to be appointed as an independent
non-executive Director must also satisfy the independence
criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. No Director
was newly appointed during the Year.
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During the Year, one meeting was held by the Nomination
Committee to recommend the re-appointment of the
Directors standing for re-election at the AGM, to review
the size, structure, composition as well as diversity of
the Board, to assess the independence of independent
non-executive Directors and to consider the changes of
Directors. The Nomination Committee has also reviewed
the board diversity policy to ensure its effectiveness and
considered that the Group has achieved the objectives of
the board diversity policy during the Year.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) with the written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The terms
of reference setting out the Remuneration Committee’s
authority, duties and responsibilities are available on both
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
The Remuneration Committee has adopted the operation
model where it performs an advisory role to the Board,
with the Board retaining the final authority to approve the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and senior management. The existing Remuneration
Committee has the following three members:

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Weijiang (Chairman)
(appointed on 3 January 2020)

Ms. Li Jiansheng (Chairman)
(resigned on 3 January 2020)

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael

Mr. Char Shik Ngor Stephen

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee are making recommendations to the Board on
the Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration
of Directors and senior management, and reviewing and
approving the management’s remuneration proposals with
reference to the corporate goals and objectives resolved by
the Board from time to time.
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Details of the remuneration of Directors are set out in
note 11 to the consolidated financial statements. During
the Year, one meeting of Remuneration Committee was
held for, inter alia, reviewing the remuneration policy and
structure for as well as the remuneration packages of all
Directors and the senior management and considering
the remuneration packages of all newly appointed
Directors. No Director was involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee (the
“Audit Committee”) with written terms of reference in
compliance with the CG Code. On 1 January 2019, the
Board adopted a set of the revised terms of reference of
the Audit Committee, which has brought it in line with
the new requirement of the Listing Rules. The revised
terms of reference setting out the Audit Committee’s
authority, duties and responsibilities are available on both
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
The existing Audit Committee has the following three
members:

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael (Chairman)

Mr. Char Shik Ngor Stephen

Mr. Chen Weijiang (appointed on 3 January 2020)
Ms. Li Jiansheng (resigned on 3 January 2020)

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee
include making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external
auditor and to approve the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor, and any questions
of resignation or dismissal of such auditor; reviewing the
interim and annual reports and accounts of the Group; and
supervising the financial reporting process and effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group.

The Audit Committee reviewed and made recommendations
to the Board for approval of the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the Year, discussed the
accounting policies and practices which may affect the
Group with the management and auditor of the Company,
reviewed the fees charged by the external auditor and
reviewed the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems of the Group.
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During the Year, two meetings were held by the Audit
Committee to review and make recommendation to the
Board for approval of the audited results of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2018 and the unaudited
interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2019, to
discuss the accounting policies and practices which may
affect the Group with the management of the Company
and the Company’s auditor, to make recommendation on
re-appointment of external auditor for the approval of the
shareholders in the AGM, to review the fees charged by
the external auditor; and approve the remuneration and
terms of engagement of external auditor and to review
the effectiveness of risk management and internal control
systems and internal audit functions of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

All members of the Board are responsible for performing
the corporate governance functions. The terms of reference
of corporate governance functions was adopted by the
Board on 29 March 2012 and is in compliance with the CG
Code. During the Year, the Board has reviewed the policy
of the corporate governance and the corporate governance
report of the Company.

Director’s Nomination Policy

The director’s nomination policy of the Company was
adopted by the Board and became effective on 1 January
2019 and the Nomination Committee is responsible for
execution.

Director Nomination Process

The Nomination Committee utilizes various methods for
identifying director candidates, including recommendations
from Board members, management, and headhunters.
The Nomination Committee may also put forward director
candidates who are not nominated by Board members.
In addition, the Nomination Committee will consider
director candidates properly submitted by shareholders
of the Company through formal procedures set out in
the Company’s Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a
Person for Election as a Director.

TRERHRE

RAFE BEZZECCAMAgRH BEAE
ﬁl@m%%Aﬁ&$§l@i_§—ﬂ¢
TZA=T—BUEFEZEEREERER
T-NFARAZTHEREAZREEZ+ H
B BEARBEERERARA Z %A
HAEEEREZ S BERER B2BRR
RIRRBFRG L4 EBEINEZEA - FH
SNEZEMT R BA  RIETEZEA
MR ZRGER R ANEE 2 BREERA
EXEANABEZRESESE XA -

EERMRE
ﬁ%@%%%%ﬁiﬂﬂiigm%%o
%%ﬁ%%Z%% IEW i

,JF$¢F §$A5@3$Qﬂ
= Eﬁﬁﬁ&ﬂ:%ﬁ/ﬁ#ﬁ&i"

REESHEE

ARARLEENRFCERRRMEN -2
~NE-A-BEAR HEAEEEAES
7o

EEREER

REZEBECERZSBAZDEEETAR B9
BIEEEEKE BEEREEREERARZHE
BEREZ RBEZESNURAREESENE
RENESEBREA- BN REBEEZESHES
BAHAR Tk%wﬁﬁ$ Thﬁh%wﬁi
ENREFNEREFZ RZEEANER

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED #El L#&EBAERAE
ANNUAL REPORT 2019 —Z—hFF#H

27



28

Corporate Governance Report

TEERHRE

For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee
shall make recommendations for the Board’s consideration
and approval. For proposing director candidates to
stand for election at a general meeting, the Nomination
Committee shall make nominations to the Board for its
consideration and recommendation.

All director candidates, including incumbents and
candidates nominated by shareholders of the Company are
evaluated by the Nomination Committee based upon the
director’s qualifications. While director candidates will be
evaluated on the same criteria, the Nomination Committee
retains the discretion to establish the relative weighting of
such criteria, which may vary based on the composition,
skill sets, and experiences of the collective Board rather
than on the individual candidate.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters
relating to the recommendation of director candidates
by the Nomination Committee to stand for election
at any general meeting. The Board will take such
recommendations under advisement and is responsible
for designating the director candidates to be elected at
the annual general meeting of the Company and electing
directors to fill Board vacancies.

Procedure for Appointment of New Director

Director candidates will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information in a prescribed form, together with
their written consent to be appointed as a Director and
to the public disclosure of their personal data on any
documents or the relevant websites for the purpose of or in
relation to their standing for election as a Director.

The Nomination Committee shall, upon receipt of the
proposal on appointment of new director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the director
candidate, evaluate such director candidate based on
the criteria as set out below to determine whether such
director candidate is qualified for directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable director
candidates, the Nomination Committee shall rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company
and reference check of each director candidate (where
applicable).
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For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder for
election as a Director at the general meeting of the
Company, the Nomination Committee shall evaluate such
director candidate based on the criteria as set out below
to determine whether such director candidate is qualified
for directorship and where appropriate, the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board shall make recommendation
to Shareholders in respect of the proposed election of
Director at the general meeting (where applicable).

A director candidate is allowed to withdraw his/her
candidature at any time before the general meeting by
serving a notice in writing to the company secretary of the
Company.

Until the issue of the shareholder circular, the nominated
persons shall not assume that they have been proposed by
the Board to stand for election at the general meeting.

Procedure for Re-appointment of Director at General
Meeting

The Nomination Committee shall review the overall
contribution and service to the Company of the retiring
Directors including their attendance of Board meetings
and, where applicable, general meetings, and the level of
participation and performance on the Board.

The Nomination Committee shall also review and
determine whether the retiring Directors continue to meet
the criteria as set out below.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall then
make recommendation to the Shareholders in respect
of the proposed re-election of Directors at the general
meeting.
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Director Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee considers the following
qualifications are at a minimum to be required of a director
candidate in recommending to the Board potential new
Director, or the continued service of existing Director:

(@

the highest personal and professional ethics and
integrity;

proven achievement and competence in the
nominee’s field and the ability to exercise sound
business judgment;

qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience that are
complementary to those of the existing Board,;

the ability to assist and support management and
make significant contributions to the Company’s
success;

the contribution on diversity of the Board and any
measurable objectives adopted by the Nomination
Committee for achieving diversity on the Board,;

an understanding of the fiduciary responsibilities
that is required of a member of the Board and
the commitment of time and energy necessary to
diligently carry out those responsibilities; and

meet the “independence” criteria as required under
the Listing Rules and the composition of the Board is
in conformity with the provisions of the Listing Rules
from time to time (where applicable).

Other than the foregoing, there are no stated minimum
criteria for director candidate, although the Nomination
Committee may also consider such other factors as it may
deem to be in the best interests of the Company and the
shareholders of the Company.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

On 20 December 2013, the Company has adopted a board
diversity policy (the “Policy”) setting out the approach to
achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order to
enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board
diversity through the consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
education background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service.

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to
implement the Policy and review such objectives from time
to time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the
progress made towards achieving those objectives.

All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills and knowledge. The ultimate decision
will be made upon the merits and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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As at the date of this annual report, the information

RAFHRAHY EF2EH (BRERMH - Fi-

(including sex, age, educational background, professional HEER BERKR THREB)OT:
experience, term of appointment and designation) of the

Board is as follows:

No. of Director

EEAH

Age group:
Fae/R

Gender:

MR

Educational background:

HEHR:

Length of service (year):

R ER (F)

Designation:

ER:

Below 41
ABRIATR
41 10 50
41 E505%,
51 to 60
51£2605%
Over 60
607% A

Male
==

]
Female

E28

Hong Kong and Macau
BB KR

The PRC

b

Overseas

g

Below 1
—FEPAT
1-5
125
6-10
6210
Over 10
10 A E

Executive Director

WITES

Independent Non-executive Director
BMIFMITES
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For the purpose of implementation of the Policy, the
following measurable objectives were adopted:

1. The Company shall comply with the requirements
on board composition under the Listing Rules from
time to time.

2. The number of independent non-executive Directors
should be not less than three and one-third of the
Board.

3. At least one of the independent non-executive
Directors must have appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

4. At least one Director should be the professional or
have intensive experience of the industry on which
the business of the Group is.

The Board has achieved the measurable objectives in the
Policy.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu was appointed as the auditor
of the Company with effect from 14 July 2017 to fill the
casual vacancy following the resignation of SHINEWING
(HK) CPA Limited and to hold office until the conclusion of
the next annual general meeting of the Company.

The audit works of the Group for the Year were performed
by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.
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The total fee paid/payable in respect of the statutory audit
and non-audit services provided by external auditor is set

out in the following table:

INEB R EEDFTIRIE 2 A E R B R IR B RGE 2
B/ BN EBREAEENN X

Fee paid/payable

Services rendered P2 AR 3% e ENEA
For the For the
year ended year ended
31 December 31 December
2019 2018
BE-ZT—h&FE #HE-_ZT—N\F
t=A=t—-H8 +=-A=+—-H
LFE IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T ST IT
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu =g BEEMRS ST
— Audit services — ZERTE 1,350 1,280
— Non-audit services — FEZERTE
Interim review R EER R 590 550
— Non-audit services — L EARTE
Assurance — Continuing BER-FERERS
connected transactions 40 20
Assurance — Very substantial BR-IFEFERNREEE
acquisition 220 -
Total fee paid/payable BN Bz EREH 2,200 1,850
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Mr. Fu Lui, was appointed on
2 July 2010. He is responsible to the Board for ensuring
that Board procedures are followed and that the Board
is fully briefed on all legislative, regulatory and corporate
governance developments and has regarded to them
when making decisions. The Company Secretary is
also responsible for advising the Board on the Group's
compliance with the continuing obligations of the Listing
Rules, Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share
Repurchases, Companies Ordinance, Securities and Futures
Ordinance and other applicable laws, rules and regulations.
During the Year, Mr. Fu Lui undertook not less than 15
hours of professional training to update his skills and
knowledge.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors have acknowledged for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements at the end of the
Year which gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and of the results and cash flows for the
Year. In preparing the consolidated financial statements for
the Year, the Directors have selected suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently, made judgments
and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and
prepared the consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis. The statement by the auditor of the
Company regarding their reporting responsibilities on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out in
the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 86 to 93 of this
annual report.
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TEERHRE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that
sound and effective risk management and internal controls
are maintained, while the management of the Company
is charged with the responsibility to design and implement
an internal control system to manage risks. A sound system
of risk management and internal controls is designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss.

Risk Management and Internal Control Framework of
the Group

The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of risk
management and internal controls and reviewing its
effectiveness. The Audit Committee supports the Board
in monitoring the Group's risk exposures, the design and
operating effectiveness of the underlying risk management
and internal control systems. The management of the
Company assesses and presents regular reports to the
Audit Committee on its own assessments of key risks, the
strengths and weaknesses of the overall internal control
systems, with action plans to address the weaknesses.
External auditor also reports on any control issues identified
in the course of its work. Taking these into consideration,
the Audit Committee reviews the effectiveness of
the Group’s system of risk management and internal
controls, and reports to the Board on such reviews. Work
and findings of the management of the Company are
considered by the Board in forming its own view on the
effectiveness of the system.

The Group persistently engages independent professional
team and internal team in performing internal audit work
after considering the independence, flexibility, and overall
efficiency.
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Risk Management and Internal Control Framework
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TEERHRE

Risk Management and Internal Control Systems and
Procedures

Control Environment — The Group has been operating
under an established and appropriate control environment
with reference to principles of “Internal Control and
Risk Management — A Basis Framework” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Risk management and internal controls cover effective
operations, reliable financial reporting and compliance.

Risk Assessment — The Group continues to drive
improvements to its risk management process and the
quality of risk information generated, while at the same
time maintaining a simple and practical approach. We seek
to have risk management features embedded within our
operations, aiming to have a risk management system that
is practised on a day-to-day basis by our operating units.

The Board reviews and understands the risk factors of the
Group and operations annually, and the management of
the Company continuously monitors the scope and quality
of ongoing risk management and internal control systems.
The “Top-down” monitoring ensures risk management
features embedded within the operations and operated
effectively.

Meanwhile, the heads of operation units participate in
risk identification from “Bottom-up” so as to identify the
Group's overall risks.

Control Activities — The Group’s core property
development business and trading of raw sugar involve
well-established business processes. Control activities have
traditionally been built on top-level reviews, segregation
of duties and physical controls. We have been formalizing
and documenting the control processes in policies and
procedures. Written policies and procedures with defined
limits of delegated authority are in place, which facilitate
effective segregation of duties and controls.
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Planning and budgeting processes are one of key control
activities of the Group, which have been refined to
take into consideration risk factors. All operating units
prepare their respective operating plans pursuant to
corporate objectives for consideration. In this process,
they are required to identify material risks that may
impact the achievement of their business objectives.
Action items to mitigate the identified risks are developed
for implementation as well as for achieving the budget
and business objectives. Variance analyses are regularly
performed and reported to the management of the
Company and the Board. These help identify deficiencies
and enable timely remedial actions to be taken.

Capital expenditures monitoring is also significant to the
capital-intensive nature of the property business of the
Group. Depending on the nature and the size of the
projects, detailed analyses of expected capital expenditures
are submitted to the heads of operating units, executive
Directors or the Board for consideration and approval.

Monitoring Activities — The Board and Audit Committee
oversee the process, monitored by internal and external
professionals of the Group. The management of the
Company has emphasized in its updated reports to
the Audit Committee on movements of top risks and
appropriate mitigating measures. There is at least one Audit
Committee meeting substantially devoted to risks items.
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TEERHRE

Procedures and Internal Controls for Handling and
Dissemination of Inside Information

In handing and dissemination of inside information, the
Group:

will conduct immediate dissemination once inside
information is available and/or respective decision is
made, except the inside information falling into the
Safe Harbours of Securities and Futures Commission
that allow non-disclosure;

- complies with applicable laws, rules and guidelines
on disclosure of inside information issued by
Securities and Futures Commission;

- decides and implements monitoring procedures
regarding dissemination of inside information; and

- communicates with relevant persons about
corporate information disclosure practices with
respective training.

REVIEW ON EFFECTIVENESS OF RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
IN 2019

The Board and the Audit Committee reviewed the risk
management and internal control systems of the Company
for the Year and such review is conducted annually. The
Board opts that during the Year, risk management and
internal control systems are effective and sufficient, and
no event leads to material impact on Group’s financial,
operational and compliance controls. Respective reviews
cover the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions, and the effectiveness of the Group’s processes
for financial reporting and Listing Rules compliance.
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RECOMMENDED BEST PRACTICES

Group'’s Risk Factors

As a basis of risk management, we should understand the
Group's existing risk factors and respective change from
time to time. Listed below are the nature of significant risk
factors that the Group is facing, whilst the listed factors will
not be exclusive:

Risk factors

The Group may be unable to sell property
investment at expected prices or terms due to
volatility in the property market of the PRC.

The Group is required to comply with numerous
government rules and new regulations to be
promulgated from time to time, and may be
affected by tightening measures launched by the
PRC government for regulating the real estate
industry.

The business of the Group may be significantly
affected if the engaged external construction
contractors encounter any problem during
development of property given our full reliance on
them to conduct all the construction projects.

Principal revenues and expenses of the Group —
Property development business are denominated
in Renminbi. Investors may indirectly invest in
the assets denominated in Renminbi. If Renminbi
weakens against Hong Kong dollars, the asset value
of the shares denominated in Hong Kong dollars will
decline.

Implementation fluency and efficiency of exchange
control of the PRC will mitigate the ability of the
Group's fund transfer.

The management of the Company is exploring new
investments opportunities in properties development
business, Group’s risk factors may have changes
after investment.

COVID-19 outbreak in the PRC may detriment
the sale of existing property and development of
Maoming Project.

COVID-19 outbreak in the would may suppress the
demand of raw sugar and enhance price volatility.
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TEERHRE

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board makes its endeavour to maintain an ongoing
and transparent communication with all shareholders
and, in particular, use general meetings to communicate
with shareholders and encourage their participation. A
shareholder’s communication policy was adopted by
the Board on 29 March 2012 aiming at providing the
shareholders and potential investors with ready and timely
access to balanced and understandable information of
the Company. The Company also uses various other
means of communication with its shareholders, such as
publication of annual and interim reports, announcements,
circulars and additional information on the Group's
business activities and development on the Company’s
website: www.chinauptown.com.hk.

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and
enhancing communication with the existing shareholders
and potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from
investors, stakeholders and the public. Enquiries to the
Board or the Company Secretary may be sent by post to
the Company’s head office and principal place of business
at Suite 1501, 15/F, Tower 1, Silvercord, 30 Canton Road,
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Dividend policy

The dividend policy of the Company (the “Dividend Policy”)
was adopted by the Board and became effective on 1
January 2019.

The Dividend Policy is to ensure that the Board maintains an
appropriate procedure on declaring and recommending the
dividend payment of the Company. The Board endeavors
to strike a balance between the shareholders’ interests and
prudent capital management with a sustainable dividend

policy.
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The declaration and recommendation of dividends is
subject to the decision of the Board after considering the
Company'’s ability to pay dividends, which will depend
upon, among other things:

the Group’s financial results;

o the Group's cash flow, liquidity and capital
requirements;

o the Group's debt to equity ratios and the debt level;

o the accumulated profits and distributable reserves of
the Group;

o the Group's shareholders’ interests;

o the Group's current and future business operations,

conditions, cycle and strategies;
o the general market conditions;

o the shareholders’ and the investors’ expectation and
industry’s norm;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends that may
be imposed by the Group’s lenders;

o statutory and regulatory restrictions;
° past dividend record; and
o any other factors the Board may deem relevant.

The Board has complete discretion on whether to pay a
dividend and the form to pay, subject to any restrictions
under the Companies Laws of Cayman Islands and the
Articles. Any final dividends declared by the Company must
be approved by an ordinary resolution of the shareholders
of the Company at an annual general meeting and must
not exceed the amount recommended by the Board.
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TEERHRE

The Board may also consider declaring special dividends
from time to time, in addition to the interim and/or final
dividends.

There is no assurance that dividends will be paid in any
particular amount for any given period.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to the Articles, an extraordinary general meeting
may be convened by the Board upon requisition by any
one or more shareholders holding not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company and the
securities being held carrying the right of voting at any
general meetings of the Company. The shareholder shall
make a written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary at the Company’s head office and principal
place of business at Suite 1501, 15/F.,, Tower 1, Silvercord,
30 Canton Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong,
specifying the shareholding information of the shareholder,
his/her contact details and the proposal regarding
any specified transaction/business and its supporting
documents.

Procedures for putting forward Proposals at a General
Meeting

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board
or the Company Secretary at the Company’s head office
and principal place of business at Suite 1501, 15/F.,, Tower
1, Silvercord, 30 Canton Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information of the
shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal he/
she intends to put forward at general meeting regarding
any specified transaction/business and its supporting
documents.
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Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing through the Company
Secretary at the Company’s head office and principal place
of business at Suite 1501, 15/F, Tower 1, Silvercord, 30
Canton Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong or send
email to info@chinauptown.com.hk.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at
the general meetings of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, there is no change in the Company's
constitutional documents.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIS HERERBRE

ABOUT THE REPORT

Reporting Guidelines

This is the fourth Environmental, Social and Governance
("ESG") Report issued by China Uptown Group Company
Limited (“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”). It has been prepared in compliance with the
ESG Reporting Guide set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

When preparing this report, we have taken into account
the interests and expectations of stakeholders including
employees, shareholders, customers, sub-contractors, local
community, etc. The information in the report is presented
in a format that allows stakeholders to see positive and
negative trends in performance on a year-on-year basis,
enabling consistent comparison.

Reporting Scope and Period

This report covers ESG performance of the Company
and its subsidiaries in both Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China ("PRC") from 1st January 2019 to 31st
December 2019. This includes the office in Hong Kong and
the Group's property development business in the PRC.

Feedback

The Group shall continue to improve its ESG disclosure in
the future. We welcome your feedback on the report for
2019 and any suggestions you have in terms of what you
would like to see incorporated in our future reports. You
may contact us at: info@chinauptown.com.hk.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ESG MANAGEMENT APPROACH

Striving to become a responsible property developer, the
Group is committed to bearing its share of corporate
social responsibility. We monitor our performance on ESG
topics that are material to the business and assess related
risks regularly, making sure all our operations comply with
relevant laws and regulations.

While construction projects are outsourced to our sub-
contractors, we follow a stringent selection process and
undertake ongoing engagement to ensure they share
the same values as us on environmental management,
health and safety, construction quality, as well as other
sustainability topics important to us and our stakeholders.
Stringent acceptance inspections and procedures are
adopted to prevent any hazards.

Recognising the impact of construction projects on the
environment, we conduct regular checks on our sub-
contractors, examining the measures implemented to
mitigate air emissions, wastes and noises, as well as the
green practices followed in construction procedures.
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RIS HERERBRE

Employees are valuable assets of the Group. We offer
training opportunities for them to develop professional
knowledge and skills that not only benefit our business but
also their personal growth and career advancement.

The Group will continue to improve its ESG performance by
maintaining regular communication with its stakeholders
and responding to issues of their concern. We believe
with the support from our stakeholders, we can move
progressively along the path towards a sustainable
business.

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT

The Group is committed to safeguarding the environment
by measuring and managing its environmental impacts.
Our environmental management function is led by the
senior management, supported by the environmental
protection and monitoring team, with environmental
technicians as the responsible party to manage and monitor
the Group’s environmental performance, and coordinate
environmental protection initiatives between the Group and
the Government.

The Group strictly complies with all applicable laws
and regulations related to environmental protection in
Hong Kong and PRC, including but not limited to the
Environmental Protection Law of the PRC, the Law of the
PRC on the Prevention and Control of Air Pollution, the
Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Water
Pollution, the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and
Control of Environment Pollution Caused by Solid Wastes,
the Law of the PRC on Conserving Energy, and the Law of
the PRC on Environmental Impact Assessment.

To ensure compliance with the Law of the PRC on
Environmental Impact Assessment, we have commissioned
a qualified inspection and testing organisation to carry
out environmental impact assessment, ensuring that
environmental impacts of our projects, including noise,
air pollutants and sewage, meet the relevant national
standards at the design and construction stages.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Energy Consumption

The Group's operations involve the use of petrol, liquefied
petroleum gas (LPG) and electricity, of which electricity
accounted for 85% of total energy consumption last year.
In 2019, total energy consumption of the Group was

RS dERERBRE

FERIE 7€

AEEMEBSIRERAAB  BRIELAEBHR
(LPG)RE N EFENEEFHRERD
85% - —E—NF  ANEEWBEEFREA3,353.7

EREEAEEME EFE A RKISEE-

3,353.7 GJ, with energy intensity of 1.5 GJ per square
metre of floor area’.

Total Energy Consumption (GJ)

ERERAE (F8)

10000 —

- 7,963.5
8000 7,346.5
6000
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= 2851.6
2000

0 585.6 532.2 502.1
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—E—+tF —E-N\E —E-hF

B Electricity &5 B Petrol, Natural Gas, Liquified Petroleum Gases (LPG) G + KRR « RILBHR

AEBEMEZERBHREBRERE UM EEREDN

The Greenhouse gas emissions of the Group included direct

emissions (Scope ) from petrol and LPG consumed, and BAER /EE(_R E!’J E%f prt (4 . —) AREA
indirect emissions (Scope Il) from electricity consumpti(’m. In FEAOMEIEE PEON (@ =) - AL
&2%%2‘3%3&5&%@;7%45531@5 fLREE-

2019, our total GHG emissions amounted to 458.1 tonnes
of carbon dioxide equivalent (tCO2e). Emission intensity
was computed as 0.2 tCO2e per square metre of floor
area.

R EEFEAEEEES T A KO 2ZHE - &
“:EH\EEIEO

Total GHG Emissions (tCO:ze)
BERBEMEAE (M-SLtREE)
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! Floor area includes offices of the Group in Hong Kong and Mainland China.
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R HERERBRE

Energy consumption and Greenhouse gas emissions
dropped by 60% and 62 % respectively compared to 2018.
This is due to a downscale of sales activities during the
year. The close down of the company’s canteen led to zero
LPG consumption in the second half of the year, which also
contributed to the reduction in energy consumption.

Energy-saving Measures

We have adopted energy efficiency measures in our
operations to reduce operational cost as well as to fulfil
our social responsibilities for addressing climate change. At
office, we adopt green office practices such as undertaking
waste recycling and reducing energy consumption in office
lighting, air conditioning and other electrical appliances.

For property management, we monitor the performance of
our service providers, ensuring their operations are aligned
with our policies and guidelines in respect of environmental
protection. We actively explore options of switching to
renewable energy sources to further reduce fossil fuels
consumption as well as greenhouse gases emissions.

Water

In 2019, total water consumption in property development
and office operations was 57,300 m* and the water
intensity was 25.6 m* per square metre of floor area. There
was no issue in sourcing water that is fit for the purpose.
Temporary water treatment facilities were established to
filter and reuse water in construction sites. And all water
used for construction shall not discharged unless being
treated.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

As most of our construction work is outsourced, we
maintain effective communication with our suppliers and
contractors to minimise emissions. Our environmental
protection department is responsible for monitoring
environmental performance of the contractors and
suppliers.

Air Emissions

In 2019, the Group generated 0.21kg of sulphur oxides
(SOx), 30.4 kg of nitrogen oxides (NOx) and 2.81 kg of
particulate matters (PM) due to operating vehicles. To
reduce flying dust at the construction sites, we make sure
the contractors use sprinklers and protective nets to reduce
the spreading of dust generated by construction machinery
and vehicles.

Solid Waste

While construction waste is recycled, we generated 14.3
tonnes of non-hazardous waste, which was mainly from
the construction work during the year. We collect waste at
designated points, which is then centralised and managed

RS dERERBRE
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by environmental protection department. To reduce waste ARt EREEAARBRETIHNE
disposal, we encourage employees to adopt green office WIE - KREERELEHPUBELREREY -
measures, including using both sides of paper and avoid
unnecessary printing. The Group’s operation does not
generate hazardous waste.
Non-hazardous Waste (tonnes)
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RIS HERERBRE

Noise

To ensure compliance with noise control, we make sure our
contractor arranges construction work to be undertaken
during permitted time, strengthens the management
of transportation vehicles, adopt sound insulation and
vibration reduction measures and set up greening areas to
reduce noise from vehicles.

Emissions Reduction

The Group is committed to reducing emissions of air
pollutants, sewage and waste from its operations. We
conduct regular inspections, maintenance and monitoring
of environmental protection facilities to ensure proper
treatment of pollutants and waste and encourage our
contractors and suppliers to do the same. During the year,
the Group was not aware of any violation of relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.
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OUR PEOPLE & COMMUNITY

The Group strives to maintain a comfortable and
supporting workplace for its employees. As of 31st
December 2019, the Group had a total of 44 employees.
Below, we show the employee composition by geographic
region, age, gender and position:

Geographic Region #:&

30%

70%

H Maoming, China FEI&# ™ Hong Kong &&

Gender %3l

50% 50%

B Male £ M Female Z 1t

We value equal opportunity and non-discrimination,
ensuring all employees are treated fairly in terms of
remuneration, rest periods, training, resignation and
contract termination processes. Promotions and rewards
are given with consideration of employee capability,
contribution, performance, and experience. Any forms of
workplace harassment are strictly forbidden. Employees are
encouraged to report discriminatory behavior to the senior
management.

RS dERERBRE

EMPWEIRTEE
AEBHOIRAEERBEFELEINNTIES
fre&z2—_E—NWFE+_A=+—"H8 Xx&EH
HE44ZRE - N TERLHE  FHL - R %
BrEom B THREER:

Age FiR

7% 1%

82%

H<30 W 30-50 >50

Position Bi{

27%

B Managerial €32 M Front Line AI#%

HMERTERSRREE BRAEEER
O RE B BBERANRLEER EBE
REFB-BMEEEERENESD BB KA
REBERHTET RS LB A EEREEM
FANTESHEREZ RAZBEEASRE
BEEEREMBRTR-

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED #El L#&EBAERLDE
ANNUAL REPORT 2019 —Z—hFF#H

53



54

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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Turnover rate by age

BFRESINEIREAR

23%

10%
6%
Below 30 30 to 50 years old 51 or above
D30 5 30 £ 50 5% 51 BN E

While the Group does not have operations in locations
where the risk of child labour or forced labour is high,
our HR manager remains cautious during the recruitment
process and ensures the age of the candidate is within legal
requirements. Our senior manager handles any identified
cases immediately according to laws and regulations.
During the year, we were not aware of any non-compliance
with laws and regulations having a significant impact on
the Group relating to employment and labour practices;
nor did we identify any incidents relating to the use of child
or forced labour.

Health and Safety

Occupational health and safety is one of our key
operational risks. We establish safety policies at
construction sites in which our contractors are required
to strictly implement the stipulated policies and comply
with the Production Safety Law of the People’s Republic of
China.

A safety plan submitted by contractors to the supervisory
engineer and the Group for approval is necessary before
construction work commences. The supervisory engineers
closely work with contractors on monitoring their safety
performance throughout the construction process,
requiring contractors to prepare emergency action plans,
install necessary equipment and machines according to
national standards and regulations so as to minimise safety
hazards.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED +E tHEEERAHE
ANNUAL REPORT 2019 —Z—hFFH

BEAEEEETIXRHSTRRRSHILE
WEXR RMANATERKLEEREBRED
ARFER BREBEFRTAZERE -
B AT = AR IR AR IR 13 NOR AR BB B 3R (AR
EHRANBER-FA KPR IANEZEERE
RETEBEHAEEEXNEAZENTNTA)
BEZABNEMEBER TRAERBEHEAERET
98 il 85 T B (E AT =14 -

RERZZ

BErEmarz2ERMNEIRELRAR s —-
BHPEREIHHELRE2BER REARBRK
REBTANBE LET (PEARLME
REEER) -

EERFAEEMRIAN AEHAMERE TR R
AEBERXRZ2FEAHEN - EBIE TR R
AEBBEEAE EREBETERABREN
weaREA URBEKEBEENEIAREABRD
HEZZBRAERNRLEMBERE LR
A Z2REERERE-



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

No work-related fatalities were recorded during the year.
To maintain safety culture in the Group, we organise safety
training for employees. In 2019, a total of 696 person-
times of safety training was recorded.

Total safety training hours
Eodesbs b NS S

696
645

2018 2019

i =F-hEF

The Company was not aware of any non-compliance with
laws and regulations that have a significant impact relating
to providing a safe working environment and protection of
employees from occupational hazards during the year.

Training and Development

Developing employees is vital to the Group’s sustainable
growth. To enable employees to reach their full potential,
the Group offers training opportunities to employees of all
levels, including directors, senior management and frontline
staff. While we identify appropriate training that helps
enhance employees’ competencies, mandatory trainings are
held when necessary to keep abreast with the latest laws
and regulations applicable to the Group. In addition to in-
house training, we encourage employees to participate in
external courses to broaden their skillset. We encourage
employees to provide feedback on training needs and
arrangements.
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To cultivate a professional sales team, we establish
comprehensive training plans for our sales personnel.
During the year, we provided up-to-date trainings covering
wide-range of skills and knowledge. Through targeted
training on professional qualities, project management,
market trends and customer relations management etc.,
we enable employees to obtain better understanding of the
market and set sales targets to boost their performance.

REE-—XBEXHERLK RMAREEAES
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Trainings for sales professionals

HEABEI

Personal skills trainings

AB eI

Professional qualities of
salesperson

e Property delivery

Knowledge trainings Customers relationship trainings
b = F BRI

e Project and sales management e Maintaining customer

relationships

e Sales mentality e |ssues on railways around e Handling disagreements with
e Conflicts resolution properties customers
e Sales elite training o HE RIHESE s MPEPHIR

s HEABEXZRE
o SHE L&

o FREIE

o SHERRE

. MERA

In 2019, 18% of male employees and 55% of female
employees received training, while 16% of managerial staff
and 92% of frontline employees were trained. The average
training hours completed per employee was 15.8 hours
during the year.

Community Involvement

The Group strives to fulfil its commitments as a responsible
corporate citizen through contributing to Maoming. In
2019, we donated RMB200,000 to community projects
that support development to social well-being. During
the year we sponsored local village committees for pipe
maintenance work. The Group will continue to collaborate
with partners in the communities and explore its options
when contributing to the society.

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE

The Group adopts best practices when ensuring the quality
of our development projects. Through stringent supply
chain management and quality assurance procedures, the
Group strives to receive recognition from customers and
the market.
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Supplier Management

Close cooperation with suppliers and contractors is
essential for achieving customer satisfaction. To minimise
environmental and social risks brought from the supply
chain, we conduct procurement processes with careful
considerations. The Group has established key selection
and evaluation criteria for suppliers and contractors,
including track record, financial strength, quality standards
and previous ESG performance.

All standards and requirements such as construction
scope, quality specifications, as well as joint and separate
responsibilities are stipulated in our contracts. The
Group communicates with its suppliers and contractors
periodically, ensuring that they understand and adhere to
terms and clauses of the contracts.

We monitor their ESG practices and performance through
regular evaluation, which becomes part of considerations
regarding future cooperation.

We pay close attention to occupational health and safety of
workers employed by contractors. The Group encourages
contractors to provide them with safety training. We also
welcome the establishment of a quality award system for
encouraging best practices on construction quality and
safety. To protect the rights of the community, contractors
are not allowed to cause any disruptions to daily lives of
the residents in nearby localities during the construction
process. Regarding environmental performance, we require
the construction team and potential suppliers to strengthen
the control on their environmental impacts including
emissions.

Product Responsibility

The Group strictly regulates the quality of its services
and products. As our product quality depends on
the performance of our contractors, selecting proper
contractors and applying complete and independent
approval processes are integral parts of our strategy of
assuring product quality. The Group evaluates construction
quality from multiple aspects, including appropriate
hygiene conditions, safety requirements, and construction
standards.
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Quality Assurance

Before obtaining the construction permit and
commencement report, contractors are required to prepare
specific safety supervision procedures and establish
specialised quality and safety agencies to manage the
daily operations and safety conditions on site. Besides,
supervisory engineers with management skills and
construction knowledge are responsible to inspect the
progress, quality, and safety measures.

HEERE
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Construction quality assurance procedure

BREBRERF

During the construction, supervising engineers are appointed to inspect the site
regarding the environment, fire safety, as well as quality.

RieTHME BB T EMEREERAITHNERE B2 REE-

The contractors are required to prepare specific safety supervision procedures and
establish quality and management agencies with full time managers and comprehensive

’ ‘ management systems.

AEEANEARLZEEERF YEVHEBLEAKNEERZE2EEEK

REE2TUN EEER-

During the construction period, the supervisory engineer
inspects the work and records any defects. The contractor
is asked to provide the required remediation plans. After
that re-checking process is carried out promptly. Upon
completion of the project, the Group submits the relevant
documents and license to the government department
concerned, including the department of public security, fire
services, and environmental protection. According to the
Regulations on the Quality Management of Construction
Projects, the acceptance certificate is granted only if all
national and provincial standards have been met and all
remedial tasks have been completed. After the properties
are delivered, customers are able to check in details before
signing the satisfactory confirmation. We also provide 3
years warranty on structural parts.
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RS HERERBRE

The approval process of construction projects

BEEBEENEMBRE

Government departments
are responsible for checking [ )
fire safety standard, dib
environmental protection
standard and public
safety standard.

N N Government
BTEF B B & ER R Departments
BRERBENABRLRZE- BT 28 Y

&
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Supervisory

Engineer
BB TR

The Group is responsible
H for submitting relevant
HHE documents and license to
the government authorities
and assigning supervisory
engineer.
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The Group
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The supervisory engineer is responsible for monitoring daily operations at the
construction site, address and resolve any construction related issues.

ERETIRMABEEREETHNRTES U NEH KR M EZEMERAE-

Information privacy

The Group puts in great effort to manage information
disclosure of our properties and protect the privacy of our
customers. Customer rights are protected according to the
law. During the year, we were not aware of any incidents
of non-compliance with laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group concerning health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress.

Anti-corruption

The Group regards integrity as the key to success and also
an essential factor when choosing its business partners.
We request all employees to strictly follow relevant anti-
corruption laws and regulations, including but not limited
to the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong and
the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China. The
Group also holds relevant training and has established
internal policies to avoid unethical behaviour within the
Company.
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The Group prohibits any improper gratification received
from or provided to other parties. To better prevent such
misconduct, all employees are encouraged to report any
suspected corrupt conduct to their senior managers.
After receiving reports, the Group takes up immediate
investigations and rigidly responds by way of disciplinary
action, termination of employment, or other preventive
measures. Cases of criminal offenses are reported to
appropriate authorities.

We only select suppliers without conviction records and
require our business partners to sign an Anti-corruption
Agreement. Violation of anti-corruption laws may lead to
termination of the contract. The Group retains the right
to demand compensation and pursue such further legal
actions as it may deem proper. During the year, we were
not aware of any breach of laws and regulations that
had a significant impact on the Group relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud, and money laundering.

The Group:

e Comply with relevant regulations and laws
e Conduct investigations on suspect behaviour
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e Take disciplinary actions and report to the authority for any violations discovered

AEE:
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Employee:

e Provide anti corruption training
periodically

e Encourage employees to report
suspected cases to senior managers
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Supplier :

¢ Select suppliers without previous
conviction record

e Require suppliers to sign anti-
corruption agreement
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PERFORMANCE DATA SUMMARY ANEERE

Employee Total Headcount

’E A
By Geographical Distribution
BRI 5
Maoming 31 43
xS
Hong Kong 11 11
i
Total 44 54
HEt
By Age
REWR
<30 5 6
<30%%
31-50 36 40
31-505%
>50 B 8
>505%
By Gender
gl
Male 22 31
Ef i
Female 22 23
g
By Educational Background
BBEER
Degree or above 36 41
B L
High school or below 8 13
=T
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RE -#H8RE

AR E

By Employee Category
%8 TR
Management
EIRE

Front line

Al 4%
Employee Turnover Rate
BIRAE
By Age

R F e

<30

<305%
31-50
31-505%

>50

>503%

By Gender
=145l

Male

5%

Female

Legid
Employee New Hire Rate
B T AR R
By Age
REHR

<30

<305%

31-50
31-505%

>50

>505%

By Gender
=14 5l

Male

S

Female

pegid
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12

6%

23%

10%

92%

5%

20%

0%

0%

5%

0%

29

25

67%

15%

0%

3%

39%

33%

3%

0%

3%

9%
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RE -EBRERERE

Percentage of Employees Trained
ZNEIBDLE
By Gender
=145
Male 18% 68%
S
Female 56% 65%
i
By Employee Category
ZE TR
Management 16% 55%
EIRE
Front line 92% 80%
Rl A%
Average training hours 15.8 12
IR B
By Gender
=R
Male 7 12
S
Female 25 12
i
By Employee Category
ZE TR
Management 6 14
ERE
Frontline 42 10
Rl A%

Safety Safety Performance

o ZERHE
Work-related injuries 0 0
I5
Lost days due to work injuries 0 0
EIEERITERR
Work related fatalities 0 0
B TR A Fil
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RIE HERERBE

Environment
RIE

Training on Occupational Health and Safety

BEEREER2E

Total personal-times training

1B A 55 )l 48R B
Total training hours
HIE IR 21

Total Resources Consumption

BIRBEFRE
Electricity (kwWh)

B (TEE)
LPG (kg)

RIb AR (F7)
Petrol (litre)

B (AF)

Total energy consumption (GJ)

meeRE (58)

Total energy intensity (GJ/m? floor area)
MEEBEE (B8 /BT K—2E@mE)

Water (m?)
K (2 K)

Water intensity (m3/m? floor area)
KEE (MLFRK/ BFEHRK-BE@ME)
Greenhouse Gases Emissions

A 7= & g

= RS BERR

Total GHG emissions (tCOze)
BAERBHER (BM_StREE)

Scope | (tCOze)

HE—-(E_StHRES)

Scope Il (tCO2e)

HEE_— (H_S{REE)

Emission intensity (tCO2e/m? floor area)

PREE (B_atiEE
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696

696

792,101

1,000

14,181

3,354

1.5

57,300

25.6

458.1

40.8

417.3

0.2

S BY IR -BEEE)

1,091

645

2,212,086

2,500

12,762

8,495

3.8

84,242

37.69

1,207.3

41.5

1,165.8

0.54
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RIE -HERERRE

Air Pollutants from Vehicles
BHEZERGREY
NOx (kg) 0.21 17.6
Aaftyw (F=)
SOx (kg) 30.4 0.2
meatw (=)
PM (kg) 2.81 1.6
BEEN (TR)
Waste
237
General waste (Tonnes) 14.3 14.2
—RREEY) (RWE)
Community Donation (RMB'000) 200 200
g BR(AREFT)
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RE - #HE8KkES

HE

APPLICABLE LAWS AND REGULATIONS BREERZER
Aspect Laws and Regulations

giE EERER

Emissions ° Environmental Protection Law of the PRC

PEm ) . (hEE AR EMBEIRFRE LX)

Use of Resources
&R{E A

Employment

(=

Health and Safety
22 &
Product Responsibility
EmEE

Anti-corruption
R&ES

Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Air
Pollution

G %/\E#ﬂj{ﬂ/? FBHRTED

Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Water Pollution

(hEE AR EMBEIKT R AE)

Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Environment Pollution Caused by Solid Wastes

(P AR HEFBEE RS RRIELIEE)
Law of the PRC on Environmental Impact Assessment

<<':F' EE}\E ﬂ] .I&ii?/ = u:{:'fﬁ/£>>
Law of the PRC on Conserving Energy
(P AR AT KIRLRE)

Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China
(REARIEFBEBEE)

Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China
(REARAFMBESEHERE)

Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labor
(EILEREIRE)

Hong Kong Employment Ordinance

(BBRERIED)

Production Safety Law of the People’s Republic of
China
(PEARANBEZ24EEZE)

Regulations on the Quality Management of
Construction Projects
GERITIRE2ERKRO)

Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong
&8 By LEBRER R A1)
Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China

(R ARKAMBEHE)
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Environmental
Management
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BB IR

Health and Safety
RREHEZ S
Quality Assurance
BERE

Anti-corruption
RES



The Directors are pleased to present their report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Group are engaged in (i) property
development and investment; and (ii) trading of raw sugar.
Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set
out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group's turnover by business segments
and geographical segments for the Year is set out in note 6
to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's results for the Year are set out in this
annual report on pages 94 to 207. The Board does not
recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of the
Year.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities,
and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated
financial statements is set out on page 4 of this annual
report. This summary does not form a part of the audited
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND MARKET
OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTUS

A review of the business of the Group during the Year and
a discussion on the Group's future business development
are provided in the Management Discussion and Analysis
on pages 5 to 14 of this annual report.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations,
businesses and prospects would be affected by a number
of risks and uncertainties including market risk, credit
risk, and liquidity risk. The risk management policies and
practices of the Group are shown in notes 39 and 40 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group commits to the long term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. Acting
in an environmentally responsible manner, the Group
endeavours to comply with laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and adopt effective measures to
achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving and waste
reduction.

The Group also commits to the principle and practice of
recycling and reducing. To help conserve the environment,
it implements green office practices such as re-deployment
of office furniture as far as possible, encourage use of
recycled paper for printing and copying, double-sided
printing and copying, reduce energy consumption by
switching off idle lightings, air conditioning and electrical
appliances. Details for the environmental policies and
performance of the Group during the Year are set out on
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages
46 to 66.

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and Regulations

As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group. During the Year, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations by the Group.
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Relationship with Suppliers, Customers and other
Stakeholders

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a
good relationship with its suppliers, customers and other
stakeholders to meet its immediate and long-term goals.

During the Year, there were no material and significant
dispute between the Group and its suppliers, customers
and/or other stakeholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the memorandum of association of the
Company and Articles, the applicable laws and regulations,
every Director shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they or any of them may incur or sustain in the
execution of their duties in their offices. Such permitted
indemnity provision has been in force throughout the Year.
The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and
officers of the Group.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the Year are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE
OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s ordinary share
capital and share options are set out in notes 29 and 30 to
the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “SHARE OPTION
SCHEME" of this annual report, no equity-linked
agreement was entered into by the Company during the
Year.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles and the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares of the Company
on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company'’s shares.

RESERVES

Details of movement in the reserves of the Group during
the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 98 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

There is no distributable reserves of the Company as at
31 December 2019, including the share premium less
the accumulated losses of the Company, available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands (2018: Nil).

Under the laws of the Cayman Islands, the share premium
is distributable to the shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will
be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall
due in the ordinary course of business. The reserves of the
Company available for distribution further depend on the
dividend distributable by the Company's subsidiaries.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate sales attributable to the Group's five largest
customers were less than 30% of the Group's total revenue
for the Year.

The information in respect of the Group’s purchases
attributable to the major suppliers during the Year is as
follows:
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FTEEFREER
AEBEAREFRIEHEARINAKERA

FEZRKZE30% o

RAFE AEETEHERRERBREFE
(I

Percentage of
the Group’s total

purchases

EEEE

Bot

The largest supplier RAMER 46%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate h R ER AT 78%

China Sugar Holdings Limited, one of the five largest
suppliers of the Group, is 100% owned by Mr. Liu
Zhongxiang, the executive Director. Moreover, China Sugar
Holdings Limited is also a substantial shareholder of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, during the Year, none of the
Directors, their close associates or any shareholders of the
Company (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the total number of the Company’s
shares in issue) had any beneficial interest in the five largest
customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the report date are:
Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Feng (Chairman)

Mr. Chen Xian (Vice-Chairman)

Mr. Lau Sai Chung (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Liu Zhongxiang
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael

Mr. Char Shik Ngor Stephen

Mr. Chen Weijiang (appointed on 3 January 2020)
Ms. Li Jiansheng (resigned on 3 January 2020)

Mr. Chen Xian and Mr. Char Shik Ngor Stephen shall retire
from office by rotation pursuant to article 87(1) of the
Articles, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election
at the forthcoming AGM.

Mr. Chen Weijiang shall hold office until the forthcoming
AGM pursuant to article 86(3) of the Articles, and being
eligible, offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in pages 15
to 18 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company without fixed term.
Each of the executive Directors may receive double pay
and discretionary bonus, the amount of which will be
determined by the Board as its absolute discretion having
regard to the operation results of the Company.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael, Mr. Char Shik Ngor Stephen
and Mr. Chen Weijiang, has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Other than as disclosed under the section “Continuing
Connected Transaction” in this annual report, no Director
had a significant beneficial interest, either direct or indirect,
in any contract of significance to the business of the Group
to which the Company or any its subsidiaries was a party at
any time during the Year.
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INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael,
Mr. Char Shik Ngor Stephen and Mr. Chen Weijiang, an
annual confirmation of their independence pursuant to
the Listing Rules and the Company considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the highest
paid individuals of the Group are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Directors consider that:

the related party transactions related to the remuneration
of directors and other members of key management
as disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements did not fall under the definition of “connected
transactions” or “continuing connected transactions”
(as the case may be) in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
which are required to comply with any of the reporting,
announcement or independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules; and

the related party transactions related to the purchase of
raw cane sugar from China Sugar as disclosed in note 33
to the consolidated financial statements constituted the
continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules and accordingly is subject to the reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules.

The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with
the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 22 January 2018, Techwayson Trading Limited
(“Techwayson”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the master agreement (the “Master
Agreement”) with China Sugar, a substantial shareholder of
the Company, for purchase of raw cane sugar from China
Sugar. On 14 February 2018, Techwayson and China Sugar
entered into a supplement agreement (the “Supplemental
Agreement”) to supplement and amend certain terms
of the Master Agreement. The Master Agreement dated
22 January 2018 as supplemented and amended by
the Supplemental Agreement dated 14 February 2018
(the “Revised Master Agreement”) has been approved
by independent shareholders of the Company at the
Company'’s extraordinary general meeting convened on 21
March 2018.

Pursuant to the Revised Master Agreement, Techwayson
agreed to purchase raw cane sugar from China Sugar for a
term of thirty four (34) months, from 1 March 2018 to 31
December 2020 (both days inclusive).

Pursuant to the Revised Master Agreement, China Sugar
and Techwayson shall enter into specific contract(s), which
shall set out the details, including but not limited to the
unit price of the raw cane sugar, quality specification,
origin, packing, payment terms and destination. Detailed
terms and conditions for the continuing connected
transaction shall be governed by the specific contract(s)
to be entered into between Techwayson and China Sugar
pursuant to the Master Agreement.

During the Year, the Group purchased the raw cane
sugar from China Sugar Holdings Limited amounted to
USD9,500,000. Pursuant to the terms of Revised Master
Agreement that, the purchase prices are:

a) not be higher than the price offered by China Sugar
to the other customers which purchase raw cane
sugar from China Sugar with similar specifications in
terms of quality and volume;
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b) not be higher than the price as quoted in the
index quotation of the New York ICE FUTURES
No.11 Sugar contract of the closest month to the
delivery date of the sugar as specified in the specific
contracts; and

Q) not be higher than the price payable by the Group
to the independent external suppliers based on the
order specifications from the Group’s customers.

China Sugar is wholly-owned by Mr. Liu Zhongxiang,
the executive Director. Accordingly, China Sugar, Mr. Liu
Zhongxiang and Mr. Liu Feng are the connected persons
to the Company as defined under the Listing Rules and
the transaction under the Revised Master Agreement
constitutes continuing connected transaction on the part of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

In view of the Group's plan to further expand its business
in trading of raw cane sugar, the entering into of the
Revised Master Agreement between Techwayson and China
Sugar will strengthen the existing business and secure the
procurement of sugar trading business of the Group and in
turn increase the revenue of the Group.

The Directors, including the independent non-executive
Directors, have reviewed the said continuing connected
transaction and considered that (i) the Revised Master
Agreement was entered into in the ordinary business and
usual course of business of the Company; (ii) the Revised
Master Agreement was entered into on normal commercial
terms after arm’s length negotiation; and (iii) the terms of
the Revised Master Agreement are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole.

The Board received a letter from the auditor of the
Company confirming that nothing has come to its attention
that causes it to believe that the continuing connected
transaction is under the situations as set out in rule 14A.56
(1) to (4) of the Listing Rules.
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For the details, please refer to the (i) announcement
dated 22 January 2018 and 14 February 2018; (ii) circular,
notice of extraordinary general meeting and proxy form
dispatched on 6 March 2018 and (iii) poll results of
extraordinary general meeting dated 21 March 2018.

Save as disclosed above, there were no significant related
party transactions and connected transactions entered into
by the Group.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors are reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable
market statistics, and approved by the Board.

Details of the related party and connected party
transactions are set out in note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions
of the Directors or the chief executive of the Company
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of the Part XV of the SFO) (1) which are required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); or (2) which are required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or
(3) which are required, pursuant to the Model Code to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as
follows:
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Approximate

percentage

of the total

Number of number of

underlying shares of

Number of shares held the Company

ordinary pursuant to in issue

share(s) share options PN

Capacity/Nature of held BEBRE ERITRHA

Name of Directors interests fris BENHER ML

IR B/ BHiHE EERYA RAEE BAk

Mr. Liu Zhongxiang Beneficial owner - 15,000,000 0.82
AmArE ERBAA (Note 1)
(PzE1)

Interest of 242,105,262 - 13.27

a controlled corporation (Note 2)
REFI R AR ER (H52)

Mr. Liu Feng Beneficial owner - 4,000,000 0.22
2B r s ERBEEA (Note 1)
(BEE1)

Mr. Chen Xian Beneficial owner - 10,000,000 0.55
RELE ERBEEA (Note 1)
(PtzE1)
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Approximate
percentage
of the total

Number of number of

underlying shares of

Number of shares held the Company

ordinary pursuant to in issue

share(s) share options N

Capacity/Nature of held REERE EBRTRH

Name of Directors interests i BEMEE By r L

A B/ REEME EERYH R E Bl

Mr. Lau Sai Chung Beneficial owner - 8,000,000 0.44
Bt A EREEA (Note 1)
(BtzE1)

148,000 - 0.01

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael Beneficial owner - 1,000,000 0.05
BRELE ERBEAA (Note 1)
(PsE1)

Mr. Char Shak Ngor Stephen Beneficial owner - 1,000,000 0.05
EBHBRLE ERBEAA (Note 1)
(PzE1)

Ms. Li Jiansheng Beneficial owner - 1,000,000 0.05
TEETL EXRBAA |(Note 1)
(BEE1)

Notes: BEE

These shares of the Company represent the share options
granted by the Company on 13 July 2017 under the old share
option scheme of the Company.

These shares of the Company are held by China Sugar
Holdings Limited which is 100% owned by Mr. Liu
Zhongxiang. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Liu Zhongxiang is
deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company held by
China Sugar Holdings Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company nor
their associates had any interest or short position in shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations which were recorded in the register
required to be kept under 352 of the SFO or notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model

Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2019, so far as was known to the
Directors, the following persons (other than the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company) has interests or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were recorded in the register of substantial
shareholder required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO.

Long position in ordinary shares
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Approximate

percentage
Number of of the total
underlying number of
Number of shares held shares of
ordinary pursuant to the Company
Name of substantial shareholders Capacity/Nature of interests share(s) held share options in issue
REERE (ARIASHT
HENER REAHN
TERRES BB 5/ ERME FEERYAE RO#E BRED
China Sugar Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 242,105,262 - 13.27
PERXEERRAA BRBAA
Guangdong Nanyue Bank Person having a security 242,105,262 -
First Direct Branch* interest in shares (Note 1) 13.27
EREERITRINBERLA BERD  ERERZZ AL (PEET)
FHBXIT
Chen Qiang Beneficial owner 149,500,000 - 8.19
B ERHEA
Note: B 5T

1. China Sugar Holdings Limited has provided a share charge
in respect of the 242,105,262 shares held by it in favour of
Guangdong Nanyue Bank First Direct Branch*.

*  For identification purpose only

1. FEEXEEBRATRERA 2242,105,262% 1%
HREREERTROAERARE —HEBLTIRE

et #RAC ©
* EHES)
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Save as disclosed above, the Directors and chief executive
of the Company are not aware that there is any party who,
as at 31 December 2019, had an interest or short position
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would be required to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted by the shareholders
of the Company at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 29 May 2019 (the "Share Option
Scheme”). The Share Option Scheme will remain in force
for a period of 10 years commencing from the date of
adoption of the Share Option Scheme from 29 May 2019
(the "Date of Adoption”) (that is from 29 May 2019 to
28 May 2029). The purpose of the Share Option Scheme
is to enable the Company to grant share options to the
participants who, in the sole discretion of the Board, have
made or may make contribution to the Group or any
invested entity as well as to provide incentives and help
the Group in retaining its existing employees and recruiting
additional employees and to provide them with a direct
economics interest in attaining the long term business
objectives of the Group.

The Company may grant to eligible participants (including
any directors, non-executive directors, employees, advisors,
consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents,
customers, business partners, joint venture business
partners, promoters, service providers of any member of
the Group whom the Board considers, in its sole discretion,
have contributed or will contribute to the Group) options
to subscribe shares in the Company, subject to a maximum
of 10% of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue as at the adoption date and as at the approval date of
refreshment from time to time, excluding for this purpose
shares issued on the exercise of options. The subscription
price will be determined by the Board and will not be less
than the highest of (i) the nominal value of the Company’s
shares, (i) the average of the closing price of the shares
guoted on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on the
five trading days immediately preceding the grant date and
(i) the closing price of the shares on the grant date.
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Upon acceptance of the options, the grantee of the Share
Option Scheme shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company as
consideration for the grant. The acceptance of an offer
of the grant of the option must be made within 21 days
from the date of grant. The exercise period of any option
granted under the Share Option Scheme is determined by
the Board upon granting the options but in any event must
not be more than 10 years commencing on the date of
grant.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company shall not, in the absence of shareholders’
approval, in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of
shares of the Company in issue as at the date of approval
of the Share Option Scheme. The Board may seek approval
by the shareholders of the Company at general meeting
to refresh the 10% limit. However, the total number of
shares available for issue under exercise of options which
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme in these
circumstances must not exceed 10% of the total number of
shares of the Company in issue as at the date of approval
of the refreshment of the 10% limit.

The total number of shares available for issue under the
Share Option Scheme and the old share option scheme
of the Company is 246,469,052 shares of the Company,
representing approximately 13.51% of the total number of
shares of the Company in issue as at the date of this annual
report.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company shall
not exceed 30% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue from time to time and the maximum
number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted to each eligible participant shall not exceed 1% of
the total number of shares of the Company in issue for the
time being in any 12-month period up to and including the
date of offer of the grant.

During the Year, no share option was lapsed, cancelled and
exercised.
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Details of the share options movements during the Year RAFE BREFIFRATIZEREZDFE
under the Share Option Scheme are as follows: PN
Number of share options
BRE#HE
Date of Exercise Balance Granted Balance
grant of Price Exercise as at during as at
Name or category of grantees share options (HKS) Period  Vesting Period 1/1/2019 the Year 31/12/2019
RZZB-n% RZZB-n%
B el -B-H B t=A=t+-8
HEFARARR BRERH (B¥7) i ERY k] TEERH Pl ]

Executive Director and beneficial owner
of a substantial shareholder of the Company

FARHTEERTERRZREERAA

Liu Zhongxiang 131712017 0.25 131712017 - N/A 15,000,000 = 15,000,000
12/7/2022 TER

385

Directors

Bz

Liu Feng 13/7/2017 0.25 13/7/2017 - N/A 4,000,000 s 4,000,000
121712022 TER

EilfS

Chen Xian 13/7/2017 0.25 13/7/2017 - N/A 10,000,000 - 10,000,000
121712022 TEMA

HE

Lau Sai Chung 131712017 0.25 13/7/2017 - N/A 8,000,000 - 8,000,000
121712022 AEA

Bt 2

Poon Lai Yin Michael 13/7/2017 0.25 13/7/2017 - N/A 1,000,000 - 1,000,000
12/7/2022 TEHR

Char Shak Ngor Stephen 13/7/2017 0.25 13/7/2017 - N/A 1,000,000 - 1,000,000
12/7/2022 TEMA

EH%

Li Jiansheng 131712017 0.25 13/7/2017 - N/A 1,000,000 - 1,000,000
121712022 AEA

TEE

Former Director

RHEES

Xia Dan 131712017 0.25 13/7/2017 - N/A 5,000,000 - 5,000,000
12/7/2022 TiEA

Xia Dan

Other employees

HitfES

In aggregate 13/7/2017 0.25 13/7/2017 - N/A 19,000,000 - 19,000,000
12/7/2022 TEMA

AN

A 7N

Total 64,000,000 64,000,000

@t
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RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE COMPANY’S
SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed under the sections “Share Option
Scheme” and “Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in
the Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company” above,
at no time during the Year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, or any of its fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executives of
the Company (including their spouses and children under
age of 18) to have any right to subscribe for securities
of the Company or any of its associated corporations as
defined in the SFO or to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

No Director had interests in a business which competes or
is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of the Group, as defined in the Listing Rules,
during the Year and up to the date of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied
throughout the Year with the Code Provisions of CG Code
except the deviation of Code Provision E.1.2. Details of the
Company's corporate governance practices are set out in
the “Corporate Governance Report” section of this annual
report.

Report of Directors

EEEHE

BEXAQARZHER

REX TS R EERARARN &
HEROOERZMRE ] FHMBEEEIN K
DA SR AR AT B & R S H AE ] B Z Y B A A
RAFE R EGES2EFTIERNRT
BEFTIARATETRAR (BEREER
RERRB T AR FR)ERETAENRE
ARRHETABERZEZE (ERAEFREE
fGRP) 2 & 5 RAEB AR R A A H IR A
[ 88 2 B £ 3K f& &5 1 2 B A 25

EEEBFERE RS

RAFERBEAFHRAY RIF LR
EEMENEAEEXBERXEARBRF A
EBRFCEBTHERER -

EEEN

NN SR VA R e e O RSN RAN/NC E
ZERIERMERITFND ZEENMITRER -

EER

EERR ARARAFEACETEEER
7RI 2 57 R G X CBR R B <7 B MR SCSEE. 1. 214K
V) cRRBZ EEERTHRAFBERAER
[hEEA®RE] —8-

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED #El L#&EBAERAE
ANNUAL REPORT 2019 —Z—hFF#H

83



84

Report of Directors

EEEHE

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Due to the outbreak of the COVID-19 in China, the
beginning of 2020 is a fluid and challenging situation
facing all the industries of the society. In amid the further
wide spread of COVID-19 worldwide in March 2020, the
uncertainty of global economy further increased. The
Group has already assessed the overall impacts of the
situation on the operation of the Group and taken all
possible effective measures to limit and keep the impacts in
control. The Group will continue to monitor the change of
situation and make timely response and adjustments in the
future.

The Group has issued financial guarantees to banks in
relation to the mortgages taken out by the buyers of the
Group's properties. The outbreak of the COVID-19 which
negatively affected the economy is expected to affect the
debtors’ ability of mortgage repayment and the decrease
in the market value of relevant properties may increase the
provision for the related financial guarantees. However,
the Directors have carefully considered that the impact of
such provision to be minimal. Subject to the development
of COVID-19 outbreak and the economy in the PRC, such
provision may or may not be required in the future.

Save as otherwise disclosed, the Group does not have any
material subsequent event after the reporting period and
up to the date of this annual report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge or its Directors
as at the date of this annual report, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float as required under the
Listing Rules.
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Subsequent to the date of the interim report of the
Company for the six months ended 30 June 2019:

The remuneration package of Mr. Liu Feng, the Chairman
and executive Director, have been adjusted upward to
HK$210,700 per month, with effect from 1 January 2020;

The remuneration package of Mr. Chen Xian, the vice-
chairman of the Company and executive Director, have
been adjusted upward to HK$182,700 per month, with
effect from 1 January 2020;

The remuneration package of Mr. Lau Sai Chung, the
Chief Executive Officer and executive Director, have been
adjusted upward to HK$164,800 per month, with effect
from 1 January 2020; and

The remuneration package of Mr. Liu Zhongxiang,
the executive Director, have been adjusted upward to
HK$76,000 per month, with effect from 1 January 2020.

AUDITOR

A resolution for the re-appointment of Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company will be proposed at
the forthcoming AGM.

On Behalf of the Board

Liu Feng
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B A REN R

Deloitte

TO THE MEMBERS OF
CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
PELEEEERRAF

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China Uptown Group Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 94 to 207, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2019, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
"HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.

Key audit matter

B AR E

RREEZER

REBRFINERHE  BREZSFBE/RMFTZAN
PRGN BERRTRRERZEH ZFFR)
REMBEZBES AP BRER JERK ML EN
BARETRE MAMIEHZFITRERES
MER -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BREREE MARERREREZEE
Revenue recognised from sale of properties MYEHERI 2 W H

We identified revenue recognised from sale of properties
as a key audit matter as it is significant to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and there is judgement involved
in determining the appropriate point at which to recognise
revenue from sales of properties.

MR EHERRZ WA H G BaRcBEZE IR
TR R HE WG 2 @S RS R AE - PSR
MEHEER 2 W BB REREZEIE -

The Group's revenue from sale of properties for the year
ended 31 December 2019 amounted to approximately
RMB755 million, representing approximately 94% of
the Group’s total revenue. As disclosed in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements, revenue from sale of
properties is recognised when the development of the
relevant properties have been completed and the control of
the completed property is transferred to the customer.
HE_Z-NF+A=+—RHILFE X EEEWXH
&2 Wam m# AR T755,000,0007T - 1 BEEEBKEL
94% - WINGR A B IS MR M ISR ER - WEHE 2 W
RERERBEBDEEETIMEZEHREEZETR
=

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognised from
sale of properties included:

BPEERYEHERAZBRZIETFEE:

e Obtaining an understanding and evaluating the
Group's internal control over the process of revenue
recognition of sale of properties; and

o THKFHE BEXEEBBENYMEHERAWRIEF
Z NERE T I

e Assessing whether the criteria for the delivery of
properties have been fulfilled by checking, on a
sample basis, to the terms of the sales and purchase
agreements, the relevant completion certificate for
construction work, as well as the delivery notices
issued by the Group to the buyers to assess whether
the control of properties is transferred to the buyers.

s RMBEEETHBRIVENRERSTEREESR
BEOGR ZETREAETKEEAL S5H
R EERHREECEETE I MAE S #
B S AS 3B AE K o
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B A REN R

Key audit matter

HEERER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

WARBEZTEEZER

Valuation of investment properties

We identified the valuation of investment properties as
a key audit matter due to significance of the balance
to the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
combined with significant judgements associated with
determining the fair value. As at 31 December 2019, the
Group's investment properties in People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC"”) amounted to RMB84,918,000. A loss
arising from fair value change on investment properties
of RMB4,044,000 was recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December
2019.

MR EVFEEREBRBGEEMBERRZEZE R HEE
EAREEBZERAG BMBREYME 2 HEZT
REARBEZFE- R_Z-AF+_A=+—RH &
EERFEARKNB (R ZKREVERSARE
84,918,000 B ZE T~ NEFE+T_RA=+—HILFE"
ERGAERRANERRENEZARNBETELZE
18 A #4,044,0007T

As disclosed in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements, these investment properties are stated at fair
value determined based on a valuation carried out by an
independent professional property valuer (the “Valuer”).
In determining the fair value of investment properties, the
Valuer has used direct comparison approach by making
reference to comparable sales evidences as available in
the relevant market to reflect current market conditions as
of the end of the reporting period. The key input used in
valuing the investment properties by the Valuer is market
observable transactions of similar properties in similar
conditions.

WINERE TS MR T 14PT IR - R EREME IR
SEEYEMER ([HERM])ETZHERMEEQAN
BIR -REEREMEZ AAER HEMEERAEE
LLEOEW 2 Z ™S E Al A2 Al LE B E E R - AR
HERESHRZI|WITHR - HEMERE Y FETHER
PRE AR 2 B A BB R B E R 2 5]

BRRZGe
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Our procedures in relation to valuation of investment
properties included:

BFEBRENEZHEIRRFEE:

e Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuer;
o FEMMERMZBERRE BEANMEEIE:

e Obtaining an understanding from the Valuer about
the valuation methodology, the performance of the
property markets, significant assumptions adopted,
critical judgemental areas on key inputs and data
used in the valuation; and

o THRMEEMMNMERE WEMSHRER  FEX
AHREREZE ABBNAEGEZBBEL
kA uasl) -1z ob: R d

e Assessing the accuracy of information provided by
the management to the Valuer by checking to the
sales prices of comparable properties, on a sample
basis.

o FEPMEARNBREAELRYE L EE  feMarlh
EREMEERMEHER 2 ERL -



Independent Auditor’s Report

Key audit matter

B AR E

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BREREE MAIREREEZEE
Valuation of properties held for sale BIEHEMEZHE

We identified the valuation of completed properties held
for sale (the “PFS”) as a key audit matter as it is significant
to the consolidated financial statements and significant
judgements are involved in the determination of the net
realisable value (the “NRV") of the PFS.
HRFIEREZCERYE (IRHELEMXR]) 2HEYH
FEVBBRCEZUERNEEFHIELHEMEZ AR
FE ([T BRRE ) P REARHE - R E BB R
FARESEE-

The Group's PFS of approximately RMB807 million are
situated in the PRC as at 31 December 2019 as disclosed
in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements. The
management of the Group determined the NRV of the PFS
with reference to the estimated market prices of the PFS
and valuation performed by the Valuer, which takes into
account a number of factors including the current market
prices of properties of a comparable standard and location.
RZE-NF+ZA=+—H EBEEEHARE
807,000,0007C Z Fi{EH E ML P B (B aNER & B 153,
KIFFF18FTIRER) - BEXEEEENGEZFEREZ (8
REHAIELBRERNUEZMEZENMME) R ER
EHEMEZ G ERAEMET 2 HEEEFEL
EMFEZFEIRFEE

Our procedures in relation to valuation of the PFS
included:

BMBERRBIFLENEZBEZRFEE:

e Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuer;
o MHEHEMZBAERE BOREEE:

e Obtaining an understanding from the Valuer about
the valuation methodology, the performance of the
property markets, significant assumptions adopted,
critical judgemental areas on key inputs and data
used in the valuation;

o MHEMTHRHERE MEMSKRE FKEAZ
BARR HEMRBZEIEZEGABNBEZEX
H T SRS

e Assessing the accuracy of information provided by
the management to the Valuer by comparing details
of existing lease agreement, on a sample basis; and

o FEMITMERELLRREHEOFE FEEEER
HEMPTIR M B 2 BT R

e Assessing the management'’s estimation of the NRV
of the PFS, on a sample basis, by comparing the
estimated selling prices of the PFS to the recent
market prices achieved in the same project or by
comparable properties, based on our knowledge
of the Group’s business and the PRC real estate
industry.

o RFMEELE BBH L FRHELEWERMGEEEM
[FI8 B sk Al L 8 W) 563 i e 35 B A% - AR IR F M
Y BREEXEBRTPBEMETENTH FEE
BEHRELEYR AR FENMGE -
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B A REN R

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged
with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group'’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

B AR E

BEEREARAEE ESBUBHRHmER-
BRBMBELGEMBRRAREZEE

BRWERRAERESRAVBHRRERBMERS
PEEBNIREFEER M EB 2 BAFH R - I
RERMANBEREGRENZRBRRELESR
HPER 2 B HE  BRib 2 SN RIEE AL B &Y -
AT ERAHEATEEMEMA LR Bk
EERNET-AEEEBSBRAZERE  ERES
BEMEAETCER TR MREREREN
TP 2 EASERRIR AL - #5 RRER A 7] R B R sk g8 AR 1
EL - mEREEESERMBER T EEM
ERBZFEAMBHRRFEL ZEERER  RIK
B RE R R -

RSB B A TR R Y
B - 3 OB (R OB TS P AR 4 S R AR - TP
DI

. Bl R FHE ARG R M B R A R
BHARFHEERERRM 2 R - =T R
TEZREFUEHZFRR A KLERE R
MBS ZEBRERE FREMERZER-
HREFFARES RER Bk BF2ER E
fERRR it 28 0% 8 YRR 2 B - Btk R RE 3
BRSFFEMEH 2z BRFERBRAN RS
R IRA R ME B 2 B A RERA A
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e RS S EES

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in @ manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

We also provide those charged with governance with
a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the
independent auditor’s report is Chan Tsz Wai.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

31 March 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

2019 2018
—E-hE —T-N\F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
Ry sk ARET T AREF T
Revenue W 5 804,898 90,251
Cost of sales SHER A (624,556) (74,627)
Gross profit EA 180,342 15,624
Other income Hip A 7 722 413
Fair value change on investment properties REME 7 AREEH 14 (4,044) (4,853)
Fair value change on financial asset at fair value BRANEANERZMBEEL
through profit or loss NI(EE 9) (6)
Selling and marketing expenses HENZHEER (5,331) (6,445)
Administrative expenses THER (31,618) (31,299)
Finance costs U TN 8 (1,101) (2,798)
Profit (loss) before taxation Biiprm A (EE) 138,961 (29,364)
Income tax expense FERHY 9 (54,603) (6,656)
Profit (loss) for the year FREFN (FHE) 10 84,358 (36,020)
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to: AT EIEERRT (E8)
Owners of the Company VIN/NECIEZ PN 74,184 (34,4617)
Non-controlling interests JEE R 10,174 (1,559)
84,358 (36,020)
Earnings (losses) per share (in RMB cents) FREA (BEB) (ARED) 13
- Basic —HK 4.07 (2.16)
- Diluted —#5E 4.07 (2.16)
94 CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED #EEBEEERAR
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
relEnkHMEERKER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #ZEZ - —NF+-_A=F+—HILFE

2019 2018
—g-nF —T)\F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®F R ARBTFT
Profit (loss) for the year FRaA (EE) 84,358 (36,020)
Other comprehensive income (expense) Hth 2 EUa (BX)
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: BT BEH P HEEm A -
Exchange differences arising on translation of ERee BRI REFEREEL
functional currency to presentation currency fE 5 =58 2,555 9,482
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to HEAEEG A EERm s HE -
profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on translation of EREBNER B RREE L
financial statements of foreign operations MER =5 (2,335) (11,802)
220 (2,320)
Total comprehensive income (expense) for the year  FR2E Uz (FX) B 84,578 (38,340)
Total comprehensive income (expense) attributable to: LA T~ 16 2 T 42 (50 ) 4% -
Owners of the Company RRBEEA 74,404 (36,781)
Non-controlling interests JEfE I R 10,174 (1,559)
84,578 (38,340)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e PRI TR

At 31 December 2019 R=ZE—hE+-_A=+—8

2019 2018
—E-hE ZZE-)N\F
NOTE RMB’000 RMB’000
e AR®TR ARETT
Non-current Assets FREBEE
Investment properties wEYE 14 84,918 88,962
Property, plant and equipment EN &L 15 18,373 19,051
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 16 1,573 -
104,864 108,013
Current Assets REEE
Inventories FE 17 22,742 -
Properties held for sale RIELEME 18 806,611 1,311,519
Deposits, other receivables and prepayments 24 - Efh el I8 R FERZRIE 19 118,864 10,875
Financial asset at fair value through BRARBEFABR s YKEE
profit or loss 12 21
Tax recoverable AT Y (B 7 IR 34,683 6,512
Restricted bank deposit BERBIRITFR 20 896 8,169
Pledged bank deposits B PIRITIFER 21 31,285 38,085
Bank balances and cash WITHEFERS 21 63,528 52,422
1,078,621 1,427,603
Current Liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables B 5 Rk H MR RIA 22 98,290 71,455
Contract liabilities BEHBEE 23 255,620 766,958
Loan payables FETE 24 14,389 33,225
Lease liabilities — current portion MEBGE-RBED 25 1,228 -
Amounts due to non-controlling interests  J& < FE 4% Il 14 4 25 3R 1B 26 15,994 -
Amount due to a director JENEERIA 33 3,139 2,862
Tax payable JET IR 63,489 -
Secured bank borrowings HILHIEITER 27 1,776 11,776
453,925 886,276
Net Current Assets REBEEFE 624,696 541,327
Total Assets Less Current Liabilities BREERARBAR 729,560 649,340
Non-current Liabilities FRBEE
Lease liabilities — non-current portion HMEBGE-EREBHD 25 384 -
Deferred tax liabilities FEBIBEE 28 40,599 55,841
40,983 55,841
Net Assets EEFE 688,577 593,499
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e PRI R

At 31 December 2019 R=—ZE—hE+=-A=+—H

2019 2018
—B-hAE —TN\F
NOTE RMB’000 RMB'000
ME AR®Tx ARBTET
Capital and Reserves ERREHE
Share capital % 7 29 161,569 161,569
Reserves f# 469,857 395,453
Equity attributable to owners of RNARHEE AEGER
the Company 631,426 557,022
Non-controlling interests FEIE I AE RS 57,151 36,477
Total Equity HESAE 688,577 593,499
The consolidated financial statements on pages 94 to 207 FIARE207E AW BHRENR_ZE_ZF =
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of A=+ —BEEETsHEREENE XHT
Directors on 31 March 2020 and are signed on its behalf NNEBERKEE
by:
Mr. Liu Feng Mr. Lau Sai Chung
Bkt 2t B &
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EFE EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity

LEREREHR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE —

FFE = H =4 HiE S

Attributable to owners of the Company

RARZRBAELES
Share Non-
Share Share  Translation options  Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve losses Sub-total interests Total
BiRE FEHM
R& R EE BERE e 2itEE Nt i a8
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETRT  ARETR ARETr ARETn ARETR ARETR  ARET:
At 1 January 2018 RZE-\5-F-H 136,015 567,100 (40,006) 5,481 (112,231) 556,359 38,036 594,395
Loss for the year EnEiE - - - - (34,461) (34,461) (1,559) (36,020)
Exchange differences arising on RpEhngs
translation of functional currency SHEBELZENES
to presentation currency - - 9,482 - - 9,482 - 9,482
Exchange differences arising on RAZENER 2 IBRE
translation of financial statements of ~ E£ZEHZE
foreign operations - - (11,802) - - (11,802) - (11,802)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FR2EFIX 28 = = (2,320) = (34.461) (36,781) (1,559 (38,340)
Issue of new shares (note 29) Bk (i20) 25,554 12,717 - - - 38,331 - 38331
Transaction costs attribute to the BONRARERARA
issue of new shares - (887) - - - (887) - (887)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-\ETZA=1-H 161,569 578,990 (42,326) 5,481 (146,692) 557,022 36,477 593,499
Proft for te yer ERET - - - - M Tl 101 843
Exchange differences arising on R EERERE|
translation of functional currency EREEZELEE
to presentation currency - - 2,555 - - 2,555 - 2,555
Exchange differences arising on RSB B B TR
translation of financial statements of ~ EE£ZEHZE
foreign operations - - (2.335) - - (2.335) - (2,335)
Total comprehensive income for the year ER2EREER - - 20 - 74,184 74,404 10,174 84,578
Capital injection by non-controllng ~~~ JEERRBR AR
shareholders upon establishment of 2 ENBAFEEE
a non-wholly owned subsidiary (BizE36)
(note 36) - - - - - - 10,500 10,500
At 31 December 2019 RZF-n%F+-A=1+-AH 161,569 578,990 (42,106) 5481 (72,508) 631,426 57,151 688,577
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GEHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #ZEZ - —NF+-_A=F+—HILFE

2019 2018
—®-nE —TN\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARS®TR ARBTET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES R SEE)
Profit (loss) before taxation BRi% A= A (E318) 138,961 (29,364)
Adjustments for: FAEIER
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M- BERREITE 961 949
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAEEERE 810 —
Fair value change on financial asset at fair value BAREFABRMBEEZ
through profit or loss NREE 9 6
Fair value change on investment properties WEWMEZ A AES 4,044 4,853
Finance costs B FS R AR 1,101 2,798
Interest income FEHKA (722) (413)
Operating cash flows before movements in LEERFHAICKEHERE
working capital 145,164 21,171)
Increase in inventories FEIEM (22,742) =
Decrease (increase) in properties held for sale BIEHEWER LD () 504,908 (916,659)
Decrease in properties under development e ER D - 750,413
(Increase) decrease in deposits, e EMERRIE KRB RIA
other receivables and prepayments () (107,547) 72,477
Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables B 5 K H Ath RS FRIEE A0 O ) 26,666 (48,612)
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities EHaE CRL)Em (511,338) 321,496
Cash generated from operations KREMBHRS 35,111 157,944
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") ERREAREME ([FE])
Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") paid EREH ([DEMER]) (6,753) (11,151)
PRC Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT") paid BT g B
(TR ER]) (27,774) (30,531)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETHAERSFR 584 116,262
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REED
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits M B EFRITER 23,187 18,325
Withdrawal of restricted bank deposit IREVB RS IRITIFE R 7,273 -
Interest received 2FE 515 413
Placement of pledged bank deposits FREERRITER (16,387) (43,502)
Payment for rental deposits X NHEE%RS (179) -
Placement of restricted bank deposit A RS R1T1F 5K - (154)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment WEWME HWEREE - (119)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) REFBHRE (FTA)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES HEFHE 14,409 (25,037)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

SEReRER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 = —F

FFE = H =4 HiE S

2019 2018
—E-hEF —N\&F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥BTr ARBTT

FINANCING ACTIVITIES mEEE
Advance from non-controlling interests FEFEHIE R B K 15,994 -
Capital injection by non-controlling FEERR IR SR A BX L

shareholders upon establishment of FEEMBARIRKIEER

a non-wholly owned subsidiary 10,500 -
New loan raised MEEZEX 3,111 23,478
Advance from a director —RZEEHBN 226 =
Repayment of loan EEBEX (22,537) (8,438)
Repayment of bank borrowings EEBIFEITER (10,058) (208,960)
Interest paid B F A (1,043) (9,139)
Repayment of lease liabilities, BEHERE

including lease interest BIEEENE (840) -
New bank borrowings raised MEE ZIRITERK = 100,546
Issue of new shares BITH D - 38,331
Expenses on issue shares BT E R = (887)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES RMETHARSER (4,647) (65,069)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERBSEEY2BMERE

EQUIVALENTS 10,346 26,156
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes fEXSE w8 760 (56)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS REDZEEREALEEY

AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 52,422 26,322
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERZEERASEEY

AT END OF THE YEAR,

represented by bank balances and cash HERBaRERITEFLRRS 63,528 52,422
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #ZEZ - —NF+-_A=F+—HILFE

1. GENERAL

China Uptown Group Company Limited (“the Company”)
is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability and its shares are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”). The addresses of
the registered office and principal place of business of
the Company are disclosed in the Corporate Information
section of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are principally engaged in property development
and investment as well as trading of raw cane sugar. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 36
to the consolidated financial statements.

1. —m&ER
tHEREEAR AT ([AAT]) TRHSRS
SRR R AERARRERGESSES
RSGHARAR ([EEBIF]) ER i AR
AZEMPEEREEL LI ERERDZ (D
FER | — B

RRABRBREER AR - ARF REWBAR (5
R IAEE]) TERENEERLREARRE
BES ETXEMNBRRZEBHN R MK HRER
Bi5E36 °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time in the
current year:

HKFRS 16 Leases
HK(IFRIC) — Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

Plan Amendment,
Curtailment or Settlement

Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint
Ventures

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRSs

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group's financial performance
and positions for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

HKFRS 16 Leases
The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in

the current year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 Leases
("HKAS 17"), and the related interpretations.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED +E t#HEEERAHE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #ZEZ - —NF+-_A=F+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)
Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply
HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified as
leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC) — Int 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease and not
apply this standard to contracts that were not previously
identified as containing a lease. Therefore, the Group has
not reassessed contracts which already existed prior to the
date of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1
January 2019, the Group applies the definition of a lease in
accordance with the requirements set out in HKFRS 16 in
assessing whether a contract contains a lease.

As a lessee

When applying the modified retrospective approach under
HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the following
practical expedients to leases previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17, on lease-by-lease basis, to
the extent relevant to the respective lease contracts:

i. elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities for leases with lease term ends within
12 months and low-value assets of the date of initial
application.

On transition, after considering the above practical
expedients, the Group is not required to make any
adjustments upon application of HKFRS 16 as there is no
material impact to the Group.

2. EAFTEEUBREER ([FEH
BHREER ) REERT (£)
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EREBAA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As a lessor

In accordance with the transitional provisions in HKFRS
16, the Group is not required to make any adjustment
on transition for leases in which the Group is a lessor but
account for these leases in accordance with HKFRS 16 from
the date of initial application and comparative information
has not been restated.

(a

Upon application of HKFRS 16, new lease contracts
entered into but commence after the date of initial
application relating to the same underlying assets
under existing lease contracts are accounted as
if the existing leases are modified as at 1 January
2019. The application has had no impact on the
Group's consolidated statement of financial position
at 1 January 2019. However, effective 1 January
2019, lease payments relating to the revised lease
term after modification are recognised as income on
straight-line basis over the extended lease term.

Before application of HKFRS 16, refundable rental
deposits received were considered as rights and
obligations under leases to which HKAS 17 applied.
Based on the definition of lease payments under
HKFRS 16, such deposits are not payments relating
to the right-of-use assets and were adjusted to
reflect the discounting effect at transition. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, the
discounting on such refundable rental deposits
received had no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements, thus no adjustment was made
as at 1 January 2019.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-_A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs and interpretations that have been
issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts'
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business?

Amendments to HKFRS 10  Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material*
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 9,  Interest Rate Benchmark
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Reform#

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021

2 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for
which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the
first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020

E Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs,
a revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
was issued in 2018. Its consequential amendments, the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
in HKFRS Standards, will be effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

Except as described below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of other new and
amendments to HKFRSs and interpretations will have no
material impact on the results and the financial position of
the Group in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of
Material

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of
material by including additional guidance and explanations
in making materiality judgments. In particular, the
amendments:

o include the concept of “obscuring” material
information in which the effect is similar to omitting
or misstating the information;

o replace threshold for materiality influencing users
from “could influence” to “could reasonably be
expected to influence”; and

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED +E t#HEEERAHE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-_A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of
Material (Continued)

o include the use of the phrase “primary users”
rather than simply referring to “users” which
was considered too broad when deciding what
information to disclose in the financial statements.

The amendments also align the definition across all HKFRSs
and will be mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual
period beginning on 1 January 2020. The application of
the amendments is not expected to have significant impact
on the financial position and performance of the Group
but may affect the presentation and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018
(the “New Framework”) and the Amendments to
References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS
Standards

The New Framework:
o reintroduces the terms stewardship and prudence;

o introduces a new asset definition that focuses on
rights and a new liability definition that is likely to
be broader than the definition it replaces, but does
not change the distinction between a liability and an
equity instrument;
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Continued)

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018
(the “New Framework”) and the Amendments to
References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS
Standards (Continued)

o discusses historical cost and current value measures,
and provides additional guidance on how to select a
measurement basis for a particular asset or liability;

o states that the primary measure of financial
performance is profit or loss, and that only in
exceptional circumstances other comprehensive
income will be used and only for income or
expenses that arise from a change in the current
value of an asset or liability; and

o discusses uncertainty, derecognition, unit of
account, the reporting entity and combined financial
statements.

Consequential amendments have been made so that
references in certain HKFRSs have been updated to the
New Framework, whilst some HKFRSs are still referred to
the previous versions of the framework. These amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2020, with earlier application permitted. Other
than specific standards which still refer to the previous
versions of the framework, the Group will rely on the
New Framework on its effective date in determining the
accounting policies especially for transactions, events or
conditions that are not otherwise dealt with under the
accounting standards.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #ZEZ - —NF+-_A=F+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for investment properties
and financial asset at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL"), which are measured at fair values at the end
of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 (since 1 January 2019) or HKAS 17 (before
application of HKFRS 16), and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
net realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or value in use in
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best
use or by selling it to another market participant that would
use the asset in its highest and best use.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 = —F

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control listed
above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z=_—%

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their holders
to a proportionate share of net assets of the relevant
subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance
as the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #ZEZ - —NF+-_A=F+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from sales of properties

For revenue from sales of properties, revenue is recognised
at a point in time when control of completed property is
transferred to the customer, being at the point that the
customer obtains the physical possession or the legal title
of the completed property and the Group has present
right to payment and the collection of the consideration is
probable.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts
the promised amount of consideration for the effects of
the time value of money if the timing of payments agreed
(either explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the
Group with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of
goods or services to the customer. In those circumstances,
the contract contains a significant financing component.
A significant financing component may exist regardless of
whether the promise of financing is explicitly stated in the
contract or implied by the payment terms agreed to by the
parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and
transfer of the associated goods or services is less than
one year, the Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the transaction price for any significant financing
component.

Revenue from trading of raw cane sugar

Revenue from the sale of raw cane sugar is recognised
at a point of time when the Group delivers the raw cane
sugar to the customer where its performance obligation is
satisfied and the customer obtains control of the raw cane
sugar.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from sales of properties (Continued)
Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether the
nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide
the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a
principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be
provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service by
another party. In this case, the Group does not control the
specified good or service provided by another party before
that good or service is transferred to the customer. When
the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the
amount of any fee or commission to which it expects to be
entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified goods
or services to be provided by the other party.

The Group's accounting policy for recognition of revenue
from operating leases is described in the accounting policy
for leasing below.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #ZEZ - —NF+-_A=F+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Ownership interests in leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is
accounted for as an operating lease is presented as “right-
of-use assets” (upon application of HKFRS 16) or “prepaid
lease payments” (before application of HKFRS 16) in
the consolidated statement of financial position. When
the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between
non-lease building element and undivided interest in
the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are
classified as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-
in, first-out method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

3. EESERE@A)

M BERRE(E)
REBL MR EFHITEE R

EARKERRMEN A EER (BRHEEL R
BFKD) N3 2R EREE L RETFTK
» 2 BRI ERFORS QR R EN LA DR -

AR IRRE R FE D B - RIARR 2 HESIRRNEE
THBRNGEEMBMRKRTINR EREEE]
(REAEEYBRELE16571R) 3 [FANEE
A (RERBBHHHREERF165%AT) - R
EELEMBHET N IFREETRD LRD
BEm s HA DR BEVMESBASYE B
Gk

PFEDRBEREAMBEEERARE G A E
REMzRBREBEER -G ERFH NKRE
BRFTETEN S HRER R MAEA G E
MR ERTAHEE AR -

M- WEMREEE DR HE RN FARFERS
ZEBEEBTGEERRLBENERFIUEHER - L&
HFILER—BME BELREBREEZEBRT
BRHEMSRAREERAEZEZEAE ANE

i

TS AR R ] B 2 BE & AR - R A
oS NI R I E - U B R E DR R 2 S
BN E R E 2 AR ST
PAEH o

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED #El L#&EBAERAE
ANNUAL REPORT 2019 —Z—hFF#H

115



116

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Properties under development and properties held for
sale

Properties under development which are intended to be
sold upon completion of development and properties
for sale are classified as current assets. Except for the
leasehold land element which is measured at cost model
in accordance with the accounting policies of right-of-
use assets upon the application of HKFRS 16, properties
under development/properties for sale are carried at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined
on a specific identification basis including allocation of
the related development expenditure incurred and where
appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for the
properties less estimated cost to completion and costs
necessary to make the sales.

Properties under development for sale are transferred to
properties for sale upon completion.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties, including
those held for sale, are measured at fair value, adjusted to
exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease income.
All of the Group’s property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation
purposes are classified and accounted for as investment
properties and are measured using the fair value model.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the property (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset)
is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #ZEZ - —NF+-_A=F+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases
Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS 16)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component.

Short-term lease and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of warehouse that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16)
(Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group

in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-
use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #ZEZ - —NF+-_A=F+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16)
(Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9") and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease
is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as
at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16)
(Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review/
expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an

amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.
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e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #ZEZ - —NF+-_A=F+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16)
(Continued)

Lease modifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components.

The Group as lessee (prior 1 January 2019)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring
land held under operating leases, are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Lease incentives relating to operating leases are considered
as integral part of lease payments, the aggregate benefit of
incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on
a straight-line basis.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset. Other than investment
properties measured under fair value model, such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Rental income which are derived from the Group's ordinary
course of business is presented as revenue.

The Group as a lessor (upon application of HKFRS 16)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease
components. Non-lease components are separated from
lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone
selling prices.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #ZEZ - —NF+-_A=F+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (upon application of HKFRS 16)
(Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating
lease as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the original lease as part of the lease
payments for the new lease.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Effective 1 January 2019, any specific borrowing that
remain outstanding after the related asset is ready
for its intended use or sale is included in the general
borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on
general borrowings. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised and included in
finance costs in profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) and state-managed retirement benefit
schemes are recognised as expenses or capitalised in
properties held for sale/properties under development,
where appropriate, when employees have rendered services
entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at fair value
of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of services received determined by reference
to the fair value of share options granted at the grant
date is recognised as an expense in full at the grant date
when the share options granted vest immediately, with a
corresponding increase in share options reserve.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #ZEZ - —NF+-_A=F+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from “profit (loss) before
taxation” as reported in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from initial recognition of goodwill or
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there
will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxes for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are
presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when
the investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #ZEZ - —NF+-_A=F+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to the leasing transaction
as a whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis.
Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets over the
lease payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities
resulting in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same entity by the same taxation authority
and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the
tax effect is included in the accounting for the business
combination.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong
dollar ("HK$") while the consolidated financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (“RMB"”) for consistent
presentation as prior years.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z=_—%

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instruments. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at
FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to

cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application of
HKFRS 9/initial recognition of a financial asset the Group
may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in
fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.
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3.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z=_—%

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised
cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates
or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired. For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as at FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The
net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes
any dividend earned on the financial asset.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including other receivables, restricted bank deposit,
pledged bank deposits and bank balances). The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments are
done based on the Group's historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.
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3.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z=_—%

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For all instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEgEE#)
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) HMEIA (&)

Financial assets (Continued) HBEE (&)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) BBEEERE (&)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) (i) SERR ARG I (&)
In particular, the following information is taken into Afem
account when assessing whether credit risk has REEBNUATER:

increased significantly:

5 RiHEEERRES D AEEM

an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument'’s
external (if available) or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor; or

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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3.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z=_—%

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EESBX(&)
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) HMEIA (&)

Financial assets (Continued) HBEE (&)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) BBEEERE (&)

(i)  Credit-impaired financial assets (iii) EHREERENMBEEE
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or MBEEE—BRZHEENSEMH (HZIEMN
more events that have a detrimental impact on the BEENGGTRRRESREBR TN TLE)
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset BEAEREREERE MBEELEEER
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is EBENBBEREEE NI EHRNTEREE

credit impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or (@  BOTEIBRITBAEARVBRE:
the borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or by EBREL HlUHEKSBmERE M
past due event;

() the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic (0 EBFFNERFREBBEERFTBR
or contractual reasons relating to the MBI EHNERMRAEBRGHR T
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted ERFEEMBELT TG EENE
to the borrower a concession(s) that the =

lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower d) EFRFBEAERESRREMES
will enter bankruptcy or other financial B 5k
reorganisation; or

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for () ZIBHKEENERTISHE MR
that financial asset because of financial [ID=ES
difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #ZEZ - —NF+-_A=F+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is
in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings or in
case of other receivables, when the amounts are
past due, whichever occurs earlier. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms
of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly,
the expected losses is the present value of the
expected payments to reimburse the holder for a
credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the
Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor
or any other party.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss
allowances are recognised at the higher of the
amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and the amount initially
recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative
amount of income recognised over the guarantee
period.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED +E t#HEEERAHE
ANNUAL REPORT 2019 —Z—hFFH

3.

EEETEE @)

MBITA(E)

MHEEE (&)

HEEENRE (&)

(v)

BHEEBR A ERER (&)

R BEREOMS  AREEFTREBA
ERERXBGERZBER TEL AR
o RHERARMERBEARMELEZEE
BENAMMNFERE MRAKEEHA R
BAEBASAE A EMA T HEE AR
I8 o

MBWARM B EENEREERE - FRIF
MBEERREERE EZBELT FE
WATHR I 5 E ER B AT -

AP BERESOME  BEEEARER
MBREEAEIREENBERECRE
MEERN TR (WER) R E R AR #E
RO RABA SN D ERER

BREATSHEIR G H0ON  REBAE R BT A M
TAMEHENERPRILMEKREIE

e



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #ZEZ - —NF+-_A=F+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
loan payables, amount due to a director and secured bank
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 = —F

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payments when due in accordance with the terms
of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract liabilities
are measured initially at their fair values. It is subsequently
measured at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

o the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
over the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #ZEZ - —NF+-_A=F+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually when
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication
that corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication
exists, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or cash-generating unit) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss. For corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-
generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount
of a group of cash-generating units, including the carrying
amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units,
with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash
generating unit or a group of cash generating units) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-_A=+—HILFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the directors are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those
involving estimations, that the directors have been in
the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
and that has the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 = —F

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
arising from investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model, the directors have reviewed the
Group's investment property portfolios and concluded that
the Group's investment properties are not held under a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time. Therefore, in measuring the Group’s
deferred taxation on investment properties, the directors
have determined that the presumption that the carrying
amounts of investment properties measured using the
fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is not
rebutted. The Group’s investment properties are situated
in the PRC and the deferred taxes on changes in fair
value of investment properties are recognised taking into
account PRC LAT and PRC EIT payable upon sales of those
investment properties.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that may have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #ZEZ - —NF+-_A=F+—HILFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on
the valuations performed by an independent professional
property valuer.

In determining the fair value of the Group’s investment
properties which are situated in the PRC, the valuer has
used direct comparison approach by making reference to
comparable sales evidences as available in the relevant
market to reflect current market conditions as of the end of
the reporting period.

In relying on the valuation report, the directors have
exercised their judgements and are satisfied that the
methods of valuations are reflective of the current market
conditions. Note 14 provides detailed information about
the valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions
used in the determination of the fair value of investment
properties.

PRC LAT

The Group is subject to PRC LAT in the PRC. The
provision of the PRC LAT is based on the management’s
best estimates according to the understanding of the
requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and
regulations. The actual PRC LAT liabilities are subject to the
determination by the tax authorities upon the completion
of the property development projects. The Group has not
finalised its PRC LAT calculation with the tax authorities for
its property development projects. The final outcome could
be different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
and these differences will impact the income tax expense
and the related income tax provisions in the period in which
such tax is finalised with local tax authorities.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimated net realisable value of properties held for
sale

The management of the Group determines the net
realisable value of properties held for sale by using
prevailing market data such as most recent sales
transactions and internal estimates of cost based on quotes
from contractors. These estimates require judgement as
to the anticipated sale prices by reference to the valuation
performed by an independent professional property
valuer and recent sales transactions in nearby locations,
rate of new property sales, marketing costs (including
price discounts required to stimulate sales), the legal and
regulatory framework and general market conditions. If the
actual net realisable value of properties held for sale is less
than expected as a result of changes in market conditions,
material provision for impairment losses may result. At 31
December 2019, the carrying amount of properties held for
sale was RMB806,611,000 (2018: RMB1,311,519,000). No
impairment has been provided for both years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-_A=+—HILFE

REVENUE

0)

Disaggregation of revenue from
contracts with customers

An analysis of the Group's revenue arising

5. W=
(i) EFEFAHNWEDF

AEBEFAXREFBEREBZRED

from the PRC and Hong Kong for the year is IR NS
as follows:
2019 2018
ZE-RAF —F)N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBTT
Arising from the PRC =k
Sales of properties MEHEE
— a point in time —RF B, 754,819 88,324
Rental income e WA 1,668 1,927
Arising from Hong Kong 8 EE
Trading of raw cane sugar RERES
— a point in time —RF B, 48,411 -
804,898 90,251
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

5.

REVENUE (Continued)

(i)

Performance obligations for contracts
with customers

(a)

For contracts entered into with
customers on sales of properties, the
relevant properties specified in the
contracts are based on standardised
specifications with no alternative
use. Taking into consideration of
the relevant contract terms, the
legal environment and relevant legal
precedents, the Group concluded
that the Group does not have an
enforceable right to payment prior
to transfer of control of the relevant
properties to customers. Revenue
from sales of properties is therefore
recognised at a point in time when
the development of the relevant
properties have been completed and
the properties have been delivered to
the purchasers pursuant to the sale
and purchase agreements.

In general, the Group receives 30%
of the contract value as receipt in
advance from customers when they
sign the sale and purchase agreement
and remaining 70% of the contract
value would be received through the
banks by releasing the mortgages to
the customers in two to three months
after the agreement signing date.
Such advance payment schemes result
in contract liabilities being recognised
throughout the property construction
period for the full amount of the
contract price.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED +E t#HEEERAHE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-_A=+—HILFE

REVENUE (Continued) 5. Wi (#)
(i)  Performance obligations for contracts (i) FEEGHZBHNEE (&)

with customers (Continued)

(b)  For trading of raw cane sugar to third b) BMEE=FFFIREREZES
party customers, revenue is recognised s W EmiEH EEE
when control of the goods has been B (AIEPERISE mEGIER
transferred, being at the point the FrBh) iR - RS EBERHESL
customer obtains the control of the 10 7E B BB BRI A+ o
goods. Payment of the transaction
price is due according to the payment
terms agreed on the sales contracts.

(iii)  Transaction price allocated to the (i) PTEEFFAHNZBTEHNEENX
remaining performance obligation for ZE

contracts with customers

R_E—NEFE+_A=+—8 oK

The transaction price allocated to the ERTERABEANRFHE (REEK

remaining performance obligations o REE) & T8 H MR Woas e fE 10

(unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 N

December 2019 and the expected timing of

recognising revenue are as follows:

2019 2018
—B-hAE —TN\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRT ARBTT

Within one year R—FR

— Sales of properties — e 235,620 766,958

— Trading of raw cane sugar —FREEZES5 27,116 _

262,736 766,958
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ERAR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 = —F

5. REVENUE (Continued)

(iv) Leases

FFE = H =4 HiE S

(iv)y #HE

2019 2018

—E-hAF ZFTN\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR AR%TET

For operating leases with respect to A EMHENKLSTHE -

investment properties:

Lease payments that are fixed EEMAEMRK 1,668 1,927

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group determines its operating segments based on
internal reports about components of the Group that are
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker
(i.e. the executive directors of the Company) (the “CODM")
in order to allocate resources to the segments and assess
their performance.

The Group’s operating segments under HKFRS 8 Operating
Segments are identified as the follows:

o Property development and investment: this segment
primarily develops and sells office premises,
commercial and residential properties and car
parking spaces. This segment also generates rental
income from investment properties and achieves
gain from the appreciation in the properties’ values
in the long term. All the Group’s activities in this
segment are carried out in the PRC.

o Trading of raw cane sugar: this segment trades raw
cane sugar on a worldwide basis.

Property development and investment and trading of raw
cane sugar also represent the Group's reportable segments.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED ELEEEARAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2019 —Z—hFFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R M EE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—-F

(a) Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and

results by operating and reportable segment.

For the year ended 31 December 2019

6.
(a)

DEER (&)
2 BB R 4R

AEEWS R RBEZDITIREE

SR

—NF+-A=1T—HLFE

AR EDEZ

BE_Z-NF+-A=t—-HLHEFE

Property
development Trading of
and investment raw cane sugar Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARETR AR¥TR
Revenue Yz 756,487 48,411 804,898
Segment profit pal gl 155,459 947 156,406
Bank interest income HITH BIA 515
Fair value change on financial asset at FVTPL AR BIIABRZHBEEZ
AREE (9
Finance costs BBAA (1,101)
Unallocated corporate expenses ROBEDARX (16,850)
Profit before taxation BR 4 AL A 138,961
For the year ended 31 December 2018 BE-ZT-N\F+_A=+—RHLHFE
Property
development Trading of
and investment  raw cane sugar Total
MEFRRRE M@t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETTT
Revenue Uz 90,251 - 90,251
Segment loss AHEE (9,043) (2,486) (11,529)
Bank interest income HATH BIA 413
Fair value change on financial asset at FVTPL B ARBIIABRZHBEEZ
AREE (6)
Finance costs BBAA (2,798)
Unallocated corporate expenses ROBEDARX (15,444)
Loss before taxation PR AT (29,364)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ERAR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 = —F

FFE = H =4 HiE S

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DIWER (&)
(@) Segment revenues and results (Continued) () PHURZREE(E)
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the KREDEZ @R B3 A R E g 5T R

same as the Group's accounting policies described in note

3. Segment profit/loss represents the profit/loss of each )\ A

segment without allocation of bank interest income, fair
value change on financial asset at FVTPL, certain finance
costs and unallocated corporate expenses (i.e. central

administration costs and directors’ emoluments). This is
the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of

resource allocation and performance assessment.

(b) Segment assets and liabilities

(b)

:Fﬁﬁ%ﬁfc$&ﬁi
LREEME) Zm?l/ﬁﬁ?ﬁwtﬂ#&i%zﬁﬂ“
REERNE RSB R EEN AN

THEERAER

HHE 2 H /ﬁﬁ' S EEEE D BARSRRTH S
mZEﬁkéf?Z

REEE-

NEIRAX (AP RITHRER

The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and REBEERBBZOMERERKEDEZT
liabilities by reportable and operating segment: LU
2019 2018
=E2E-NF ZT)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT AREFTTT
Segment assets DEEE
— Property development and investment — W EER &Ti;éf 1,094,298 1,517,442
— Trading of raw cane sugar —REREE 68,898 -
Unallocated corporate assets b el @Eﬁ:%éF
— Financial asset at FVTPL —RAREFAER 12 21
— Bank balances and cash —RITEFRRE 1,372 1,376
— Others —HAth 18,905 16,777
Consolidated total assets REBEEBE 1,183,485 1,535,616
Segment liabilities DEEE
— Property development and investment — R &Tﬁﬁ (397,994) (891,357)
— Trading of raw cane sugar — RS (76,135)
Unallocated corporate liabilities K5 @Eﬂ:%ﬁﬁ\
— Loan payables —ENER (11,277) (33,225)
— Amount due to a director —ENESEHE (3,139) (2,862)
— Secured bank borrowings —BEFERETER (1,776) (11,776)
— Others —Eﬂﬁ (4,587) (2,897)
Consolidated total liabilities ABERE (494,908) (942,117)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-_A=+—HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

all assets are allocated to segments assets other than
certain deposits, other receivables and prepayments,
financial asset at FVTPL, certain bank balances and
cash and certain other assets; and

all liabilities are allocated to segments liabilities other
than certain other payables, loan payables, amount
due to a director, secured bank borrowings and
certain other liabilities.

6. HEHR (&)
(b) SBEEREME(E)

REEDE 2 R D BMRBEM D EERE R :

. BETRE EMEWHIENRFAENRIE %
ARAEFABREZHMBEE FTRITET
RREANETEMEEIN FREEEHTD
REDBEE: &

. BETHMENRER BNER BNES
R FHEMRITERLETEMBAGEN
FEREANTKEEDHAE:.

(c)  Other segment information (0 HttpHEs
2019 —EB-_hE
Property Trading
development of raw
and investment canesugar  Unallocated  Consolidated
NERRRRE RERES AR =iid
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR  AR%TR AR®Tn  AR%Txn
Amounts included in the measure of SELRHER RS HEERETAL
segment profit or loss or segment assets: B -
Fair value change on investment properties &M%z AR EE 4,044 - - 4,044
Finance costs B - - 1,011 1,01
Depreciation of property, nE BERRERE
plant and equipment 514 - 447 961
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERE 793 - 17 810
Amounts reqularly provided to the R+ S ERFEEMETIA
CODM but not included in the SIER S BB RS HEERFE
measure of segment profit or loss or
segment assets:
Fair value change on financial asset at VTPL  BAREHABRZIBEEL
RAEE - - 9 9
Bank interest income FITH BB (305) - (210) (515)
Other interest income LR SEON = (194) (13) (207)
Income tax expense FERAX 54,603 - - 54,603
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ERAR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 = —F

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(c) Other segment information (Continued)

FFE = H =4 HiE S

6. ZHWESR (&)

(0 EHftoBER (&)

2018 —\%
Property Trading
development of raw
and investment cane sugar Unallocated  Consolidated
NEERERE  RERES S aft
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETRT  ARETRT  ARETR
Amounts included in the measure of GBS BEm 3 "?ﬂﬁéﬂ%
segment profit or loss or segment assets:  BitAZHE
Additions to property, plant and equipment ~ RE % T%& 119 - - 119
Fair value change on investment properties &M ¥ AR ELH 4,853 - - 4,853
Finance costs PR A = = 2,798 2,798
Depreciation of property, nE BERRERE
plant and equipment 395 - 554 949
Amounts reqularly provided to the CODM — EH+ ZME &% %%
but not included in the measure of RRHRATHANE f}ﬁ
segment profit or loss or segment assets: Bz A7 HEEMFNE
Fair value change on financial asset at FVTPL KA ERH AR ﬁﬁZW%ﬁFZ
NREED - - 6 6
Bank interest income RATHEBA (407) - (6) (413)
Income tax expense FTEmEY 6,656 - - 6,656
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-_A=+—HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. THEHR (&)

(d) Geographical information (d HHEER

For the year ended 31 December 2019, 100% (2018: BEZE—NF+_A=1+—"HLFE BAREKE
100%) of the Group's revenue and assets were derived B100% (ZZ—/\F : 100%)REETF REE LW
from customers and operations based in the PRC including mREEHURTE (BEEE) (RAEEKE
Hong Kong (by country of domicile) and accordingly, no 7)) B EE S IRBEARRE 2 HIEER DT -
further analysis of the Group’s geographical information is

disclosed.

(e) Information about major customers e) EEEFESR

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years REEFEREHAEERKRZTRIERI0%H
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group ERZWEIT:

are as follows:

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT ARBTT
Customer A (Note) ZPA (FEE) - 42,465
Note: Amount represented revenue generated from sales of Mist: ZeWEERTPETVEREEEZWEERZE
properties to this customer and this customer did not FPREZE-_ZE—NF+A=T—HLFELESL
contribute any revenue of the Group in the year ended 31 & B H R s o
December 2019.
7. OTHER INCOME 7. Hg A
2019 2018
—E-nFE ZT)\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTFRT AR®EFTTT
Bank interest income RITA B A 515 413
Other interest income H A B A 207 -
722 413

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED #El L#&EBAERAE 1 55
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e PR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. BB
2019 2018
—E-hE ZZT-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥BTR AR®TT
Interest expenses on MEFX:
— bank borrowings —RITER 514 6,826
— loan payable — BN 529 1,097
— lease liabilities —HERRE 58 -
— contract liabilities —BHaE — 1,216
Total borrowing costs BB 1,101 9,139
Less: Amount capitalised in properties B ERMENENMEEHE
under development - (6,341)
1,101 2,798

Borrowing costs capitalised during

December 2018 arose from the general borrowing pool
and are calculated by applying a capitalisation rate of

the year ended 31

4.31% to expenditure on properties under development.

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

9. FMBHEX

B AR B — B
BERLE R431%HETHE -

REBE_Z-/\F+_A=+—RHLFE BXt

M WHERYERSE

2019 2018
—E-AEFE —T)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR¥TIT
Current tax BIEATR I8
PRC EIT PRI RS 49,449 6,825
PRC LAT B+ I (E R 20,396 7,426
69,845 14,251
Deferred taxation (note 28) EEFLIE (KI5E28)
Current year REE (15,242) (7,595)
54,603 6,656
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #ZEZ - —NF+-_A=F+—HILFE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profits for both years. No provision
for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for the year
ended 31 December 2018 as the Group's income neither
arises in, nor is derived from, Hong Kong. No provision for
Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for the year ended
31 December 2019 as the Group's assessable profits were
wholly absorbed by tax losses brought forward.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the "“EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulations of the EIT Law, the tax rate of
the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

The provision of PRC LAT is estimated according to the
requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and
regulations. PRC LAT has been provided at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land
value, with certain allowable exemptions and deductions.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the
PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred
taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of temporary differences
attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries
as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

9. FEHAX#)

RREFEZEBMERIVIRGHTERFGEHNZ
16.5%rt E - AN AEEZ AW BB BEEN
BRAFS WHEZE-_ZT—)/\F+-_A=1+—H8H1t
FEWELTEFNESHIELEE AR AEBER
MafmAENEBEE 8RS WEE=Z— 1
F+-A=+—RALFEVERESFNEHEL
B -

REBTFBECEMEVE (TREMRBIE]) REX
FRS TR E M IRD] - R EFE A - - B8 AR
MR R 19 325% °

PRI ERBEERRA BT EBER MR
MFTE 2 RE L AT - PR LHIBER D sl
IEEB{EIR30% E60% R R F LB A (K%
B TR e E R SR ) ©

REFBECERMAERE A-FTT/\F—AF—H
A - B BT B X B ZR st LR AR 2 0 M P B R 2 AL
BANTEIORL - 47 & B 75 R X R 3L A BB /8 2 m] R
A5 Bz B ERELRLEHR AR - $IEA AR
SEE IR B TR EE 2 RRE MEREREA
RE T &N R TE R A5 A [al -
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e MR ERAR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 = —F

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit
(loss) before taxation per the consolidated statement of

profit or loss as follows:

FFE = H =4 HiE S

9. FEHAX#)

(B1R) 2 HERWT

REARZHIARX BFEBER DR

2019 2018

—E-hE —ET—N\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARS®TR ARBTET

Profit (loss) before taxation B AR A (EE) 138,961 (29,364)

Tax calculated at applicable tax rates (Note) RERBETE 2 BE (M) 36,993 (4,358)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax TAHBAS RGBT E

purpose 2,462 5,362

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose  FEFRFI WA Z FiiE 2 & - )

Provision of PRC LAT for the year A B £ b 1 (B T R 20,396 7,426
Tax effect of PRC LAT deductible for PRC EIT At Bt EAFRIR

LIS EN 2 M E (5,099) (1,856)

Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised &) Fi B 1 R #ER 2 Fi BB 18 (149) -

Others Hib - 83

Income tax expense e fiA > 54,603 6,656

Note: The weighted average applicable tax rate is 26.62% (2018: Misk: MEFHBERARER26.62% (=T — \F:

14.84%).

14.84% ) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-_A=+—HILFE

10. PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

Profit (loss) for the year has been arrived at after charging:

10.

Frmd (ER)
FREF] (B518) B MBR AT SR

2019 2018
—E-nF —T-\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR%TT
Directors’ remuneration (note 11a) BEHI (MizE11a) 7,946 7,128
Other staff costs H 8 TR 4,920 4,089
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RRRR A G BB TK 774 609
13,640 11,826
Auditor’s remuneration % SR EM BN 4 1,190 1,083
Cost of properties held for sale recognised BRAERY NFBIELEWMERN (5T
as expenses (included in cost of sales) ANHERA) 578,228 74,627
Cost of raw cane sugar recognised as expenses TR AR X MR B FER A (5T A
(included in cost of sales) ERA) 46,328 -
Net foreign exchange gain b X s 5E (12) 69
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME WEREZEBITE 961 949
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAEEENE 810 -
Operating lease rentals in respect of equipment  REZ K ELHER S - 29
Expense related to a short-term lease A EEER 20 -
Expense related to lease of a low-value asset REEEEHEHEBRX 6 -
11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 11. EE - FETHRAEREEMS
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS
(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (@) EZERIETHAEME

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the seven
(2018: eight) directors and the chief executive were as

ERSERALU(ZE-N\F: (DEERETE
TBABENZMEMT

follows:
Executive directors Independent non-executive directors
BiTES BUFHTES
Mr.POON  Mr. CHAR
Mr. Mr. LAU Mr. LIU Mr. LIU Lai Yin,  Shik Ngor, Ms. LI
CHEN Xian  Sai Chung Feng Zhongxiang Michael ~ Stephen Jiansheng Total
REXE HtREE  AnSE HRMEE BREAE THERKE FERELL @t
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTrn ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARET:R
(note v) (note iv)
GED) (GEDD
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZ-E-N&
TZAST-HLEEE
Directors' fees £ Yika - - - - 159 159 159 477
Salaries and allowances Fe RS 1,930 1,741 2,225 802 - - - 6,698
Discretionary bonus =gz 161 145 186 67 - - - 559
2,091 1,886 2,411 869 159 159 159 1,734
Retirement benefits scheme contributions R kg 75t &4 3% 53 53 53 53 - - - 212
Total Eh 2,144 1,939 2,464 922 159 159 159 7,946
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 11. EE - FETHRAEREEHS
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued) (4

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments () EBRFETBAEME (&)

(Continued)
Executive directors Independent non-executive directors
HES BUFNTES
Mr.POON  Mr. CHAR
Mr. CHEN Mr. LAU Mr. Mr. LIU Ms. LaiYin,  Shik Ngor, Ms. LI
Xan  SaiChung  LIUFeng Zhongiang  XIADan Michael Stephen Jiansheng Total
BERE HtREE  HBEE YBHLE XDkt EEERE BHAKE TRELL &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARSTR ARETR ARETT ARSTR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETZ ARET:R
(note v) (note i)
(Mtv) (s )
For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ-F-N\F
TZR=t-RALEE
Directors' fees vk - - - - - 152 152 152 456
Salaries and allowances HeREM 1,848 1,667 2,131 768 50 - - - 6,464
1,848 1,667 2,131 768 50 152 152 152 6,920

Retirement benefits scheme contributions &R 5H 21430 51 51 51 51 4 - = = 208

Total 5 1,899 1,718 2,182 819 54 152 152 152 7,128

Notes: B3

0} The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for @ EXFTRBITES 2 e T R ERARA R RS
their services in connection with the management of the BErEBEERGEBR  EXRBUIERITES
affairs of the Company and the Group. The independent non- ZHe T REEREEARRREST ZREER-
executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services as directors of the Company.

(ii) The discretionary bonus is determined with reference to (ii) ZINERANE2ERE T NF+_A=1—
the prevailing market conditions, corporate and individual BELFE2RITMA CEREABEREXEM
responsibility and performance during the year ended 31 BE(ZZ—N\F:8|&)-

December 2019 (2018: Nil).

(iii) Ms. Xia Dan resigned as an executive director of the Company (iii) XiaDanZ TR =ZZE—NF—A=1+—HEHEART]
on 31 January 2018. HiTES-

(iv) Ms. Li Jiangsheng resigned as an independent non-executive (iv) FEREXITHN T TF-A=ZHBHFEARAEL
director of the Company on 3 January 2020. FEITEE -

(v) Mr. Lau Sai Chung is also the chief executive of the Company (v) BB EETARRTITHAH - LA L E 2 B

(vi)

and his emoluments disclosed above include those for services
rendered by him as the chief executive.

Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments paid by the Group during
the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-_A=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 1. ES FETHRAEREEM=

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued) (#%&)
(b) Employees’ emoluments (b) EEMS
Of the five individuals with highest emoluments in the AEERESEaMEeERNALF O (ZFE-N\
Group, four (2018: four) were directors and the chief FNRZ)BARRZEERTETHRAR HEZ
executive of the Company whose emoluments are set out MeEE R EXS&E -Fr—% (ZF—\F:—%&)
above. The emoluments of the remaining one (2018: one) ERIALTZMEmT :

individual were as follows:

2019 2018
—B-hE —T-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTRT AR®EFTTT
Salaries and allowances e KERL 967 926
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RIRBFIET SR 53 51
Discretionary bonus I IEAT 81 -
1,101 977
Emoluments of the five individuals with highest hEsEaMEENALT (BEES) 2N TR
emoluments including directors were within the following TEER :
bands:
Number of individuals
(including directors and
chief executive)
ETHE (BEEER
FETHAE)
2019 2018
—E-hE —ZT)\F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 7% #1,000,0007T - 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 75 #1,000,001T &
78 #1,500,0007T 2 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 75 11,500,001 T &
78 #2,000,0007T - -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 7512 .000,001TE
75 #2,500,0007T 2 2
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 7B#52 500,001 T2
76 #£3,000,0007T 1 1
5 5
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS'’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(c) No emolument have been paid by the Group to the
directors and the chief executive of the Company or
the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation
for loss of office during the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018.

12. DIVIDEND

No dividends were declared and proposed by the Company
during the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018,
nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the
reporting period.

13. EARNINGS (LOSSES) PER SHARE

The calculations of the basic and dilutive earnings (losses)
per share attributable to owners of the Company is based
on the following data:

11. E%ﬁigﬁﬁAE&EEMQ
(&

(0 BE_FT-NAFE-_FT-N\F+_A=1+—
BLESE AEERERARREENTE
TRABSHAZRSMEERALNEE
ERREIMMARIMARE B 2 B HIER
BERm(E

12. RE

REE-T-NFER-_ZT-NFt+-A=t—8H
LHFE ARBMES K EER MRS X8R
HHIRE T EBURE RIS

13. BRER (F#E)

ARBEEANEBIEBRERAREERR (BE) TS
RIBATBEE

2019 2018
—E-hE —ZT—)\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR%TT
Earnings (losses) BR (FE)
Earnings (losses) for the purposes of basic and A EERERREERN (BE)
diluted earnings (losses) per share il & .2 &5 (E18)
— profit (loss) for the year attributable to —ARARHER AEEFER
owners of the Company w A (B ) 74,184 (34,461)
Number of shares R&OEE
Weighted average number of share for the M EBRERNLE SR (E8)
purposes of basic and diluted earnings (losses) & < Bt hnE 198
per share 1,824,690,520 1,598,503,397

The computation of diluted earnings (losses) per share does
not assume the exercise of the Company’s options because
the exercise price of those options was higher than the
average market price for shares for both years.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED +E t#HEEERAHE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z=_—%

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out retail stores under operating leases
with rentals receivable monthly. The leases typically run
for an initial period of 3 to 5 years, with unilateral rights
to extend the lease beyond initial period held by lessees
only. Majority of the lease contracts contain market review
clauses in the event the lessee exercises the option to
extend.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as
a result of the lease arrangements, as all leases are
denominated in the respective functional currencies of the
group entities. The lease contracts do not contain residual
value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase the
property at the end of lease term.

e MR R M EE

—NE+-—A=t—HLEE

14. REWE

AEERBEEHERNTEERH LS A WEE
T ARE—RILBESFNVIRHIBEKEHEE -
AEBATHEE NRHRRERBEENETEERN -
HABATEERER  KEOHEENTETS
TR AT AR

HRABHEANEEERNABEERTE
BAKEYERNBELMERINERR HES
I EHAFREEERRTABAREES
REREBEYREE-

2019 2018
—E-hFE —ZE-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBTET
FAIR VALUE A RE

At 1 January n—A—H 88,962 93,815

Decrease in fair value recognised RIBEER 2 A AER D
in profit or loss (4,044) (4,853)
At 31 December W+=ZA=+—H 84,918 88,962

The fair values of the Group's investment properties
of RMB84,918,000 as at 31 December 2019 (2018:
RMB88,962,000) have been arrived at on a basis of
valuation carried out by Vigers Appraisal & Consulting
Limited, an independent professional property valuer not
connected with the Group.

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages
third party qualified valuer to perform the valuation.
Management works closely with the qualified external
valuer to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs to the model. Management reports the valuation
report and findings to directors semi-yearly to explain the
cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets.

$%l¢x§¢%¥ﬁA—:- hWE+=—A=+—82

NAEARYS4,918,000c (ZE—NF: AR
88,962,0007T) HEREAEBEWEBE B E
EMEGEMBEETEENGBERBRAREST
ZIHEER-

REFTEEZARER  AEBRAA DS ZHES
ABREIE - W B\ A2 % — R ARE RIK

SERRF=NAERMBEMETHRE EEER
BERIMNBEEMEZAF U AEHER

MRER 2 M ARE - BEES¥FRERERMD
BERENER URBEEAAERDZREA -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The independent property valuer adopted direct
comparison approach by making reference to comparable
sales evidences as available in the relevant market to reflect
current market conditions as of the end of the reporting
period to arrive the valuation of investment properties.
There has been no change to the valuation technique
during the year.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties,
the highest and best use of the investment properties is
their current use. The fair values of certain investment
properties have been adjusted to exclude prepaid or
accrued operating lease income to avoid double counting.

The key inputs used in valuing the investment properties
by the independent property valuer under the aforesaid
approach was market observable transactions of similar
properties. A significant increase in the market transaction
price used would result in a significant increase in fair value
measurement of the investment properties, and vice versa.

Details of the Group’s investment properties and
information about the fair value hierarchy as at 31
December 2019 are as follows:

14. BEWHE (&)

B ST 0 2 1 1 R LA L BOR S 2 AR T8
EARZ TLRHESES  URREERERR
BRATIRAERIREWE > (8 « (5 ERATHE P
W R -

REHREMEZ AAER REVEZHRS MR
ERZRAEERAE B TREVENAEEK
AR ABER TR SRR 2 R EHEWA - R

&5 E-

B MEGEMRIBILDEHREYEETR
BEREAZARBABBESBUMEZTH AR
BR P -FIAMERXZERBZEMGEEIREY
REZAREFEREEN K2R

AEERENEZHABREBR _T—NEF+=
A=ZT—RZAREBEERZEHIWT:

Significant Fair value
Fair value Fair value Fair value  Valuation unobservable per square Significant inputs
Category hierarchy 2019 2018 techniques inputs meter to fair value
“E-hEz ZT)\Fz ERFRUEE
=¥l AREER DR ARE RER BARE DRE/FRHK AREZERBAYE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TTR ARBTFT
Retail shops in the  Level 3 84,918 88,962  Direct comparison  Adjusted transaction  RMB21,000 The higher the adjusted
PRC E=H approach price (2018: RMB22,000) transaction price, the higher
RPBZZEE BERELEE BREXHE ARH 21,0007 the fair value
(ZZ—N\%#: BRERHEES BARE

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the
years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #ZEZ - —NF+-_A=F+—HILFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. ¥ BERRE
Leasehold
land and Leasehold Motor
buildings improvements  Equipment Furniture vehicles Total
HETHEK
BT HE#HE EY ] HKE RE ag
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT  ARETr ARETRE ARETT AREFTT AR®ETn
cosT KA
At 1 January 2018 RZE-N\&-HF-H 20,077 879 1,448 163 2,991 25,558
Exchange realignment RS 1,005 32 9% 8 = 1141
Additions NE - = 119 = = 119
At 31 December 2018 RZE-\F+-A=1—H 21,082 911 1,663 171 2,991 26,318
Exchange realignment EH AR 373 16 45 1 - 435
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+-A=1—H 21,455 927 1,708 172 2,991 27,253
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ZitHE
At 1 January 2018 RZE-N\E—-A—H 4,155 879 890 163 441 6,528
Exchange realignment B 5 E 208 3 Ty 8 = 290
Provided for the year FREE 47 - 23 - 299 949
At 31 December 2018 RZE-\E+=ZA=+—-H 4,790 911 1,155 171 740 7,767
Exchange realignment 5 R 90 16 45 1 - 152
Provided for the year FREE 447 - 215 - 299 961
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+-A=1-H 5,327 97 1415 172 1,039 8,880
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+-A=1-H 16,128 - 293 - 1,952 18,373
At 31 December 2018 RZZ-N\E+=ZA=+-H 16,292 - 508 - 2,251 19,051
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

15.

Notes:

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis, after taking into account
their estimated residual values, at the following useful lives or
rates per annum:

Leasehold land and buildings ~ Over the shorter of the term of
the lease or 50 years

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the term of
the leases or 5 years

Equipment 18% to 25%
Furniture 18% to 25%
Motor vehicles 10%

The leasehold land and buildings are situated in Hong Kong.

Leasehold land and buildings with an aggregate carrying
value of RMB16,128,000 (2018: RMB16,292,000) have been
pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED +E t#HEEERAHE
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(BB E B%E)

B 18%%£25%

RI1E 18%Z£25%

RE 10%

HETHREFHURERE -

HETHRETFT Z BRAEAR16,128,0005T (=
T—\F: ARM16,292,000T) BEAR T AER
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e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-_A=+—HILFE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16. EHAREE
Leased Office
properties  equipment Total
HEME BLERE et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT AR%®TT AR®ETT
At 1 January 2019 R=FB-NF—-—HA—H
Carrying amount FREE - - -
At 31 December 2019 R=-ZB-AF+=-A=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 1,550 23 1,573
For the year ended BE-_Z—-hE+=-HA=+—8H
31 December 2019 LtFEE
Depreciation charge HEER 793 17 810
RMB'000
AR T
Expense relating to short-term lease and other lease  f2HiFEE RN BB Y 53R E B 16587
with lease term end within 12 months of the date IR FER B EARRET 128 A A& R 2 A E4E
of initial application of HKFRS 16 2l 20
Expense relating to lease of low-value assets REBEEE (TRECHEEBEEE)
excluding short-term of low-value assets HEHEBER 6
Total cash outflow for leases MERMHARE 866
Addition to right-of-use assets NEFHEEE 2,395

The leased properties and office equipment are depreciated
over the term of the relevant lease using straight-line
method.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
leases a staff quarter, car parking spaces and a copier for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed terms
ranging from 1 to 5 years. Lease terms are negotiated on
an individual basis and contain a range of different terms
and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies
the definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.

MEVR A EREERBERA LA
B

BE_Z-NFT+_R=+—HILEE T&EEH
HeBHEETHES REULFHE -HESLH
THRNT F1E5F 1 & F HIR] 3L - HE RSR[5
EERER WA B AR S -1 - REEE
B R AHE T AT E B e R R R - NS R
BHRMERLET S X AR BT -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of RMB1,612,000 are recognised
with related right-of-use assets of RMB1,573,000 as at 31
December 2019. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the leased
assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets cannot be
used as security for borrowing purposes.

16. FHEEE (#)
HERHREH

N M- BE—-AE+-A=+—0 ABARE
1,612,000tz HEGEBENIZHABEREEEAR
1,573,000 R - Br AR A T E & E KT
miEmIN HEHEUEENTAZE - HEEE
TEREE R Z IR & -

17. INVENTORIES 17. ®E
2019 2018
—E-hE —ZET-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥BTRT ARBTET
Raw cane sugar RN 22,742 =

18. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Properties held for sale are situated on leasehold land in the
PRC. All the properties held for sale are stated at cost.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #ZEZ - —NF+-_A=F+—HILFE

19. DEPOSITS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 19. RE HMBWFERANRE

PREPAYMENTS
2019 2018
—E-hFE —ZE-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥BT ARBTT
Other receivables H b R U 5RI8 14,759 10,554
Less: impairment loss recognised B B ERREEE (448) (429)
14,311 10,125
Deposits paid for acquisition of L B 4 {50 R R 2 5T |9
land use rights (Note) e (KsE) 102,460 —
Deposits and prepayments me RBENRKIE 2,093 750
118,864 10,875
Note: It represents deposits of RMB102,460,000 placed at Maoming BisE: $ERUREE — RO R B B T & B/ N EJIXIANG-23
City Public Resources Trading Center* (JE& M AHERRZ S 2 ([FRELH]) 2 T fEAERKETALE
FR0y) in respect of an acquisition of land use rights of a parcel R 5 H O R e A R#102,460,0007C  #%
of land situated at JIXIANG-23, Maoming Jixiang District* (/% AR ARRBEFRARYERR - BHEZRSERMED
AWM E LR ) in the PRC (the “PRC Land”), which the land REFATZEANBEERTENSERIA LD
is used for property development in the next few years. Such BRARDEE-
deposits would be utilised upon settlement of the remaining
contract sum within twelve months from the end of the
reporting period and are classified as a current asset.
o The english name is for identification purpose only
Movements in impairment loss for other receivables are set Hib EURIB 2 RIEBBZE SN T :
out as below:
2019 2018
—EB-AEFE T N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARBTET
At 1 January Kn—H—H 429 407
Exchange difference MEHAERR 19 22
At 31 December R+=—RA=+—H 448 429
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

20. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSIT

The restricted bank deposit represents a guarantee deposit
for the construction of project required to be placed in a
designated bank account by the PRC Construction Bureau
of Maoming City. The amount will be released upon the
bank receiving the certificate of property ownership.

Restricted bank deposit carries interest at a market rate of
2.25% (2018: 1.75%) per annum.

21. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

Pledged bank deposits amounting to RMB31,285,000
(2018: RMB38,085,000) have been pledged to guarantee
the mortgage loans granted by the banks to the customers
of the Group and are therefore classified as current assets.

The pledged bank deposits carry interest at a market rate of
0.30% (2018: 0.30%) per annum.

Bank balances carry interest at market rates which ranged
from 0.01% to 0.30% (2018: 0.01% to 0.30%) per
annum.
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BRHBIFITFRIEMSERNE225% (ZZF—N
F:175% )58

21. EEARTERRBITEERRAS

BB AR31,285,000 (T —N\F: AR
38,085,0007T) 2 B IR IR TIE ;R E (B8 - LAIE
RIBITMAEERFPRECEBER B ER
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BEERFETERIETESEEMNER030% (ZZE—N
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-_A=+—HILFE

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

22. ESRHEMEMSNRIE

2019 2018

—ZE-hE ZZT-)N\F

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®BTR AR®TET

Trade payables B 5N RIA 32,485 445
Accrued expenditure on construction JEETIEER Y = 43,192
Receipts in advance (Note) TEU FRIE (BT 5E) 20,919 =
Value-added tax payable JE < 35 (B Y 34,750 18,592
Other tax payables A 1R 2,257 185
Other payables and accrued charges H A RIBREREMA 7.879 9,041
98,290 71,455

Note: It represents the receipts in advance from one customer which
the sale contract was concluded after the end of the reporting
period.

Credit periods granted to the Group by suppliers range
from 0 to 180 days.

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables,
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the
reporting period:

fier: EEFAR-—R2FPHRE MREFPENMESHR

ETSIEE AL

HEEA T AEBEIZEISOAZEEH -

BRie AT a0

2019 2018

—E-AEFE —ZT-N\F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARBTET

Within 90 days 90A LA 32,105 108
91 — 365 days 91E365K 29 213
Over 365 days BiB365K 351 124
32,485 445
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

23. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 23. GXEE
2019 2018
—E-AEFE ZZ)N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥BTR AR®TT
Receipts in advance for sales of properties SHE M E AW KIE 235,620 766,958
Receipts in advance for trading of raw cane sugar REHEE 578 WA 20,000 —
255,620 766,958

As at 1 January 2018, contract liabilities amounted to
RMB445,462,000.

Contract liabilities are expected to be settled within the
Group’s normal operating cycle.

Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 December
2019 and 2018 that was included in the contract liabilities
balance at 1 January 2019 and 2018 amounted to
RMB645,611,000 and RMB88,324,000 respectively.

24. LOAN PAYABLES

Loan payables comprise:

(i)

(i)

Loan payable to an independent third party
amounted to RMB8,940,000 (2018: RMB8,784,000)
which is unsecured, interest-bearing at 6% per
annum and repayable on 30 April 2020.

Loan payable to a related party controlled by
a director of the Company of RMB5,449,000
(31 December 2018: RMB24,441,000) which is
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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R-ZFE-N\F—-HA—B ANABERARE
445,462,0007T °

BHANAERRASEZ EELLBHAB

f& -

i

AARZE-NFERE-N\F-A—HNOHEH
REEBRNBE T AFR-F-N\F+=
AT ALFEEHERREDHI /AR
645,611,0007T I A K#588,324,0007T °

2. ENHER

ENERERE:

iy EN—"ZBIEF=ZFERARE
8,940,000 (=ZZE—NF: AR%
8,784,0007T) ' Z A B A EEF  RF
AE6%:zt B WAR_ZT_ZFA
Zt+HEE-

KR

(i) BNARA—REZTEH2BEELTER
ABANREES, 449,000 (ZE—N\F+ =
B=+—H: AR#24,441,000T) * %
REAERTF 2ERNERBEREER-
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—-F

—NE+-—A=t—HLEE

25. LEASE LIABILITIES 25. HEAE
2019
—E-hF
RMB’000
ARMT T
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEERE:
Within one year —FR 1,228
Within a period of more than one year —FRETHBRE M
but not more than two years 361
Within a period of more than two years MERET B RS HME
but not more than five years 23
1,612
Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 months & : 71218 B A E| 8/ E R FUA
shown under current liabilities (RBEREETIER) (1,228)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 1218 A & B HB (B 8 5/ 18
shown under non-current liabilities (RIERBEFEIETIIER) 384
Lease obligations that are denominated in currencies other REEAEEERBNREB I EREZHE
than the functional currencies of the relevant group entities EEEHINWT
are set out below:
RMB'000
AREF T
As at 31 December 2019 —NF+-A=+—H 1,612

The discount rate adopted for discounting lease liabilities
during the year ended 31 December 2019 is 5.83% per
annum.

26. AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The amounts represent the contributions from the non-
controlling interests in respect of an acquisition of land use
rights of the PRC Land which are unsecured, interest-free
and have no fixed repayment term.

REBE-Z

—hF+ZA=+t—HBLFE H

MREERERAZCFEMRRER583% °

26.

FE A IF 428 1l 4 #E 25 =R IR

ZEREEAFRBBTELR . L EREZ
FEFIEERLE SEER 28 HYEE

FENE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

27. SECURED BANK BORROWINGS

27. BEARTER

2019 2018
—E-hF =ZZE-NF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETRT AREFTTT

Secured bank loans BEBRITER
— Variable-rate borrowings —Z BT KB 1,776 11,776
Carrying amount repayable within one year* JER—FREZEZREE - 8,784

Carrying amount of bank loans that contain
a repayable on demand clause

(show under current liabilities) but repayable*:

HBARERKEEGKERARAT
HHEIEER < RITERZREEY
(MARBEBEETIIRK)

— within one year ——F R 1,241 1,245
— within a period of more than one year ——FREIBBMFHE
but not exceeding two years 535 1,301
— within a period of more than two years — MF &R B T HE3E T 5 HAR
but not exceeding five years - 446
Amount shown under current liabilities MEBEENNE 225 1,776 11,776
* The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set * ZE PR RIBEER BB 2 EER

out in the loan agreements.

The Group's variable-rate borrowings carry interest at
3-month Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate plus 2% per

annum.

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal
to contracted interest rates) on the Group's borrowings are

AtE-o
REBZFHMEERDZ=(EAETLERITH
EHRBIMFENK2%ET S e

$’$l,\ RERFER (HETREERA M)
gELWT :

as follows:
Year ended 31 December
BE+=-H=1+—HLEE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E—NEFE
Effective interest rate B A =

— Variable-rate borrowings

—FEARER

3.56% t0 5.12%  3.08% to0 5.48%
3.56%£5.12% 3.08%%5.48%
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-_A=+—HILFE

28. DEFERRED TAXATION 28. EIEBIA
2019 2018
“E-REFE ZZ)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®BTR AR®TET
Deferred tax liabilities REFIEEE 40,599 55,841
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities RAHEBAERSHBE CEERNEIZELER
recognised and movements thereof during the current and BHREREZEHOT
prior reporting periods:
Fair value
adjustments
arising from
properties
under Change in

development fair value of
PRCLAT and properties investment

provision held for sale properties Total

ERNER  REWEZ

FEL BEHENEZ DMfE
REHRE QARERE 28 @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETT ARBTr  ARETR
At 1 January 2018 RZZE-N\F—HA—H 1,049 (46,580) (17,905) (63,436)
Credit to profit or loss REREA 325 6,178 1,092 7,595
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-\F+=-A=+—-H 1,374 (40,402) (16,813) (55,841)
Credit to profit or loss E’\\Téﬁ A 351 13,980 9N 15,242
At 31 December 2019 AZE-NE+ZA=F+—H 1,725 (26,422) (15,902) (40,599)
At 31 December 2019, the Group had unused tax losses RZE-—NWF+_A=+—"H AEBEXHY
of RMB35,096,000 (2018: RMB35,999,000) available for FAMIEEE ARK35096,000t (ZF—N
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been & AR%35,999,0007T) A A 1E K 8 oK 2K %
recognised in respect of such losses as at 31 December M RZFE—NAFF+ZA=+—H BHREKXK
2019 (2018: Nil) due to the unpredictability of future profit i *'J%?T?ZT\EHE %D M- UITEAZEFEERER
streams. Losses may be carried forward indefinitely. BREMBEE(ZZ—)/\F &) EBEEATER

B4 o
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. R
Equivalent to
Number of HER
shares HK$'000 RMB'000
RR & BT AREBFTT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each BRAEK 10T EBR
Authorised: ETE
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018 and R-_Z-\§—-A—-RB"
31 December 2019 - \Ft+-A=+—-HRE
“E2-NE+-A=1+—H 3,000,000,000 300,000 281,070
lssued and fully paid: BORBHR:
At 1 January 2018 RZE-NF—A—H 1,524,478,520 152,448 136,015
Issue of new shares (Note) RITH R (eE) 300,212,000 30,021 25,554
At 31 December 2018 and 2019 RZE-N\EK
“E-hAFE+-A=+—H 1,824,690,520 182,469 161,569

Note:

On 14 September 2018, the Company entered into a placing
agreement (the “Placing Agreement”) with a placing agent,
an independent third party, to place 300,212,000 placing
shares of the Company of HK$0.15 each to not less than
six placees who were not acting in concert with connected
persons of the Company. On 3 October 2018, the Company
completed the placing of new shares under general mandate
and conditions of the Placing Agreement under which a total
of 300,212,000 placing shares were successfully placed by the
placing agent to not less than six placees at the placing price
of HK$0.15 per share.

Pursuant to the subscription agreement entered into
between the Company and subscribers on 3 October
2018, 300,212,000 subscription shares of HK$0.15 each
of the Company were subscribed by subscribers for a
cash consideration of HK$45,031,800 (equivalent to
RMB38,331,000). All subscribers were independent third
parties.

All the shares issued rank pari passu in all respects with the
then existing shares in issue.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED +E t#HEEERAHE
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RZE—-N\FALA+THA AQRE—ZRERE
(BBYE=7) v BEEthas (TREhE])  Um
NORABWIEERRN B FEAN T —HITE 2 AR
AFEE300,212,0000% A2 A1 F IR EE S ¥0.1570 2
RERHD RZT—NF+A=ZH KRR RE
—ERRETRG RS ZIEE  Eit 63K
300,212,0000% fid & B9 B ffd SRR IR BIUE
BOIST B EBRE T I DRNBERA

BEAXAFTEIZBAN_Z—NE+A=BEIZ
R+ 300,212,0000% AN 2~ 7] &A% E B 5 #50.15
TZRBROCERBARE BeREABK
45,031,8007T (HH&E M A R ¥38,331,0007T) < FT B
REAYEBIE=H-

FEBETRNEERREEETROHESTEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z=_—%

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted by the Company on
30 November 2009 (the “Scheme”).

The Company may grant to eligible participants (including
any directors, non-executive directors, employees, advisors,
consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents,
customers, business partners, joint venture business
partners, promoters, service providers of any member of
the Group whom the board of directors consider, in its
sole discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the
Group) options to subscribe for shares in the Company,
subject to a maximum of 10% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the adoption date and as at the
approval date of refreshment from time to time, excluding
for this purpose shares issued on the exercise of options.
The subscription price will be determined by the Company'’s
board of directors and will not be less than the highest of (i)
the nominal value of the Company’s shares, (ii) the average
of the closing price of the shares quoted on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange on the five trading days immediately
preceding the grant date and (iii) the closing price of the
shares on the grant date.

On 13 July 2017, the Company granted a total of
64,000,000 share options to subscribe for 64,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company to certain
eligible individuals without vesting conditions.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the number of share
granted and remained outstanding under the Scheme is
64,000,000. No share option has been exercised under the
Scheme during the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018.

e MR R M EE

—NE+-—A=t—HLEE

30. BERESTE

ARBER_ZEZAF+-A=ZTHRHK A
Bt E (I&arall) -

ARAAAEER2EE (BRE
BERAELABEHAKEFLHER I AR HE
ERIKE R TZEH%% FHTEF EER-
BE- -EREE oHEE 2R HER K
LS %i‘“%ﬂ# BEEBEH BB AR
AR 75 45 Eﬁ)&ﬁ%ﬂx%%ﬁ%zﬁ A XD - HE
RZARBBARBRBRET S HKABBER
TRERIHUEBRNDHETRAZI10% (£
BREMREBNTEBREMBFTORD) - R
BESHALAEEEEE EBTEERT
JIBEZE®E: (WVARAKRODOEE ()R
ERBERERLBEHMABAIZERET BB
FiT A R B 40 1O S 9 M T (B - R (i) B8 AR 1 A
Hm e m(E -

EERK

RZE—tEtFEA+=ZA A2aHEHLEH®
64 000,000 EERETFTHETREERAL N
R EE64,000,000/ A A FREEBK0.107T
ZEBR WEBBIRME-

—hER-_FE-NF+-_A=+—8"
*ETFEZJ%\JE?“&EWﬂiﬁﬁzﬁ%%@é%&E)?%
64,000,000 - BE_ZT—-NEFR_F—-N\F
TZA=1t—HUEFE ZAFETLERBR
RETETTIE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 30. BRESTE (&)
Movements of the Company’s share options held by FRA BEFZREERBZARAIBREZE
directors and employees during the year are as follows: (L
Number of
share options
BREHE

Outstanding
at 1 January

2018,
31 December Exercise price
Category of participants Date of grant 2018 and 2019 Exercise period per share
R=B-N\#§
—A-BUK
ZE-N\ER
—2-hEF
+=A=t+-H
2EEER BHAH HARTRE  TEH BRITEE
HK$
BT
Directors 13 July 2017 45,000,000 13 July 2017 to 0.25
12 July 2022
= —T—+tFtA+=H ZE—+tFtLA+=HE
R _F+A+ZH
Employees 13 July 2017 19,000,000 13 July 2017 to 0.25
12 July 2022
EE —T—+tFtA+=H ZE—+tFtLA+=HE
R _F+A+ZH
64,000,000
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #ZEZ - —NF+-_A=F+—HILFE

31. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME
Hong Kong

The Group operates the MPF Scheme under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
its Hong Kong employees. The MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, each of the subsidiaries
(the “Employer”) in Hong Kong and its employees makes
monthly mandatory contributions to the scheme at 5% of
the employee’s earnings as defined under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Legislation. The mandatory contributions
from each of the Employer and employees are subject to
a cap of HK$1,500 per month. During the year ended
31 December 2019, a total contribution of RMB641,000
(2018: RMB531,000) was made by the Group in respect of
this scheme.

The PRC, other than Hong Kong

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the
PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute to a state-
managed retirement plan for all its employees at a
certain percentage of the basic salaries of its employees.
The state-managed retirement plan is responsible for
the entire pension obligations payable to all retired
employees. Under the state-managed retirement plan, the
Group has no further obligations for the actual pension
payments or post-retirement benefits beyond the annual
contributions. During the year ended 31 December 2019,
a total contribution of approximately RMB257,000 (2018:
RMB286,000) was made by the Group is respect of this
scheme.

31. ERBEFIFE
=B

AEELHEERELHEATEANERES
EGAIRERNRESE AT EBR
ATEHEARFE HABIUITATE -RIFERTE
T8 SBEBEWEBRA ([BRE])RHEREESE
AR EBEB Z5% 2 WA (E&E R B H M4
REEEPIEHAFERFI - BEEREEZ
B EERRAG A AEE1,500t AR -EHEZ
TE-hhE+_A=+—HLEE KXEEHRIK
e EHAERAREG41,000L (2 — N
F£: AR#531,0007T) °

HEl - BRE RN

BEFBENGAHRERBE PHMBLARA
MAFMBREREMKE 2 B KERNKEFG S EL
HF-HEFBLAREEAFENETES L -
BRERBEMNFAEEERNMERKEESE XN
FIERKE HE@ABERERAKEBHNFE 2T
RAEEBREFHRAIITEHEMERENKRES X
MR R ERAER(ERE—SEE-HEZ
T-hAE+_A=+—HLEFEE KXEEHRI
EERBHEZIHOAREK257,000 (ZF— N
F: AR#286,0007T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

32. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, certain assets of the
Group were pledged to secure banking facilities granted to
the Group and to obtain the mortgage facilities provided
to certain purchasers of the Group's properties for which
guarantees were provided by the Group to the banks as
follows:

32. EHEE

RBEHR AEEZETEECEARTA
EEFETEECERARERSRAERYDEST
BEFRECZRIERE (THAEERETIRE
ER)DOT

2019 2018
ZE-AF ZFT)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTT

For banking facilities BRITIEEME
Leasehold land and buildings HELHREF 16,128 16,292

For mortgage facilities HZEBE N E
Restricted bank deposit BIREIEITER 896 8,169
Pledged bank deposits EEBRITERK 31,285 38,085
32,181 46,254

33. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 33. BELHE

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the years ended 31 December 2019
and 2018 are as follows:

Bz Z—hhErk_Z2—N\E+-_A=+—H
HTEE EEREMTEEEEKRKE 2ME W
T

Compensation of key management personnel FTEEEEREZEHM
2019 2018
—E-nEF ZT)\F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETRT ARETT
Salaries and other benefits in kind Fae hEMEDHZE 8,782 7,846
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RREFIFT B4 265 259
9,047 8,105

The remuneration of directors and key executives is
determined by the remuneration committee having regard
to the performance of individuals and market trends.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
purchased the raw cane sugar from China Sugar Holdings
Limited, a shareholder of the Company, amounted to
UsD9,500,000 (equivalent to RMB65,619,000) (2018: Nil).

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED +E t#HEEERAHE
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EELIRERABZTFHBFHZESRIE
BARRETIEBLETE -

HE-_ZT—hAhF+_A=+—"RHLEFE"
ANEBELLI, 500,000 L (HER AR
65,619,00070) (—Z—N\F: &) BARARK
RHhRABEESEERAFNBERERE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-_A=+—HILFE

33. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(Continued)

Related party balances and transactions

Other than the disclosures in notes 11, 24 and 26, and the
amount due to a director disclosed on the consolidated
statement of financial position which is denominated in
HK$, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand,
there were no other significant related party balances or
transactions.

34. COMMITMENTS

Commitments under operating leases
The Group as lessor

Property rental income earned during the year was
RMB1,668,000 (2018: RMB1,927,000). The properties held
had committed leases mainly running for the three to five
years.

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases as at 31
December 2019 are as follows:

33. BHEIHE (&)

BELGEHRRRXS

BRI EE11 24 26T BR & RN AR & B 5 A0
RBEBENEEAELEER RERAREXK
BE CERNESFRRIN BEEAEMEKNER

34, EiE

CEEERE

FEESHHEA
RERNBERBMZ2YUERLSBEAABARK

1,668,000c (=& — \F: AR®1,927,000
) o FMEMECZHBEFENTE=ZERHF-

RZZE-NF+A=+t—BENHERKRKE
MEMNROT:

2019

—E-hF

RMB’000

AR¥T T

Within one year —FR 1,582
In the second year £ 1,302
In the third year F£= 390
In the fourth year ERUEES 31
In the fifth year FRF 23
After five years hFi& 2
3,330
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

34. COMMITMENTS (Continued)

Commitments under operating leases (Continued)
The Group as lessor (Continued)

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had contracted with
tenants for the following future minimum lease payments.

34, RIE(E)
REHERE (B)

FEBEBLHBEA (E)

RZE-N\F+_A=+—H AEEEBEP
AN TARKEBEERMNK-

2018
—E—N\F
RMB’000
AREFTT

—FR

Within one year
In the second to fifth year inclusive

E_FEELF (BEEEMF)

2,203
3,167

5,370

The Group as lessee

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
leases certain of its warehouse and copier under operating
leases arrangements. Leases are negotiated for terms
ranging from one to two years and rentals are fixed. None
of the leases includes contingent rentals and terms of
renewal were established in the leases.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED +E t#HEEERAHE
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—-F

34. COMMITMENTS (Continued)

Commitments under operating leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had commitments

e MR R M EE

—NE+-A=+—BILEE
34, RIE(EF)

REHERE (E)

FEFESFRBA ()

ﬁé:;-/\i—f—*ﬂ_—i— B AEERED

for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable AR LERERN 2 RREEMEE N FRAE
operating leases which are payable as follows: s
2018
—N\FE
RMB'000
AR®EF T
Within one year —F R 10
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_FEZERF (BEEEME) 6
16
Upon application of HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019, the RZZE—NF—A—BERBEEYHERELER
commitments are shown under lease liabilities in Note 25. F165 1%  ZERERMF25HEAEE T
E\E o
Other commitments H A& 4E

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has the
following capital commitments for purchase of land use
rights:

RBERSR AEEBA L HEREZEAR
AT

2019 2018
—E-nE —TN\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTRT AR®EFTTT
Contracted for but not provided in the ERINEBERB LGS M HE
consolidated financial statements FHREE 139,052 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s maximum
obligations in respect of the mortgage facilities provided to
certain purchasers of the Group’s properties amounted to
RMB577,518,000 (2018: RMB632,271,000).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group provided
guarantees in respect of the mortgage facilities granted
by certain banks to certain purchasers of the Group’s
properties and pledged its bank deposits and properties
to the relevant banks. Pursuant to the terms of the
guarantees, upon default on mortgage payments by these
purchasers, the Group is responsible for repaying the
outstanding mortgage principals together with the accrued
interest and penalties owned by the defaulted purchasers
to the banks.

Under the above arrangement, the bank deposits were
pledged to the banks as securities on the mortgage loans.
Upon default on mortgage payments by these purchasers,
the banks are entitled to take over the bank deposits
and legal titles of properties and can realise the pledged
properties through open auction, or the banks transfer the
pledged properties to the Group, then the Group sell the
properties through open auction. The Group is obliged to
repay the banks for the shortfall if bank deposits and the
proceeds from selling the properties through the auction
cannot cover the outstanding mortgage principals together
with the accrued interest and penalties.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED +E t#HEEERAHE
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35. RAREE

R-ZE—-—hhFE+_A=+—B AEBEHRLE
EYMECETERBRBZEBERZES R
EFHANRBES77,518,000t (ZZFE—/\F: A
K #632,271,0007C) °

RBEYR AEBEHRETRTAAEEY X
ZCETEFREZRBERREHRER LAEF
ARITEFERITEREYE -REERFRK
K HZEFERAEEERBRA A AKHE
BEEEENBERRNRITZAERREAS
& [F e AT A B R AT K

REBEALZH BRARTERSEL/RIBER
ZERBRTRIT - MZFERREEERSE
RIE - BISRITERERROTERRDENEE
X UYAESBAFAMPEZRARYE R
THEHRDEERTASE EMEAKEE
BRAANBEHEZXTYE - WRITERANBE
HEMEMBRRAEZAETREREZEELAE
BREFMNBREF MAEEARIRTEER
ER-
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #ZEZ - —NF+-_A=F+—HILFE

35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Continued)

The Group’s guarantee period starts from the dates of
grant of the relevant mortgage loans, and ends upon
the earlier of (i) the issuance of real estate ownership
certificates to purchasers, which will generally be available
within one to two years after the purchasers take
possession of the relevant properties; and (i) the settlement
of mortgage loans between the mortgage banks and the
purchasers.

In the opinion of the directors, the fair values of these
financial guarantee contracts of the Group are insignificant
at initial recognition and the directors consider that the
possibility of default of the parties involved is remote;
accordingly, no value has been recognised at the inception
of these guarantee contracts and at the end of the each
reporting period.

The Company engaged an independent professional valuer,
Norton Appraisals Holdings Limited to assess the fair values
of the financial guarantees of the Group and the directors
of the Company concluded that the effect is insignificant,
and accordingly, no provision for guarantee has been
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

35. HAEE(Z)

AEBEZEFRPERLEBRBERAHHA
B ELATEEABREREAL: (IMERE
HEMEME#ER  —BRREXREFHEBYE
B—EMFANEL: RINEBRBRITEER
ZERIBER -

EERR AKBZFMBHERGH ZAE
RUOFHERABEIRE BEERRITNES
BHZABEE ) Bt BIEBERE L%
ERRANBFERNEREHRER -

RRBEZEEBILEZEEERMNorton Appraisals
Holdings Limitedat i NE BB B ERZ AR
B BARRESRAVETAEN Bt
BRRE M RREREREE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

36. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Details of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2019
and 2018 are as follows:

36. ARBEEMBARIZFHE

RZE—NFR_F
TEMBERARFMER DT :

—“N\F+-A=+—RH2

Place of
establishment/ Issued and fully
incorporation/  Class of paid capital/ Proportion ownership interest
Name of subsidiary operation shares held registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
A/
ZMRL/ BRIRARKRE/
WEAREE BRI FERGOER HRER FRRFEREERRLY TEEY
2019 2018
ZE-nF —E-N\F
Directly  Indirectly Directly Indirectly
EE ME ER B
Techwayson Management Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$10,000 100% - 100% — Provision of management
EEREBERAT BA il 7%10,0007 services
REUERRY
Techwayson Trading Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$10,000 100% - 100% - Trading of raw cane sugar
BERESHERAT EE LAk 7%10,0007T RERES
Maoming Huada Real Estate The PRC Contributed capital  RMB50,000,000 - 90% - 90% Development of real estate
Development Limited*# # BABK AR H50,000,0007T in the PRC
(“Maoming Huada") ReBRREE
KETEABHERE
BRAR ([KAEKX])
Maoming Shang Cheng Real The PRC Contributed capital  RMB30,000,000 - 65% - - Development of real estate
Estate Company Limited** HANER AR 30,000,000 in the PRC
(“Maoming Shang Cheng") RPBEERREE
(note)
EKELHEZRRLAS
(M%&) (Fi)
* The english name is for identification purpose only * R HHEMER -
# These companies were established in the PRC as non-wholly ¢ ZERARBRPREK L cFINEERE -

sino-foreign owned enterprises.
Note: On 27 November 2019, a non-wholly owned subsidiary,
Maoming Shang Cheng, was established by the Group’s
wholly owned subsidiary together with two independent
third parties, with a total capital injection of RMB30,000,000
contributed by all parties. Such subsidiary was established set
up for the purpose of acquiring the PRC Land for property
development.

Mz RZZT—hhFt+—A=-+tH xEE2EWNEAL
RIERMEBEBYE =K IETEMBLARIKSE L
W B EE B A AR B30,000,0007T © Z M B A
A Th LU S R B SRR B R WA AL ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #ZEZ - —NF+-_A=F+—HILFE

36. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors
of the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities
outstanding as at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. A majority
of these subsidiaries operate in Hong Kong and the PRC.
The principal activities of these subsidiaries are summarised
as follows:

Principal activities

Principal place of business

36 AABFEMBLARZFIE (&)

ERZINARFAEETARIBREAEERXSE
REEZAEENBRAR -ARAREFERRI
LATAEMBARERBSREAER LR

BEEMANE A

A F B AEF NI E
B EAREEES

o

7
E%

RBEHR ARFAEHAEEMETITBEEE
ZHMWBRAR -ZEMBARZHREAEK
FREKgE - ZEMBARA 2 EEZXZBH AW
T

Number of subsidiaries

FERK FTEEXMBE MEXRHE
2019 2018
—E-hE —T)\F
Investment holding Hong Kong 2 2
RE R BB
Investment holding The British Virgin Islands 1 1
REERK REBRELES
Investment holding The PRC 5 4
REZEK Y
8 7
Inactive Hong Kong 2
X i
Inactive The British Virgin Islands 1 1
ST RERLES
Inactive Cambodia 1 1
X ESEES
Inactive The PRC 4 4
X I
8 8
16 15
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

37. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling
interests:

37.

FFEFI RS

TRINNEERNFENERE I AKBEEE
MEBRRZFAER:

Proportion of ownership

interests and voting Profit (loss)
Place of incorporation and rights held by non- allocated to Accumulated non-
Name of subsidiary principal place of business controlling interests  non- controlling interests controlling interest
FRGMBEASHEE IRTHEIMESZ
HEARER BPANES-ES 5 B RRAELS A (B]) EHE g b
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
“ZE-AfF ZT-\§ ZB-hE T\ ZE-hFE T\
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTRT ARETR AR%TR ARETR
Maoming Huada The PRC 10% 10% 10,172 (1,559) 46,649 36,477
REEX i
Maoming Shang Cheng The PRC 35% = 2 = 10,502 =
A bl i
10,174 (1,559) 57,151 36,477

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's

BEEARFEH MG 2ASENBEAR ZHK

subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests as set ERBEHINMT -
out below.
2019 2018
—E-hE Z—ZZE-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR%¥TET
Maoming Huada RAEKX
Current assets MBEE 721,472 1,425,721
Non-current assets ERBNEE 87,150 91,703
Current liabilities mEaE (337,735)  (1,083,861)
Non-current liabilities EMBAR (40,599) (55,841)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RARER AEGER 383,639 341,245
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests FEIEHIE R G 46,649 36,477
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-_A=+—HILFE

37. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 37. FFEFIMER (£)
(Continued)
2019 2018
—E-hE Z—T-N\F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AREFRT AREFTTT
Revenue Weas 756,487 90,251
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive income FRaF (BE) he2Ekas
(expense) for the year (X )% 101,724 (15,593)
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive income KN E A AL FE N &
(expense) for the year attributable to owners (EE) RemERas
of the Company (FAx)®%E 91,552 (14,034)
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive income FE 42 i) 5 A 2 P 1 A I S A
(expense) for the year attributable to non- (B#E) RE2EKz=E
controlling interests (FX )4z 10,172 (1,559)
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive income FREN (EE) REmas
(expense) for the year (FX)4%E 101,724 (15,593)
2019 2018
—E-hAFE —ZT—NF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETT
Net cash (outflow) inflow from operating activities #& & /EEFTFSHE ORH) RAFEE (58,495) 159,883
Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities % & EBFTFIEERA (Rd ) F58 14,378 (25,043)
Net cash outflow from financing activities BB EBER e ML FE - (107,000)
Net cash (outflow) inflow Be Ot mRAFE (44,117) 27,840
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

37. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

37. FEGIMRERE (F)

(Continued)
2019
—EB-hEF
RMB'000
AR¥T T
Maoming Shang Cheng EE LW
Current assets MENE E 111,531
Current liabilities REER (71,038)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RAFHER AEGEER 29,991
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests JEFEHItE R ER 10,502
2019
—E—-hfF
RMB’000
ARMT T
Revenue Wees -
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year F RE1E & 2 H X 258 (7)
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year AN AR A AEHFABE LR 2RI B
attributable to owners of the Company (5)
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year FE1ZEHIEE B FAEBE R 2 EHF X B
attributable to non-controlling interests (2)
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year G AEE N 2 H S #£58 (7)
2019
—E—-h#F
RMB’000
AR®T T
Net cash outflow from operating activities KREEBMFIRERLEFE (102,428)
Net cash inflow from financing activities HEGEDAERERANFEE 111,499
Net cash inflow WEMAFE 9,071
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #ZEZ - —NF+-_A=F+—HILFE

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 38. A E &R &K
OF THE COMPANY
2019 2018
—E-hFE —ZE-N\F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥ETT AREFTTT
Non-current asset ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries N ENGIA £ 1,009,623 1,009,623
Current assets MENVEE
Other receivables H b U FRI8 490 240
Bank balances and cash RITEFEERS 788 621
1,278 861
Current liabilities RBEE
Other payables H fth fE T K1 2,150 1,888
Amount due to a director B EERIE 2,913 2,862
Loan payables ERER 11,277 33,225
16,340 37,975
Net current liabilities REBEEFEE (15,062) (37,114)
Total assets less current liabilities HMEERRBAE 994,561 972,509
Non-current liabilities ERBER
Amounts due to subsidiaries R ENGIE 850,499 794,949
Net assets EEFE 144,062 177,560
Capital and reserves BXK#E
Ordinary share capital TR AR AR 161,569 161,569
Reserves R (17,507) 15,991
Total equity = ETE 144,062 177,560

ARRAZHBERRRER T _FTF=H
St BEEFESHRHEREETNZELANUTA
TRERE:

The Company’s statement of financial position was
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors
on 31 March 2020 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Liu Feng Mr. Lau Sai Chung
Bk 4E 2Bk
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

EF EF
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 38. AQATMBMRREK ()
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
The movements in reserves are as follows: EEEHHOT :
Share
Share  Contributed options  Translation Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
RipE(E BARE BRERE ERfRE S| @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARBTT ARETr ARETR ARETT ARETR
(Note)
GBS
At 1 January 2018 RZE-\$-A-H 567,100 67,614 5,481 (371) (541,608) 98,216
Loss for the year FRER - - - - (50,760) (50,760)
Exchange difference arising on B EBRRERZIES
translation functional currency to MEEzERER
presentation currency - - - (43,355) - (43,355)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FREERTLE = = = (43,355) (50,760) (94,115)
Issue of new shares BHRG 12,777 - - - = 12,777
Transaction costs attributable to the issue of new shares  E{THRBEE X HRA (887) = - - = (887)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F¥+-A=+-H 578,990 67,614 5,481 (43,726) (592,368) 15,991
Loss for the year FREE - - - - (18,513) (18,513)
Exchange difference arising on RO ELRE RSN
translation functional currency to MELZELER
presentation currency - - - (14,985) - (14,985)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FRZARY AR - - - (14,985) (18,513) (33,498)
At 31 December 2019 R=E-NE+=-A=1-H 578,990 67,614 5,481 (58,711) (610,881) (17,507)
Note:  Contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference Mizk: ARFBABBIEARRDETEBR 2 @ERER

between the nominal value of the ordinary shares issued by

the Company and the net asset value of subsidiaries acquired
through an exchange of shares pursuant to the group

reorganisation in 2001.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #ZEZ - —NF+-_A=F+—HILFE

39. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts,
which include loan payables, lease liabilities, amount due
to a director and secured bank borrowings, and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital and reserves.

The directors review the capital structure on a regular basis.
As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associate with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as
the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

39. EXEKRERE

AEBEBEEA UBRAEENEEES
SR REEAELERRRRTERA
BEMIE SR RE R AEE Y B R ES
ERBTE -

AEENEARBRREER (ERENER
HERE BENEFREARGERRITER)
EARRBHEAEARGEERS (BEEETERAR
)

EETHRTEARARB-ER/ZMT Z — &
D EBEFEREANAREZHERER 2R
R-BRBESZHEBEEAL A5ESEBIRN
BB -FRBETRBRMBOARZEITHEEX
BMORABEKEFHEBRBEARARE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 40. BT A
(@) Categories of financial instruments () HEIAFE?
2019 2018
—E-hE —ZE—N\F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®ETr ARETT
Financial assets BHREE
FVTPL EAAERAERE
Mandatorily measured at FVTPL REIRAAET ABRGE
— Held-for-trading —FEXS 12 21
Financial assets at amortised cost R AGTE 2 EE 109,800 108,801
109,812 108,822
Financial liabilities BkaE
At amortised cost RS A 77,622 48,308

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies

(b) HMBEBREEBEERBE

The Group’s major financial instruments include other
receivables, financial asset at FVTPL, restricted bank
deposit, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash,
trade and other payables, loan payables, amount due to
a director, amount due to a related company and secured
bank borrowings. Details of the financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
the Group’s financial instruments include market risk
(interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED +E t#HEEERAHE
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #ZEZ - —NF+-_A=F+—HILFE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to loan payables and lease liabilities. The Group’s
loan payables carry fixed contractual interest rates while the
lease liabilities carry fixed incremental borrowing rates, and
therefore expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.
The carrying values of the loan payables and lease liabilities
which are classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost
are affected by the change in market interest rate. The
Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to restricted bank deposit, pledged bank deposits,
bank balances and variable-rate bank borrowings. Interest
rate risk is managed by the management on an ongoing
basis with the primary objective of limiting the extent to
which net interest expense could be affected by adverse
movements in interest rates. Interest rate risk on bank
deposits is considered immaterial and therefore has been
excluded from the sensitivity analysis below.

Currency risk
Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank
borrowings at the end of the reporting period. The analysis
is prepared assuming the financial instruments outstanding
at the end of the reporting period were outstanding for
the whole year. A 50 basis points (2018: 50 basis points)
increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to key management personnel. Restricted
bank deposit, pledged bank deposits and bank balances
are excluded from sensitivity analysis as the directors of the
Company consider that the exposure of cash flow interest
rate risk arising from them is insignificant.

40. B IR (£&)
(b) HERBEEEERBE(E)

G
ETL

AEERENERIEERERH 2 REM
RER -AEENENEFRETEAOMNXG
B-mMEERBRZEEEEMESERMNETE
BWASEEHEAAEBNERAR DESREH
KA EZHBRENENERLEEREZ
REHEXMSENXEHTE -AXENRER
BERITHER BEMRITER RITEF MF
BRNXRTEFTDHEREREMNEER - BT E
BERFEEEEENXER T2ENSR
MERXEFRIMNEINESZENEE - A
RBIEFOMERR IR BRYRBERE
T RE DA -

EXmEE
eSO e

ATHBREDMBHNBERR ZF BN X
RITHE TR A = @ WA o 9T T R AR R
EHMARAREEMBTAREFEDNREEMR
HomEREIE ARG EREEETNIER
By - SR SE N sopt S0 EE (ZF — N\ F:
SOMEER) BRESNMIABEAERNIETE
T DEMROTERAERRITEF RERAR
RAESRR/EAEFTAEEENRESRENXER
AR
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 = —F

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)
Interest rate sensitivity analysis (Continued)

If the interest rates had been 50 basis points (2018: 50
basis points) higher or lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s profit (2018: loss) for the year
would decrease/increase by RMB7,000 (2018: increase/
decrease by RMB49,000).

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL model under application
of HKFRS 9 on other receivables individually. In this regard,
the directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED ELEEEARAR
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40. BB IR (&)
(b) HBEREEEERBEE(Z)
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FIE G BRI ()

i F R EFHak T B501EFE2 (—ZT— /\F:50
EEZ) MAAEEGBAIERBEFTE A&
EEEHEMN(ZZT—)\F: 58)BHEETK,/
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AR ¥49,0007T) °
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AREEERR AEEEEEEXLEAER
hEEETEERR FEMRLEMERRE
Fr o DAREOR SREXER #E 17 3038 [0 81 B R 3K o e S
RERBEMBHRELNFIRK  AEERE
T HME B B 18 R = gl H b & W 5k 78 #E 17 18 Bl R
E.:HE FLUE - B E RS A AR RUE A 5 B A

=&
I:l/\

nno



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40.
(b)

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—-F

40.
(b)

comprises the following categories: ]

ZNe e NN

e MR R M EE

—NE+-—A=t—HLEE

B THE(Z)
BERMEEEERBE (&)

=B R B ETE (&)

=&
l:l/\

BAEFNFEEEAT S

Other financial assets/

Internal credit rating Description other items

AEEEFR i HtpiEE HtER

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does 12-month ECL

1K 2 bz not have any past-due amounts REABBHEEEE
RSHEHTEHRREE - BB EAEEAR

Medium risk There have been significant increases in credit risk Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired

FERKR

High risk

= B

Write-off

since initial recognition and had past-due amounts
but have been settled subsequently

B HERE EERRE AEEM - BEGEHR
E-EERAEKRBE

There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-
impaired

BEREBRABEECHAGEERE

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

B TF%‘%EHF%}\B%)\EE@M‘XI% 2 & & B
BER /AW B KT

2HEMEEEE-KRERER
ERE]

Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired
2HEREEERE-—DHRER
VEREN

Amount is written off
S EEME

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED #El L#&EBAERAE

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 —Z—hFF#H

197



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

40.
(b)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the
Group's other receivables, restricted bank deposit, pledged
bank deposits and bank balances which are subject to ECL

40. HMEIR (&)

(b)

=B R B ETE (A

PREBREEEREREE (&)

TR AR E R OR ARSI
2 EERBRTERRBTAE (MELEGTE
HEEEETE) AEE EERR:

assessment:
External Internal
credit credit 12-month or Gross
Notes rating rating lifetime ECL carrying amount
MREE  ANEE  12MEAR
Mzt R R PHRAEEER AREE
2019 2018
—E-nE T )\F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRT  ARETET
Financial assets at HEHE AT EZ
amortised cost AFEE
Bank balances wITER 21 A3 NARNER  12-month ECL 63,507 52,395
REAEHEESR
Restricted bank deposit R HIRITEH 20 A3 N/A R 12-month ECL 896 8,169
REAEHEERR
Pledged bank deposits B EMRITER 21 A3 N/A @A 12-month ECL 31,285 38,085
REAEHEERR
Other receivables it YR 19 NATER  Lowrisk  12-month ECL 14,091 10,125
ERE  NEARHAEEEE
High risk ~lifetime ECL 448 429
SEK  (credit-impaired)
rHBHEEER
(FERE)
Other items AMEA
Financial guarantee MBEREH 35 NAZTER  Lowrisk  12-month ECL 577,518 632,271
contracts (Note) (BsE) ERE  NEAESBEEEE
Note:  For financial guarantee contracts, the gross carrying amount Mk : BMBREREAMES LEEEEAEERESS
represents the maximum amount the Group has guaranteed HNEERNE= -

under the respective contracts.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #ZEZ - —NF+-_A=F+—HILFE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Bank balance, restricted bank deposit and pledged bank
deposit

The credit risks on bank balances, restricted bank
deposit and pledged bank deposits are limited because
counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies.

Other receivables

For other receivables under 12-month ECL, the directors
of the Company make periodic individual assessment
on the recoverability of other receivables based on
historical settlement records, past experience, and also
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportive forward-looking information. The other
receivables attribute to the advance payment of project cost
and advance payment to staff for business purpose are not
past due and with settlement during the year. The directors
of the Company believe that there is no significant increase
in credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition. For
the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group
assessed the ECL for other receivables as insignificant and
thus no loss allowance was recognised.

For other receivables under lifetime ECL (credit-impaired)
which are past due more than five years and considered as
default and irrecoverable. The directors of the Company
believe that other receivables are credit-impaired and the
loss allowance was recognised before 1 January 2018. For
the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group
did not reclassify any other receivables from 12-month ECL
to lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) as there is no significant
increase in credit risk of other receivables and thus no
further loss allowance was recognised.

40. B IR (£&)
(b) HERBEEEERBE(E)

=B R B ETE (A

RiTh17  BRBIRITFA R EAARITIFH

HRXZE T RESBREETRRBEBIER
BEEFENRT AEERRTET BRY
RIOTEFALRCERBRTERNEERRAR -

H 1t W R

S12EARMEREEIRE T EMRKFKIAM
FARRIEEREBARAELE BELR -
AREEBAAIEZ EEREMAREERH A
il & W SRR 2 B W Bl A2 [ TR HE 1T E HARE A o
BENEERAAMNRBEMRERENE TR
EMEMERREYESSR YRFRAEE -
ARBEERREVNHEERURZFIRANG
ERRYEBREREN - BE_FT-NAFR_F
—NFEFT A=+ —HLFE AEEFEH
fERKENEREEBEALTEXR Bt
IR R

REHEREEBEBR(EEREBE) B THEM
FEWHBEBME  ZSEMBERFECAHBA
AFE BERABHORTAKE -ARAEER
B R-ZTE—NF—A—BHZa HEtERKR
BHBREERE BEBETTUBR - HE
ZE-NEERZE-N\F+ZA=+—HLHF
B AR EMREKRRIENEERR I &R ZEIL
e AREEIWE G E A ERGKIBER12ME A
EHEEEEEET Y EAEHESHREEEE
(EERE) AHTELE - SHERAGEBEE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 = —F

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

The credit risk of financial guarantee contracts are limited
as any default on mortgage payments by the purchasers,
the banks are entitled to take over the bank deposits
and legal titles of properties and can realise the pledged
properties through open auction, or the banks transfer
the pledged properties to the Group, then the Group sell
the properties through open auction. The directors of the
Company believe that there are no significant increase in
credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition. For
the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group
assessed the ECL for financial guarantee contracts as
insignificant and thus no loss allowance was recognised.

The following table shows the movements in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for other receivables under the
general approach.

FFE = H =4 HiE S

40. BB IR (&)
(b) HBEREEEERBEE(Z)

=B R B ETE (A

HBEERE R

MR MHE BB EMRBNFRELD  RITHE
BEWRITERRYMENECERE LAFEAR

FHEZRERDE RTEERYDEEE
TAEE EMKSAEEFRLARMEHEZ
EME RHBEREAOANEERBRER - AR

AEERA ZENEEBVNITHERAURL &S
AREERBEM-BZ_FT-—HLFR-FT-N
F+_A=+t—BLEFE FAXEEFTEHKIE
REANTEHREEEBALTEXR AUt &
HREERE-

TREINRE —MRITDEMER & H b B WA R
EHMEMEEERZES-

Lifetime ECL
(credit
impaired)
FHITEH]
BEEBE
(EERE)
RMB’000
AR®EF T

At 1 January 2018
Exchange adjustments

E] u)}{

Héﬂf

5
|

)\E A—H 407

22

At 31 December 2018
Exchange adjustments

[
X
] w)}{
Hzﬁ

—N\F+=-—A=+—H 429

19

%
|
%

At 31 December 2019

—hF+=-HA=+—H 448
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—-F

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

Liquidity risk analysis

The following table details the Group’s contractual maturity
for their non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.

e MR R M EE

—NE+-—A=t—HLEE

40. B IR (£&)
(b) HERBEEEERBE(E)

E#quimuébﬁ H%’ZS%E/_/T&ZETiH(
BERR®RE ﬁﬂﬁiﬁi&iﬁé%fﬁw7}<$ A5
$‘¥IE’JZ«<%?E@%§£ W IR & 2K
E’J Aii%ﬁ%%fﬁfﬂﬁ*hmﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁ?ﬁ%

MEE L BRI

TRAVWAEFEFITEMBAGH SN INHIE
Mo ZFINRBRBERAEEAHRERERNZTR
HE U BEERGBARSEREFTEMRL -
HiEMTEVBEENINHRB DREMHEE
HKEHMIE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity risk analysis (Continued)

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rates, the
undiscounted amount is derived from the interest rate at
the end of the reporting period.

40. BB IR (&)
(b) HEEMREEEERBEE(Z

mBEZmEE (E)

///bgfjjﬁjz 5}?97/' (25)

SHIETTE

Carrying
Weighted ~ On demand Total amount at
average o less than 3 months 1 year to 2to5 undiscounted 31 December
interest rate 3 months to 1year 2 years years cash flows 2019
RZZ-n¥
RER KURRE t-B=t-H
mETHRE  SRZER ZERE-F  -FEMF WEFELF -t L ZIRE{E
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR
Non-derivative financial liabilities {74 B BERE
Trade and other payables BARAMENTE N/AFER 58,318 - - - 58,318 58,318
Amount due to a director ERESHE N/A TR 3,139 - - - 3,139 3,139
Secured bank borrowings BHEARTER
- variable rate — 2B 4 1,776 - - - 1,776 1,776
Loan payables ERER 37 5,450 9,207 - - 14,657 14,389
Lease liabilities BEARE 0.5 956 386 25 1,700 1,612
Financial quarantee contracts BBERAY N/AFEA 577,518 - - - 577,518 =
646,534 10,163 386 25 657,108 79,234
Carrying
Weighted On demand Total amount at
average or less than 3 months 1 year to 2t05  undiscounted 31 December
interest rate 3 months to 1 year 2 years years cash flows 2018
RZB-N\E
REXT KBRS T-E=1-H
METHFE SR=EA ZEAZE-% —FERE MEERE mERE LEAE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT  ARBTT  ARETR  ARETT  ARETRn  ARETR
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ F{T£HKEE
Trade and other payables BHRAMENTE NA TR - - - 445 445
Amount due to  director ENESTE NA TE A 2,862 - - - 2,862 2,862
Secured bank borrowings BERRITER
- variable rate — R EHE 5.1 11,776 - - - 11,776 11,776
Loan payables ERER 16 24,441 9,048 - - 33,489 33225
Financial quarantee contracts HRERSD NA T 632,271 - - - 632,271 -
671,795 9,048 N N 680,843 48,308
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—-F

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity risk analysis (Continued)

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the “on demand or less than 3 months”
time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31
December 2019 and 2018, the aggregate undiscounted
principal amounts of these bank borrowings amounted to
RMB1,776,000 and RMB2,992,000 respectively. Taking into
account the Group’s financial position, the directors do not
believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise their
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The

e MR R M EE

—NE+-—A=t—HLEE

40. B IR (£&)
(b) HERBEEEERBE(E)

mBEZmEE (E)

REBEEZEE (&)

BB RERERGERZBITEREF A Lt
EIJHHEl I THRERFALONR=EA | 2EE%EE
RNeR—_E—NEFER_ZT—NEFE+_A=+—
B - ﬂifﬂﬁ*”szﬁﬁfﬁ$i%5 AeaExsAR
#1,776,0007T X AR¥2,992,0007T ° 5 B A&
EBMBMHBRRE  EETHRERITAETE
HERNBERZHBER - ARFEZHE
ZEFRTEFIBERREBHPERE (TN
FZF)VARBEERBZAAEBETCENRLH

directors believe that such bank borrowings will be repaid BE HFBHRTx:
two years (2018: three years) after the end of the reporting
period in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates
set out in the loan agreements, details of which are set out
in the table below:
Carrying
Weighted Total amount at
average 1year to undiscounted 31 December
interest rate ~ Within 1 year 2 years 2to 5 years cash flows 2019
R=2-1%
AMRRE t-A=t-H
METLHR=E 3] -FEME MEERE nEEE ZREE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARMTTR ARBTR ARBTR
Non-derivative financial liabilities FiERBER
Secured bank borrowings BEBRIER
- variable rate — BT 4 1,295 540 - 1,835 1,776
Carrying
Weighted Total amount at
average 1 year to 2 years to undiscounted 31 December
interest rate Within 1 year 2 years 5 years cash flows 2018
RIZ-N\E
AUBEHE t-A=1+-H
METF % —FR —FERF MEEREF mERE LEHE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETFT AREFT AEBETT ARETFT ARETT
Non-derivative financial liabilities FERBEE
Secured bank borrowings BEMRTER
- variable rate —BF% 4 1,351 1,351 450 3,152 2,992
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity risk analysis (Continued)

The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could
be required to settle under the arrangement for the full
guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the
counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations at
the end of the reporting period, the Group considers that
it is more likely than not that no amount will be payable
under the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to
change depending on the probability of the counterparty
claiming under the guarantee which is a function of
the likelihood that the financial receivables held by the
counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments are subject to change if changes in variable
interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED +E t#HEEERAHE
ANNUAL REPORT 2019 —Z—hFFH

40. BB IR (&)
(b) HBEREEEERBEE(Z)

mBEZmEE (E)
REE AT (&)

LA BEREREOMESNERA/AKERIE
ZHREHEREBE (HERIRZIYTHER
ZEB)AERELEMNNES B - RER
BERRZEARN AEERRBAEREFSRIE
BB RS A E A 5RIE o 2R T -t fl 5 AT BB

P& BARRZHETREFAEZEE R
BREKAEXCGEEEMBRBERBERZA

et -

fid 77 B A R By B B B ¥ H R B E MY (A AT R R
AR B FBHRETARMBEENEREA T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—-F

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair values

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on a discounted cash flow analysis using
prices from observable current market transactions. The
directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recognised in the consolidated
financial statements approximate to their fair values.

(d) Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

One of the Group's financial assets is measured at fair
value at the end of the reporting period. The following
table provides an analysis of financial instrument that is
measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value,
grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which
the fair value is observable.

e MR R M EE

—NE+-—A=t—HLEE

40. BB IR (&)
(o) NRE

MBEEENUBEBENRARENRELARNE
EEARERBABERNTSR 5 ZERUKER
Eﬁi/ﬁgﬁj—ﬁ%n—y %%nu\ \/Zgl/z\ﬁﬁi%i&
RANERANVBEERMBEERAERZELR
nEMRE-

(d HUHRIRZQAARETE

AEBEZEF-—HRKEERRERARRITL
B8 - TREBIWBITAZDN  HIIR A

SHERERANEBAETRBATERAAET
AE—REE=M -

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
-4 o F=H @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARETT ARET T ARETT
As at 31 December 2019 RZB-NE+ZA=1+-H
Financial asset at FVTPL BOAEHANBE HBEE 12 = = 12
As at 31 December 2018 R-E-NE+=A=1-H
Financial asset at FVTPL BROREAANBE HBEE 21 - - 21

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 during
both years. The fair value of the financial assets at FVTPL is
from quoted bid prices in an active market.

RMEFE F-—RBF_R2ELEEE-

BAREFABRZMBEEZ ARERER
BTG MM E AR
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

41. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future
cash flows will be, classified in the Group's consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

4. BMEFTBFELEEZHIRR

TERFAINAEEREEHAELAGEZES
BRASIFESEY BRETDMELRE
ERERERARKASRBERNAKERE
BeREXRITERBETHREREZEB

activities.
Amounts Interest
due to payable
non- Amount (included
Lease Loan  controlling due to in other
liabilities payables interests adirector  Borrowings payables) Total
Ef ERFIE
FEHER (GtAHM
HESE R ER HE EANESHAE EE FEf3E) o
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR  ARETR  ARETT
At 1 January 2018 R-Z2-N\E-A-A - 16,656 - 2714 119,304 361 139,035
Financing cash flows BERERE - 15,040 - - (108,414) (9,139) (102,513)
Foreign exchange translation ExAE - 1,529 - 148 886 2n3) 2,290
Interest expenses Mems - - - - - 2,798 2,798
Interest expense capitalised to EAERENEL
properties under development FERX - - - - - 6,341 6,341
At 31 December 2018 RZZ-N\F
tZA=1-A - 33,225 - 2,862 11,776 88 47,951
Financing cash flows BERENE (840) (19,426) 15,994 226 (10,058) (1,043) (15,147)
Foreign exchange translation ExpE (1) 590 - 51 58 (34) 664
Interest expenses MERR 58 - - - - 1,083 1,101
New lease entered Mg 2,395 - - - - - 2,395
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NF
+ZA=1+-H 1,612 14,389 15,994 3,139 1,776 54 36,964
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #ZEZ - —NF+-_A=F+—HILFE

42. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

(a)

Due to the outbreak of the COVID-19 in
China the beginning of 2020 is a fluid and
challenging situation facing all the industries
of the society. In amid the further wide
spread of COVID-19 worldwide in March
2020, the uncertainty of global economy
further increase. The Group has already
assessed the overall impacts of the situation
on the operation of the Group and taken
all possible effective measures to limit and
keep the impacts in control. The Group will
continue to monitor the change of situation
and make timely response and adjustments in
the future.

The Group has issued financial guarantees
to banks in relation to the mortgages taken
out by the buyers of the Group’s properties.
The outbreak of the COVID-19, which
negatively affected the economy, is expected
to affect the debtors’ ability of mortgage
repayment and the decrease in the market
value of relevant properties may increase
the ECL provision for the related financial
guarantee contracts. However, after the
thorough assessment performed by the
directors of the Company, the possibility of
default of the parties involved is remote and
the impact of ECL provision for the related
financial guarantee contracts of the Group
are insignificant. Subject to the development
of COVID-19 outbreak and the economy in
the PRC, such provision may or may not be
required in the future.

On 27 November 2019, Maoming Shang
Cheng, an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, successfully
won the bid of land use rights of the
PRC Land offered for a consideration
of RMB241,511,900. A deposit of
RMB102,460,000 has been transferred
before the end of the reporting period, while
a further sum of RMB50,000,000 has been
paid in January 2020. The remaining sum
of RMB89,051,900 is expected to settle in
April 2020 to complete the land acquisition
transaction.

42. HRER

(a)

F 0 AP B AR B R B T iR = T A
—E_THEYUHERTREALE
RZE R AB AR - BEE
AERREMRANR T _ZTF=H
EEREENE-—FPEZERE &
PRGN HEE M — Bl o K
SECHHEAAEAYARELE
AR ERTE  WHRE— YA A
BRzER BHEBETZERGINE
HEEAR - AEEKEREERER
MAI 2 B & - W B R EEF O
J& Ko R o

AEBERAKEEMEET AERE
Y32 18 AR 1T 3% H B S R AR o T EY
AR S i A B R EH KB ERE
mEE FHBFEEHANRE
BN BHBEYENTETRE
AEEEEMEEMBRRANNE
HEEBERBGE - AT REALQ
AIESETHHEENE ARSH
M OB REE BN ERRM %
BERENNFEREEEBRREZEY
TER-BRAVGFZHEHEBE
BRI EMRES I RRIFH
HRELLFELEME -

R—ZE—NEFE+—A=-++tH"
AEBERHEIEZEWNBRARXSA
EHART R b R A -t (E
R REAAR®241,511,900
TR e AR®102,460,0007T 2
RRERRAER MBS —$5KE
AR ¥50,000,000 BN -F =
TF-—AXH -EHHAARKE
89,051,900t R —_E = F Iy
AEM ATkt HKRERS-
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Schedule of Properties

=B E R

At 31 December 2019 R=ZZE—AF+=-A=+—H
A. PROPERTIES IN THE PRC A. URPEZME
Stage of
Group's development & Date of
Location Usage Area Lease term interest Classification Completion
r5E REMERR
E ik H& HEH ik ik IR
Portion of Maoming Project,  Commercial Gross floor area-=  Medium to 90% Completed, 2016
Zhangian 7th Road, approximately long term investment
Yuehua East District, 4,000 sg. m. properties
Maoming
7 % T A Al 3R EES RgEmk- hHERE 90% B —E-RF
BER|NE 424,000 75 K RENE
LESEN: W )
Unsold portion of Maoming ~ Commercial and Gross floor area-=  Medium to 90% Completed, 2016/2018
Project, Zhangian 7th Road,  residential complex approximately* long term properties
Yuehua East District, 245,000 5. m. held for sale
Maoming
7 4 Tk A B BEREZGRAE  BREER- hHERE 90% BExI #fEd —% /\i/
BERNRBXHBER #9*245,000F 75 K EME —N\¥
AHEHLD
* Including sold and unsold portion. * PREERARERD -
B. PROPERTIES IN HONG KONG B. URBBZYE
Approximate Lease Group's
Location Usage saleable area term interest
S 3
e i} BATHER®E - HEH i3y 5
Suite 1501, 15th Floor, Tower 1, Silvercord, Office premises — Own use 242 sq.m. Medium 100%
30 Canton Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon.
NERPBEREOFMETL—HSEI01E  BFENE-8A 242¥ 75K hH 100%

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED ELEEEARAR
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